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The Petitioner, Donnie L. Harris, Jr., respectfully prays that a writ of certiorari issue 

to review the judgment and opinion of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, entered in 

the above-entitled proceeding on September 26, 2019. 

LIST OF PARTIES: 

All parties to this action are named in the caption. 

OPINIONS BELOW: 

The judgment for which certiorari is sought is Harris v. State, 2019 OK CR 22, 450 

P.Jd 933. The decision in Harris was filed on September 26, 2019. See Appendix, Exhibit 

A. Rehearing was denied on November 4, 2019. See Appendix, Exhibit B. 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION IN THIS COURT: 

The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, the highest Oklahoma court in which 

Petitioner may obtain relief, issued its decision affirming Petitioner's judgment and death 

sentence on September 26, 2019, and denied rehearing on November 4, 2019. Pursuant to 

this Court's Rule 13.5, Petitioner timely sought an extension of time to file a petition for a 

writ of certiorari from the Honorable Associate Justice Sonia Sotomayor. Justice Sotomayor 

entered an order on January 27, 2020, giving Petitioner Harris up to and including April 2, 

2020, to file a petition. This Court's jurisdiction arises pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1257. 
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CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED: 

Constitutional Provisions: 

Fifth Amendment: 

No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, 
unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, except in cases arising 
in the land or naval forces, or in the Militia, when in actual service in time of 
War or public danger; nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to 
be twice put in jeopardy oflife or limb; nor shall be compelled in any criminal 
case to be a witness against himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or 
property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for 
public use, without just compensation. 

Fourteenth Amendment: 

No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or 
immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any 
person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any 
person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. 

Oklahoma Statutes: 

Okla. Stat. tit. 22, § 952 (2011) Grounds for Granting New Trial 

A court in which a trial has been had upon an issue of fact has power to grant 
a new trial when a verdict has been rendered against a defendant by which his 
substantial rights have been prejudiced, upon his application in the following 
cases only: 

*** 

Seventh. When new evidence is discovered, material to the defendant, and 
which he could not with reasonable diligence have discovered before the trial, 
or when it can be shown that the grand jury was not drawn summoned or 
impaneled as provided by law, and that the facts in relation thereto were 
unknown to the defendant or his attorney until after the trial jury in the case 
was sworn and were not of record. When a motion for a new trial is made on 
the ground of newly discovered evidence, the defendant must produce at the 
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hearing in support thereof affidavits of witnesses, or he may take testimony in 
support thereof as provided in Section 5781, and if time is required by the 
defendant to procure such affidavits or testimony, the court may postpone the 
hearing of the motion for such length of time as under all the circumstances of 
the case may seem reasonable. The application for a new trial on the ground 
that the grand jury was not drawn summoned or impaneled as provided by law 
may be shown in like manner. 

Okla. Stat. tit. 22, § 953 (2011) Time for Applying for New Trial - Limitations 

The application for a new trial must be made before judgment is entered; but 
the court or judge thereof may for good cause shown allow such application 
to be made at any time within thirty (30) days after the rendition of the 
judgment. A motion for a new trial on the ground of newly discovered 
evidence may be made within three (3) months after such evidence is 
discovered but no such motion may be filed more than one (I) year after 
judgment is rendered, and if on the ground that the grand jury was not properly 
drawn or impaneled then the motion must be made within thirty (30) days after 
the judgment is rendered. 

Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Rule 2.1 (A)(3)(4) Initiating an Appeal 
(Motion for New Trial) 

A. Motion for New Trial. A motion for new trial based on newly discovered 
evidence is governed by Sections 952 and 953 of Title 22, and in the 
Post-Conviction Procedure Act, Sections 1080 through 1089 of Title 22. 

*** 

{3) If a motion for a new trial on newly discovered evidence is filed after an 
appeal has been perfected in this Court and prior to the expiration of one (I) 
year from the date that the Judgment and Sentence is pronounced, the motion 
shall be filed with the Clerk of this Court. See Section 953 of Title 22. The 
motion shall contain all the allegations required in the tri~l court and must be 
accompanied by affidavits and a supporting brief at the time of filing. This 
Court may dispose of the motion on the pleadings and the accompanying 
affidavits of the respective parties, by separate order or in the opinion on the 
appeal, may direct a response, or may remand for an evidentiary hearing in the 
trial court; PROVIDED HOWEVER, no motion may be filed in this Court 
after a decision has been rendered and the mandate is issued. 
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(4) If the appeal has been decided, the opinion has been rendered and the 
mandate has been issued by this Court, then in all other cases of newly 
discovered evidence, a petitioner must proceed under the provisions of the 
Post-Conviction Procedure Act, Sections 1080 to 1089 of Title 22. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE: 

A. Facts Material to the Question Presented. 

A jury in LeFlore County convicted Petitioner, Donnie L. Harris, Jr., of one count of 

First Degree Felony Murder with Arson of a Person serving as the predicate felony for the 

death of Kristi Ferguson. Following a guilty verdict, the jury heard evidence in aggravation 

and mitigation and returned a death sentence. The State of Oklahoma alleged Mr. Harris 

poured gasoline from a Crown Royal bottle kept in his bedroom of his family home on Ms. 

Ferguson and then ignited the gasoline with a cigarette lighter. Mr. Harris denied this charge 

throughout the proceedings. Fonner Oklahoma State Fire Marshal (OSFM) Agent Tony Rust 

served as the State's primary investigator in its prosecution of Mr. Harris. Agent Rust was 

forced to resign his position during the pendency of Mr. Harris's direct appeal after the 

district attorney who prosecuted Mr. Harris referred Agent Rust to the Oklahoma 

Multicounty Grand Jury for possible criminal prosecution for perjury and destruction of 

evidence relating to his actions in Mr. Harris's case. 

1. Pre-trial Facts 

On March 9, 2012, Kristi Ferguson died from injuries she sustained in a February 

18-19, 2012, house fire in Talihina, Oklahoma, at 707 Veterans Avenue, a home owned by 

Donnie Harris, Sr. Ferguson lived in the Harris family home with her boyfriend Donnie 
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Harris, Jr. (Little Donnie), 1 Harris Jr. 's father Donnie Harris, Sr., Harris Jr. 's younger brother 

Kevin Harris, Kevin's girlfriend Casey McKosky, and Kevin's and Casey's' s infant daughter, 

P.H. (Tr. IV 724, 1255). Witnesses characterized Little Donnie's seven-year relationship 

with Ms. Ferguson as "on again, off again." (Tr. V 1084 and Tr. VII 515). A neighbor 

testified that Ms. Ferguson stayed with her in the days preceding the fire because Ms. 

Ferguson and Little Donnie had been fighting. (Tr. IV 866). However, another witness 

testified that two weeks prior to the fire, Little Donnie and Ms. Ferguson discussed getting 

married and a desire to go to counseling. (Tr. VI 1166-67). 

Big Donnie reported falling asleep in a recliner in the living room between 9:30 and 

10:00 p.m. on February 18, 2012. At that time, neither Little Donnie nor Ms. Ferguson were 

home. At approximately 11 :00 p.m., Big Donnie woke up after hearing Little Donnie and 

Ms. Ferguson running back and forth between their bedroom and the kitchen, filling pans of 

water in an attempt to extinguish a fire in Little Donnie's bedroom. Big Donnie joined this 

effort. (Tr. VI 1179-81 ). The fire was confined initially to Little Donnie's bedroom. 

However, by the time Big Donnie exited the house to wait for the fire department, there was 

"a little circle of fire" outside the bedroom door. At the time, Big Donnie was unaware Ms. 

Ferguson had been burned and did not hear Ferguson mention anything about Little Donnie 

being responsible for the fire. (Tr. VI 1182-83). 

Kevin and Casey reported going to bed at approximately 10:00 p.m. Not long after, 

1 People in the community who knew the Harris family referred to Donnie Harris, Sr. as "Big 
Donnie" and Donnie Harris, Jr. as "Little Donnie." (Tr. IV 841, 865; Tr. VI 1153, 1255). 
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both recalled hearing Little Donnie and Ms. Ferguson "laughing and giggling'1 outside their 

bedroom window. Upon hearing the laughter, Kevin got out of bed, looked outside, and 

observed Little Donnie and Ms. Ferguson in the yard behind Little Donnie's white Chrysler 

vehicle. (Tr. VI 1207). Casey observed Little Donnie and Ms. Ferguson from her bedroom 

window "out by the car hugged up together." (Tr. VI 1266). Kevin and Casey then fell 

asleep. Casey was awakened by "a commotion like glass shattering," and Big Donnie 

beating on their bedroom door yelling something about a fire. Casey woke Kevin up, who 

exited the bedroom. (Tr. VI 1267-68, 1225). When Kevin returned, he infonned Casey the 

house was on fire, and took the couple's comforter "to help smother the fire out." Casey 

carried P.H. outside, and called 911 while all other occupants attempted to extinguish the 

fire. (Tr. VI 1267-70). At the time, Casey was unaware anyone had been injured in the fire. 

(Tr. VI 1272). 

When Kevin first entered Little Donnie's bedroom, the fire was confined to a round 

spot behind the bedroom door near a small marble table. (Tr. VI 1217-18, 1223 ). The fire 

spread quickly across some clothes on the floor to the curtains. (Tr. VI 1224, 1226, 

1251-52). Kevin joined his father, brother, and Ms. Ferguson in their attempts to extinguish 

the fire by "running for water." Kevin determined that "little bitty pans of water" from the 

kitchen would not be enough to extinguish the fire so he went outside to fill a five gallon 

bucket with water from the hose. (Tr. VI 1228-30). While Kevin was outside filling the 

bucket, Ms. Ferguson ran out of the house yelling that she had been burned. Kevin did not 
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hear Ms. Ferguson say how she was burned or accuse Little Donnie of causing the fire. 

Kevin assured Ms. Ferguson that help was on the way and returned inside to continue 

fighting the fire. After determining the fire was too hot, Kevin went outside to wait with his 

family for the fire department. Upon exiting the home, Little Donnie asked Kevin 

"[w]here'd Kristi go?" Kevin told Little Donnie that Ms. Ferguson was "behind the house," 

and observed Little Donnie run to the back of the house towards the Johnsons's home. (Tr. 

VI 1228-31 ). 

Martha and Barry Johnson, who lived behind the Harris home, testified they woke up 

to find Little Donnie frantically banging on their door. (Tr. VI 840-41, 881). Upon opening 

the door, they observed a partially clad, badly burned Ms. Ferguson sitting in a chair on their 

porch. The Johnsons each testified that Ms. Ferguson stated that Little Donnie had burned 

her; however, they provided somewhat contradictory accounts regarding the communications 

between Little Donnie and Ms. Ferguson. The majority of conversation between Little 

Donnie and Ms. Ferguson while at the Johnson house was recorded in 911 calls. The State 

introduced audio from six of the 911 calls, including two calls from Little Donnie at the 

Johnson home, frantically pleading for help, and a call from Barry Johnson. Although one 

can hear Ms. Ferguson clearly in the background, she never mentions, in the recorded calls, 

that Little Donnie hurt her or that he was responsible for the fire. (State's Exhibit 4). 

Leflore County EMS paramedic Keith Lickly transported Ms. Ferguson from the 

Johnson house by ambulance. As Mr. Lickly wheeled Ms. Ferguson from the Johnson house, 
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Mr. Licitly observed Little Donnie running along side them telling Ms. Ferguson that he was 

sorry and that he loved her. Mr. Lickly reported hearing Little Donnie tell Ms. Ferguson "we 

took it too far." (Tr. V 897). Little Donnie begged to go with Ms. Ferguson in the 

ambulance, repeatedly stating "that she was all he had." (Tr. 898). Mr. Licltly infonned 

Little Donnie that he could not ride in the ambulance because Ms. Ferguson would need to 

be airlifted to a bum center. (Tr. IV 897). After being placed in the ambulance, Ms. 

Ferguson asked Mr. Licltly not to let Little Donnie inside because he had thrown "kerosene" 

on her and set her on fire. (Tr. 899). However, when asked, Mr. Licitly stated he believed 

Little Donnie was genuinely concerned about Ms. Ferguson. (Tr. V 917). 

After he was infonned he could not ride with Ms. Ferguson in the ambulance, Little 

Donnie walked to family friend Melvin Bannister's nearby house to use Mr. Bannister's 

phone to find out where Ms. Ferguson had been taken. (Tr. IV 752, Tr. V 1098). Little 

Donnie told Mr. Bannister that he and Ms. Ferguson had been in an argument, and she had 

been burned. Mr. Bannister testified that he would have taken Little Donnie to the hospital 

to see Ms. Ferguson but could not because he did not have an operational vehicle or a drivers 

license. (Tr. IV 752). When asked specifically if Little Donnie told him how the fire started, 

Mr. Bannister testified he thought Little Donnie said "their house caught on fire by some 

candles." However, Mr. Bannister noted that his conversation with Little Donnie was "a 

long time" ago. (Tr. IV 751). When asked about Little Donne's demeanor, Mr. Bannister 

characterized Little Donnie as "concerned" about Ms. Ferguson. (Tr. IV 754). 

8 



On February 19, 2012, at approximately 4:00 a.m., Little Donnie contacted the 

Talihina Police Department and asked to speak to Officer Justin Klitzke. (Tr. IV 729-30). 

Upon Little Donnie's request, Officer Klitzke picked up Little Donnie and transported him 

to the police station. Little Donnie agreed to speak to Officer Klitzke, but Officer Klitzke 

waited until OSFM Agent Tony Rust arrived. (Tr. IV 731 ). Although Agent Rust failed to 

record his interview, he did obtain a hand-written statement from Little Donnie. (Tr. IV 743, 

763, State's Exhibit 7; Tr. V 1091). Agent Rust collected a cigarette lighter from Little 

Donnie's jeans pocket. (Tr. IV 766, State's Exhibit 9). At the conclusion of the interview, 

Agent Rust arrested Little Donnie. Because the injuries he sustained in the fire were too 

severe to be treated by the jail's medical staff, Officer Klitzke transported Little Donnie to 

the hospital (Tr. IV 747). 

On February 24, 2012, LeFlore County District Attorney Investigator Travis 

Saulsberry interviewed Little Donnie.2 (Tr. V I 075). Little Donnie was cooperative during 

the interviews with Agent Rust and Investigator Saulsberry, but he consistently denied 

intentionally lighting a fire in his bedroom or witnessing exactly how the fire started. (Tr. 

IV 765; Tr. V I 097). During the interviews, Little Donnie volunteered that he kept a Crown 

Royal bottle containing gasoline on a table just inside his bedroom door that he had used to 

bum trash a couple of weeks earlier. (Tr. IV 794-95; Tr. V 1097). When discussing the 

origin of the fire with Investigator Saulsberry, Little Donnie offered several possible 

2 Investigator Saulsberry recorded the interview. The recording was not introduced during the trial, 
but a CD containing the recorded interview was included in the record as Court's Exhibit 1. 
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explanations, including a that possibility Ms. Ferguson knocked the bottle off the table or that 

candles or a faulty space heater could have started the fire. (Tr. V 1097, 1107-09). 

Agent Rust testified in detail about his fire investigation. Agent Rust completed his 

written origin and cause report on February 20, 2012, four days before actually entering the 

house. Then, on February 24, 2012, Agent Rust conducted his on-site investigation. (Tr. IV 

799). Agent Rust discovered a portion of a broken bottle and a mostly intact Crown Royal 

label in the area of Little Donnie's bedroom where Little Donnie said he kept a Crown Royal 

bottle containing gasoline. (Tr. IV 783, 816). Agent Rust collected the broken glass and 

label, packaged them in a sample paint can, and submitted the can to the Oklahoma State 

Bureau oflnvestigation (OSBI) for testing. (Tr. IV 784; State's Exhibit 27).3 When asked, 

Agent Rust testified that he did not observe any ignition sources other than the Crown Royal 

bottle and did not consider any scenario other than Little Donnie pouring gasoline on Ms. 

Ferguson and igniting her with an open flame. (Tr. IV 810, 805). When confronted during 

cross-examination with photographs depicting a power strip and space heater in Little 

Donnie's room, Agent Rust admitted both items would have been possible ignition sources. 

3 Agent Rust also submitted the clothes and shoes Little Donnie was wearing when he was arrested 
to the OSBI for testing. (Tr. IV 786-87). OSBI Agent Bradley Rogers testified that he tested six items 
related to the Harris case for the presence of gasoline including a pair of socks, a pair of shoes, underwear, 
jeans, at-shirt, and a can containing broken glass/fire debris. Agent Rogers found "no ignitable liquids" on 
the socks, underwear, and t-shirt. Testing of the shoes and jeans revealed some components of gasoline, but 
Agent Rogers ultimately reported the testing on these items was "inconclusive." The only item Agent Rogers 
said tested positive for the compounds associated with gasoline was the broken glass/fire debris. (Tr. V 994; 
State's Exhibit 28). When asked by the State about the manner in which Agent Rust packaged the clothes 
he obtained from Mr. Harris, Agent Rogers testified that Agent Rust's choice of packaging (plastic trash bag) 
was "probably one of the worst packaging." Agent Rogers explained that the clothes should have been stored 
in cans to prevent evaporation and cross contamination. (Tr. V 996). 
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(Tr. IV 821, 822, 836; Defense Exhibit 41). 

Dr. Eric Pfeifer of the Oklahoma Medical Examiner's Office listed Ms. Ferguson's 

cause of death as "Pneumonitis and pneumonia secondary to multiple bums." (Tr. V I 066). 

While Dr. Pfeifer was able to detennine from his autopsy that Ms. Ferguson's death was 

caused by injuries she sustained in the fire, he was unable to determine how she actually 

obtained her injuries. Dr. Pfeifer ultimately agreed that Ferguson's injuries were consistent 

with both the State's theory of her "being doused with a flammable liquid that was then lit 

on fire," and other possible theories posited by the defense involving scenarios which were 

not predicated on an intentional act by a third party. (Tr. V 1067-68). 

Mr. Harris planned to present testimony from Certified Fire Investigator (C.F.I.) 

David Smith to discredit Agent Rust's qualifications and conclusions, and to provide other 

plausible explanations forthe cause and origin of the fire. (Court's Exhibit 2). However, the 

weekend before trial, C.F .I. Smith suffered a blood clot in his leg requiring hospitalization. 

He was heavily medicated, and unable to travel. (Tr. II 500-01 ). Mr. Harris requested a 

continuance or a mistrial to allow time for C.F .I. Smith to recover or to hire a similarly 

qualified expert, but the request was denied. (Tr. VI 1280-81 ). 

2. Post-Trial Facts 

During the preparation of Mr. Harris's appeal, appellate counsel discovered new 

material evidence which would have likely impacted the outcome of his case had it been 

discovered prior to his trial. This evidence included a portion of a 375 milliliter Crown 
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Royal bottle with the lid melted on and label missing that Mr. Harris's appellate investigator 

found in the charred remains of Mr. Harris' s bedroom, as well as records from various local 

and state agencies documenting Agent Rust's inadequate investigation and documentation 

of evidence in Mr. Harris' s case. Mr. Harris presented this evidence to the Oklahoma Court 

of Criminal Appeals via a Motion for New Trial based on newly discovered evidence. 

a. The Bottle 

The State's theory of its case against Mr. Harris was that he poured gasoline from a 

Crown Royal bottle kept in his bedroom on Ms. Ferguson and then ignited the gasoline with 

the cigarette lighter found in his jeans pocket when he was arrested. OSFM Agent Tony Rust 

discovered a portion of a broken bottle and a mostly intact Crown Royal label in the area of 

Mr. Harris's bedroom where Mr. Harris told Agent Rust he kept a Crown Royal bottle 

containing gasoline. (Tr. IV 783, 816). Agent Rust represented to the jury that the label and 

broken glass were part of "a half gallon" bottle. (Tr. IV 795). When asked specifically 

whether he found the lid to the bottle, Agent Rust testified he "[d]idn't find the lid." (Tr. IV 

815). 

In August 2015, Laura Giblin, an Oklahoma Indigent Defense System Investigator 

from the Capital Post Conviction Division, discovered and collected a portion of a 375 

milliliter Crown Royal bottle with the lid melted on and the label missing from the charred 

remains of Donnie Harris, Jr.' s bedroom. Prior to collecting this broken bottle, Investigator 

Giblin took several photographs. (Motion for New Trial, Attachment 1 ). 
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Undersigned counsel provided the information from Investigator Giblin and the 

photographs she took to C.F.I. David Smith. After reviewing enhanced digital photographs 

of the broken glass and label collected by Agent Rust provided in the State's discovery and 

the photographs and measurements of the partial Crown Royal bottle discovered by 

investigator Giblin, C.F .I. Smith concluded this eveidence "may provide an argument for a 

conclusion that the portion of the bottle found at the scene in 2012 and the portion of the 

bottle found by Investigator Giblin appear to be from the same bottle." C.F .I. Smith provided 

the following explanation of how the bottle discovered in 2015 supports Mr. Harris' s defense 

and discounted the State's theory: 

This bottle is significant in that it is much smaller than the State represented 
the bottle to be at trial. Agent Tony Rust from the Oklahoma Fire Marshall's 
Office referred to the bottle in question as a half-gallon, which is probably 
actually a 1.75 liter Crown Royal bottle. The bottle the OIDS investigator 
collected was a 375 milliliter bottle, which would hold only approximately 
20% of the liquid that a half gallon/1.75 liter Crown Royal bottle would hold. 
In addition, the bottle located by the OIDS investigator had the lid melted to 
the top of the bottle which indicates the lid was on the bottle when it burned. 
This fact is significant because it would discount the State's theory that Mr. 
Harris poured gasoline from the Crown Royal bottle on Ms. Ferguson and then 
ignited the gasoline with a cigarette lighter. To believe this theory, one would 
have to believe Mr. Harris poured the gasoline on Ms. Ferguson and then put 
the lid back on the empty bottle before igniting the gasoline with a cigarette 
lighter. 

(Motion for New Trial, Attachment 2). 

C.F.I. Smith requested undersigned counsel arrange for the State's fire evidence, 

including the cigarette lighter and broken glass collected by Agent Rust, to be sent to him for 

examination. When undersigned counsel attempted to locate these items, none of the Leflore 
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County officials were able to locate them. After being infonned this evidence was missing, 

Mr. Harris sought assistance from the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, who remanded 

the case to the Leflore County District Court. After a series of hearings, the district court 

judge declared these items could not be located and were "unavailable" for Mr. Harris's 

appeal. (Supp. O.R. 14-15, 47). 

b. Multicounty Grand Jury Investigation ofOSFM Agent Rust 

During a post-trial hearing in the trial court ordered by the Oklahoma Court of 

Criminal Appeals to address issues regarding missing evidence, Mr. Harris became aware 

that Agent Rust had recently been investigated and disciplined by the Oklahoma State Fire 

Marshal's Office regarding his collection and handling of the evidence during his 

investigation of the Harris house fire and death of Kristi Ferguson. (December 23, 2015, 

State's Exhibit 1 ). When confronted with the possibility that he somehow mishandled or lost 

the broken glass and Crown Royal label, Agent Rust testified that he collected broken glass 

and a label from a Crown Royal bottle from the Harris house on February 24, 2012. He then 

placed this evidence in a paint can, placed the paint can in a paper sack for storage, and 

delivered the evidence to the OSBI office in McAlester, Oklahoma on February 27, 2012. 

On May2l,2012, Agent Rust traveled the OSBI laboratory in Edmond, Oklahoma to retrieve 

the evidence and delivered it to the Leflore County District Attorney's Office the following 

day, on May 22, 2012. (December 23, 2015, Tr. 26). Agent Rust testified more specifically 

that he delivered the evidence to then DA Investigator Jody Thompson on May 22, 2012. 
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Although Agent Rust did not obtain a receipt or release from Investigator Thompson, Agent 

Rust did note the delivery in his day runner. (December 23, 2015, Tr. 28-29). At the 

hearing, Agent Rust provided his May 21, 2012, receipt from the OSBI and the portion of 

his day runner documenting his activity on May 21-22, 2012. (Defendant's Exhibit 2-3). 

When presented with the May 22, 2012, notation in Agent Rust's day planner, Le Flore 

County ADA Margaret Nicholson, the prosecutor at trial, expressed an opinion that the entry 

had either been forged or altered at a later date and suggested a possibility of pursuing 

charges against Agent Rust. (December 23, 2015, Tr. 12, 16). Investigator Thompson 

testified that he did not receive this evidence from Agent Rust on May 22, 2012, or any other 

day. (December 23, 2015, Tr. 115, 120). 

During this hearing, undersigned counsel asked ADA Nicholson if any agencies, other 

than the OSFM, were investigating Agent Rust. ADA Nicholson replied"[ n ]ot at this time" 

and stated "[w]e'll see what happens here in court today." (December 23, 2015, Tr. 11-12). 

At the conclusion of the hearing, ADA Nicholson announced her intention to send the 

portion of Agent Rust's day planner "to the OSBI handwriting laboratory for analysis." 

(December 23, 2015, Tr. 127-28). ADA Nicholson then agreed, on the record, to provide 

undersigned counsel with the results from any testing of the day planner. (December 23, 

2015, Tr. 127-28). 

Several months passed without ADA Nicholson providing Agent Rust's day planner 

for the appellate record as directed by the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals or contacting 
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undersigned counsel regarding the results of the OSBI's investigation. Mr. Harris then filed 

a pleading in the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals requesting assistance. On April 18, 

2016, the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals remanded Mr. Harris's case to the trial court 

to ascertain the whereabouts of the day planner. During a May 13, 2016, hearing, ADA 

Nicholson informed the trial court that the OSBI was not equipped to complete the required 

testing, and OSBI Agent Shawn Ward was "in the process oflocating a lab, or looking into 

the FBI laboratory to get that done." (May 13, 2016, Tr. 8). At the conclusion of the 

hearing, undersigned counsel again requested ADA Nicholson provide the results of any 

investigation regarding Agent Rust. ADA Nicholson agreed and stated "I can see that we 

have a Brady responsibility to disclose." Judge Sullivan, the trial court judge, then stated, 

"I don't think there's any doubt you get a copy." (May 13, 2016, Tr. 11-12). 

In the months following this hearing, OIDS Investigator Giblin attempted to contact 

ADA Nicholson several times by phone and email to ascertain the status of the State's 

investigation of Agent Rust and to obtain any available documentation. In an October 3, 

2016, email, ADA Nicholson advised that the OSBI had completed its investigation, and she 

had forwarded its report to the Oklahoma Attorney General's Office. In her email, ADA 

Nicholson stated, 

The potentially exculpatory infonnation contained in the report is: Tony's 
[Agent Rust] and Jody's [Investigator Thompson] cell records for the day in 
question document no phone calls between the two and Tony's cell tower 
information reflects that he was in McAlester on that date and time. Further, 
an interview conducted by OSBI with Rust reveals that he now thinks he could 
have been mistaken about the day or maybe he gave it to Travis. 
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Investigator Giblin sent follow-up emails to ADA Nicholson on October 26 and December 

7, 2016, requesting that she provide any documentation generated during the OSBI 

investigation. ADA Nicholson did not respond until a December 17, 2016, email. In this 

email, ADA Nicholson provided Investigator Giblin the name Megan Tilly, supervisor of the 

Multicounty Grand Jury Unit, as her office's contact at the Oklahoma Attorney General's 

Office. (Motion for New Trial, Attachment 3). 

On February 22, 2017, undersigned counsel obtained an agreed order from Oklahoma 

County District Court Judge Thomas Prince authorizing Chief Assistant Oklahoma Attorney 

General Megan Tilly to release any reports generated by her office or the OSBI regarding the 

investigation of Agent Rust. AAG Tilly provided this infonnation to undersigned counsel 

by e-mail on February 27, 2017. The discovery contained a cover letter from Oklahoma 

Attorney General Investigator Fred Ellis which stated: 

On February 14, 2017, Agent Fred Ellis received a copy of the OSBI 
investigative repors [sic]. The reports were made after a request was made by 
Leflore County Assistant District Attorney Margaret Nicholson to the 
Multicounty Grand Jury to review and prosecute the case. The case consists 
of allegations of perjury against Oklahoma State Fire Marshal Agent Tony 
Rust. 

(Motion for New Trial, Attachment 4). 

The first page of the OSBI investigative reports provided by AAG Tilly is an 

inventory signed by ADA Nicholson on August 23, 2016, documenting ADA Nicholson's 

receipt of the OSBI investigative reports and other relevant infonnation. (Motion for New 

Trial Attachment 4, Discovery Page 1-001 ). The OSBI assigned Agent Ward to conduct the 
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investigation. During his investigation, Agent Ward obtained Agent Rust's original day 

planner for 2012, fonner Le Flore County District Attorney Investigator Jody Thompson's 

time sheet for May 2012, and Agent Rust's and Investigator Thompson's cell phone records 

for May 22, 2012. He also interviewed Agent Rust and Investigator Thompson. The 

documents reviewed by Agent Ward were inconsistent with what Agent Rust told Agent 

Ward during the interview. After carefully reviewing each entry in Agent Rust's day 

planner, Agent Ward opined that the level of detail provided in the May 22, 2012, entry was 

inconsistent with the level of detail contained in all other entries. Agent Ward offered an 

opinion that Agent Rust's written entrythat he provided the fire evidence to DA Investigator 

Thompson that day "appeared to be cramped." (Motion for New Trial, Attachment 4, 

Discovery Pages 0249-50). Investigator Thompson's time sheet shows he was not at work 

at the DA' s office on May 22, 2012, and had instead used eight hours of comp time that day. 

(Motion for New Trial Attachment 4, Discovery Page 1-0029). The cell phone records do 

not show any calls between Investigator Thompson or Agent Rust on May 22, 2012. 

Furthennore, Agent Rust's personal cell phone records contain calls made from McAlester, 

Oklahoma at 2:35 p.m., 4:15 p.m., and 5:48 p.m. on May 22, 2012. (Motion for New Trial 

Attachment4,DiscoveryPages 1-0180-81, 1-0184, 1-0194, 1-0203, 1-0213,and 1-0237-39). 

Agent Rust testified under oath and claimed in his day planner that he was in Poteau on that 

afternoon. (December 23, 2015, Tr. 28; December 23, 2015, State's Exhibit 1). 

B. How the Issue Was Raised and Decided Below. 
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Mr. Harris presented the facts above supported by the required affidavits his Motion 

for New Trial pursuant to Oklahoma Statute Title 22, Sections 952-53 and Rule 2.1 (A)(3) 

of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals. See 22 O.S. 2011, §§ 952-53; Rule 2. l(A)(3), 

Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2011). Mr. Harris 

filed his Motion for New Trial, together with his Brief of Appellant and Motion for 

Evidentiary Hearing on March 30, 2017, just over two years after his formal judgment and 

sentence was pronounced on February 12, 2014. (O.R. 403-409; Sent. Tr. 7). Although the 

State filed lengthy responses to Mr. Harris' s Brief of Appellant and Motion for Evidentiary 

Hearing, it offered no response to his Motion for New Trial. 

Mr. Harris sought assistance from the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals on 

numerous occasions to correct various record issues, including numerous extensions of time 

from the court reporter, a missing transcript, the court clerk's failure to comply with the 

Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals' rules regarding jury questionnaires, and lost and/or 

destroyed evidence and a trial exhibit. The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals remanded 

his case to the Leflore County District Court on six separate occasions prior to the July 13, 

2016, notice of completion of his appellate record. The problems obtaining Mr. Harris's 

appellate record, none of which can be blamed on him or his appellate counsel, made it 

impossible for him to comply with the one-year requirement to file a motion for new trial. 

Under a strict application of Section 952 and Rule 2.1 (A)(3), Mr. Harris was required 

to file any motion for new trial on or before February 12, 2015. This deadline would have 
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been reasonable if other important triggering deadlines in the appellate process were met. 

In capital cases, the rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals mandate trial transcript 

preparation and transmissions of appellate records to the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 

Appeals and appellate counsel within six months of the date of judgment and sentence. See 

Rule 9.3(C)(2) and (E), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, 

App. (2011). Mr. Harris's appellate record due on August 12, 2014. Undersigned counsel 

did not receive any of Mr. Harris's appellate record arrived until mid-January 2015. Mr. 

Harris's case full appellate record was not completed until July 13, 2016, a violation of the 

court's rules by nearly two full years. Further, the record was not complete until seventeen 

( 17) months after the deadline passed for a motion for new trial. 

In the Motion for New Trial, Mr. Harris acknowledged that Section 952 and Rule 2.1 

(A)(3) require that any motion for new trial be filed within one year of the date of the 

judgment and sentence. In past cases, the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals has strictly 

enforced this one-year requirement. See Fuston v. State, 2020 OK CR 7, ~ 17, _ P.3d_; 

Ul/e1y v. State, 1999 OK CR 36, ~ 30, 988 P.2d 332, 347 (overruled 011 other grounds by 

Hopkins v. LaFortune, 2016 OK CR 25, ~ 9, 394 P.3d 1283, 1286); Anderson v. State, 1999 

OK CR 44, ~~ 59-60, 992 P.2d 409, 425; Owens v. State, 1985 OK CR 114, ~ 7, 706 P.2d 

912, 913; Leigh v. State, 1985 OK CR 41, ~ 21, 698 P.2d 936, 939. However, Mr. Harris 

argued that a strict black letter application of this arbitrary one year requirement, under the 

circumstances present in his case, was a violation of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due 
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process of law. He emphasized that because of Oklahoma's restrictive capital post-

conviction rules a motion for new trial was his only possible avenue to present this critical 

newly discovered evidence in state court. 

Unfortunately, Mr. Harris's argument to excuse him from the arbitrary one year rule 

fell on deaf ears. The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals mistakenly stated that it had 

already considered the infonnation regarding Agent Rust in its discussion regarding Mr. 

Harris's Brady claim4 and refused to consider the fire evidence because it was filed more 

than a year after Mr. Harris' s judgment and sentence. Harris v. State, 2019 OK CR 22, ~ 9 5, 

450 P.3d 933, 966-67. 

4 While the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals did consider some of Agent Rust's personnel 
records from the Oklahoma Office of the State Fire Marshal, it limited its consideration to the infonnation 
from Rust's file regarding his conduct prior to his investigation of Mr. Harris's case. The Oklahoma Court 
of Criminal Appeals split Mr. Harris's Brady claim regarding Agent Rust into the following three categories: 

(1) an investigation into Rust's job perfonnance, conducted by the Oklahoma State Fire 
Marshal's Office, several years before this case and unrelated to it; (2) the prosecutor's own 
interactions with Rust in the past; and (3) other allegations of job-related misconduct which 
did not come to light until after the trial. 

The court then stated"[ w ]e may easily dispense with the last allegation, because its factual basis simply did 
not exist at the time of trial. Appellant could not have impeached Rust's credibility with events that had not 
yet happened." Harris, 2019 OK CR 22, 1142, 450 P.3d 933, 950. 
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REASON THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT THE WRIT: 

Certiorari should be granted because the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 
Appeals' strict application of Oklahoma's arbitrary requirement that all 
newly discovered evidence in capital cases be presented within one year 
of the pronouncement of judgment and sentence is contrary to the Due 
Process requirements of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. 

The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals rigid, unyielding application of Title 22, 

Sections 952 and 953 of the Oklahoma statutes requiring that newly discovered evidence in 

capital cases be presented either in a motion for new trial within a year of judgment and 

sentence or through the Oklahoma's capital post-conviction procedures is patently 

unreasonable. In capital cases, like Mr. Harris's case, where the system fails to provide the 

appellate record within six months of the judgment and sentence, as Oklahoma law requires, 

appellants are denied access to courts to present meritorious claims of newly discovered 

evidence. 

The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals' suggestion in footnote 44 of its opinion 

affinning Mr. Harris'sjudgment and sentence that appellate counsel could have discovered 

and presented newly discovered evidence prior to receiving Mr. Harris' s complete appellate 

record, or at least his trial transcripts, is a complete misunderstanding of the process. See 

Harris v. State, 2019 OK CR 22, fn. 44, 450 P.3d 933. As a public defender, appellate 

counsel has limited time and resources and docket-driven briefing deadlines. In Oklahoma, 

appellate lawyers in capital cases are tasked with raising extra-record fact-based issues 

developed through investigation as well as issues apparent from the appellate record. See 
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Rule 3 .11 (8)(3)(b ), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. 

(2011 ). As a general rule, appellate counsel does not begin investigating a case without first 

having a chance to review the record. Any investigation prior to receiving the record would 

result in an unifonned fishing expedition and would be an impractical and irresponsible use 

of limited time and resources. 

When discussing motions for new trials based on newly discovered evidence, Rule 2.1 

(A)(3) of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals specifically states "no motion may be 

filed in this Court after a decision has been rendered and the mandate is issued." Rule 2.1 

(A)(3), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2011 ). 

Rule 2.1 (A)( 4) provides: 

If the appeal has been decided, the opinion has been rendered and the mandate 
has been issued by this Court, then in all other cases of newly discovered 
evidence, a petitioner must proceed under the provisions of the 
Post-Conviction Procedure Act, Sections 1080 to 1089 ofTitle 22. 

Rule 2.1 (A)( 4), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. 

(2011 ). Sections 1080-87, which are inapplicable to Mr. Harris, contain the Post-Conviction 

Procedure Act for non-capital post-conviction petitioners. Section 1089 and Oklahoma Court 

of Criminal Appeals Rule 9.7 govern capital post-conviction petitioners. See 22 O.S. 2011, 

§§ 1081-87; 22 O.S. 2011, § 1089; and Rule 9.7, Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 

Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2011). While Mr. Harris would have had additional 

opportunities to present his newly discovered evidence claims under the non-capital post-

conviction procedure, he has no options to do so as a capital post-conviction petitioner. 
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For the purposes of Mr. Harris's argument in this Court, there are several important 

differences in the rules governing non-capital post-convictions and those governing capital 

post-convictions. The first key difference is the timing and filing deadlines. Capital post-

conviction petitioners are required to file their post-conviction applications while their direct 

appeal proceedings are pending. Rule 9.7(A)(2), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 

Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2011);22 O.S. 2011, § 1089(D)(1 ). As a result, capital post-

conviction petitioners, like Mr. Harris, have no idea how the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 

Appeals will resolve the claims presented in their direct appeals prior to being required to file 

their applications for post-conviction relief. The procedures governing non-capital post-

convictions allow petitioners to file post-conviction applications any time after their direct 

appeals have been decided. 22 O.S. 2011, § 1081. 

Another key difference is the type of evidence which can be presented. Section I 080 

( d) allows non-capital petitioners to present any claim "that there exists evidence of material 

facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence 

in the interest of justice." 22 0.S. 2011, §I 080 ( d). Section I 089 (C), which is much more 

restrictive, only allows the following claims for capital post-conviction petitioners: 

I. Were not and could not have been raised in a direct appeal; and 
2. Support a conclusion either that the outcome of the trial would have been 
different but for the errors or that the defendant is factually innocent. 

22 O.S. 2011, §1089 (C)(l-2). The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals also reviews all 

capital post-conviction claims to detennine whether the claim "could have been previously 
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raised" in the direct appeal. Rule 9. 7(8)(2), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 

Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2011); 22 0.S. 2011, §1089 (D)(4)(b). Section 1089 

(D)( 4 )(b) specifically defines claims that "could not have been previously raised" as: 

( 1) it is a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel involving a factual 
basis that was not ascertainable through the exercise of reasonable diligence 
on or before the time of the direct appeal, or (2) it is a claim contained in an 
original timely application for post-conviction relief relating to ineffective 
assistance of appellate counsel. 

22 O.S. 2011, § 1089 (D)( 4 )(b )(1-2). 

If Mr. Harris had not been sentenced to death, he would still have the option of 

presenting the newly discovered evidence claims contained in his Motion for New Trial in 

an application for post-conviction relief. See 22 O.S. 2011, § 1080. However, as a capital 

petitioner, he was automatically precluded from doing so because the newly discovered 

evidence at issue was discovered prior to the filing of his direct appeal, but after the Motion 

for New Trial deadline. See Rule 9.7(8)(2), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 

Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2011 ); 22 O.S. 2011, § 1089 (C)(l ). As a result, any newly 

discovered evidence claims available to Mr. Harris in post-conviction is limited to claims 

based on evidence discovered after his appeal was filed. 

While it might be acceptable under the law to penalize appellants who are at fault for 

missing deadlines or violating rules, the same should not be true when a state actor, not the 

appellant, is responsible for the delay. Oklahoma's disparate treatment of similar claims 

from non-capital post-conviction petitioners and other capital appellants who receive their • 
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appellate records in a timely manner versus its handling of Mr. Harris's newly discovered 

evidence claims violates Mr. Harris' s Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to Due Process 

of Law. See Hicks v. Oklahoma, 447 U.S. 343, 346, 100 S.Ct. 2227, 2229, 65 L.Ed.2d 175 

( 1980) (individual has a due process interest in orderly application of procedures provided 

by a State). 

Oklahoma has more than one easy option to prevent future due process violations like 

the one in Mr. Harris's case without opening the floodgates for unlimited litigation or 

impacting finality of convictions. The simplest solution would be for the Oklahoma Court 

of Criminal Appeals to actually apply its miscarriage of justice exception. This Court has 

recognized the miscarriage of justice exception as a tool rarely used by courts to remedy 

obvious inequities created by the strict application of unyielding, rigid court rules or statutes. 

See McQuiggin v. Perkins, 569 U.S. 383, 392-94, 133 S.Ct. 1924, 1931-32, 185 L.Ed.2d 

1019 (2013). While the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals has recognized a miscarriage 

of justice exception in past cases, it was unwilling to address this possibility in Mr. Harris's 

case. Valdez v. State, 2002 OK CR 20, 46 P.3d 703, 710-11; Malicoat v. State, 2006 OK 

CR 25, ~ 3, 137 P.3d 1234 and n.7. 

The miscarriage of justice exception is comparable to the application of equitable 

tolling for the one-year statute oflimitations in the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty 

Act of 1996 (AEDPA) in federal courts. The AEDPA provides that "[a] 1- year period of 

limitation shall apply to an application for a writ of habeas corpus by a person in custody 
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pursuant to the judgment of a State court." 28 U.S.C. § 2244 (d)(l). The purpose of the 

AED PA' s one-year statute oflimi ta ti ons is the same as 0 klahoma' s one-year motion for new 

trial limitation; to prevent endless, unnecessary delays in death penalty appeals. See 

Miller- El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 337, 123 S.Ct. 1029, 154 L.Ed.2d 931 (2003). 

Despite the clear black letter law, one-year statute oflimitations in Section 2244 ( d)( 1) 

which provides no exceptions, this Court has recognized that a strict application of this 

provision is too rigid and held that § 2244( d) is subject to equitable tolling in appropriate 

cases. Holland v. Florida, 560 U.S. 631, 645, 130 S.Ct. 2459, 2560, 177 L.Ed.2d 130 

(20 IO). In Holland, this Court recognized, even prior to the AEDPA, that principles of 

equity sometimes required exceptions to inflexible rules of law: 

Courts must often "exercise [their] equity powers ... on a case-by-case basis," 
Baggett v. Bullitt, 377 U.S. 360, 375, 84 S.Ct. 1316, 12 L.Ed.2d 377, 
demonstrating "flexibility" and avoiding "mechanical rules," Holmberg v. 
Armbrecht, 327 U.S. 392, 396, 66 S.Ct. 582, 90 L.Ed. 743, in order to "relieve 
hardships ... aris[ing] from a hard and fast adherence" to more absolute legal 
rules, Hazel- Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford- Empire Co., 322 U.S. 238, 248, 64 
S.Ct. 997, 88 L.Ed. 1250. 

Id. 560 U.S. at 649-50, 130 S.Ct. at 2563. Furthennore, equitable tolling has not opened the 

floodgates to endless litigation or impacted the important concept of finality because courts 

have placed strict requirements on petitioners requesting it. A habeas petitioner is "entitled 

to equitable tolling" only if he shows"( 1) that he has been pursuing his rights diligently, and 

(2) that some extraordinary circumstance stood in his way" and prevented timely filing. Pace 

v. DiGug/ielmo, 544 U.S. 408, 418, 125 S.Ct. 1807, 161 L.Ed.2d 669. 
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Mr. Harris clearly meets both the above requirements. Despite appellate counsel's 

repeated complaints and requests for assistance from the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 

Appeals regarding the trial court's delay in preparing Mr. Harris's record, the record was not 

completed until July 16, 2016, 29 months after he was sentenced on February 12, 2014. In 

addition, after consulting with the district attorney who prosecuted Mr. Harris, undersigned 

counsel also notified the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals that the investigator assigned 

to assist in Mr. Harris 's appeal had located newly discovered evidence relevant to his appeal. 

In this pleading, filed on November 23, 2015, almost a year and a half before Mr. Harris's 

March 30, 2017, appellate brief, counsel not only notified the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 

Appeals that new evidence had been discovered, they also requested guidance in what to do 

to preserve the evidence. The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals failed to acknowledge 

the request, much less provide any guidance regarding what to do with the evidence. 

Oklahoma could also change its court rules and statutes governing the timing for 

capital appellants to file motions for new trial based on newly discovered evidence. Little 

time or effort would be required to change the law to start the time for filing a motion for 

new trial when the appellate record is complete rather than from the date of the judgment and 

sentence. This type of change in the law would have little impact because cases like Mr. 

Harris's, where a state actor is responsible for lengthy delays in the completion of the 

appellate record, are rare. 

Oklahoma could look to the statutes and court rules of other states for guidance. Most 
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states have some type of procedure to allow a criminal defendant to litigate a motion for new 

trial. Many states allow for extensions of time to file motions for new trials based on the 

discretion of the court5 or for good cause shown.6 In Nebraska, the procedure generously 

allows more time when issues arise which prevent timely filing, as Mr. Harris does here.' 

Ohio applies a common-sense approach for extensions of time when a defendant is not at 

fault for the delay by showing "by clear and convincing proof' that he/she "was unavoidably 

prevented from filing his motion for a new trial." Crim. R. Rule 33(B); OH ST RCRP Rule 

33(B) (emphasis added). If a motion is based on newly discovered evidence, the same 

s Colorado Crim. P. Rule 33 (C) regarding motions for a new trial differentiates between new trials 
based on newly discovered evidence and all others. For newly discovered evidence, the motion .. shall be filed 
as soon after entry of judgment as the facts supporting it become known to the defendant." Motions on other 
grounds .. shall be filed within 14 days after verdict or finding of guilt or within such additional time as the 
court may fix during the 14-day period. "CO ST RCRP Rule 33 (emphasis added) For capital cases, the time 
line is twenty-one days. CO ST RCRP Rule 32.2; Idaho Criminal Rules (I.C.R.), Rule 34(b )(2) differentiates 
between new trials based on newly discovered evidence and all others. For newly discovered evidence, the 
motion "must be filed within two years after final judgment. ... "Motions on other grounds "must be filed 
within 14 days after the verdict, finding of guilty, or imposition of sentence, or within any further time the 
court may set during the 14-day period." (emphasis added); K.S.A. 22-3501 (1) regarding motions for new 
trials in Kansas differentiates between new trials based on newly discovered evidence and all others. For 
newly discovered evidence, the motion "may be made within two years after final judgment." Motions on 
other grounds "shall be made within 14 days after verdict or finding of guilty or within suc/1fur1her time as 
the court may fix during the 14-day period. " (emphasis added); NMRA, Rule 5-614(C) regarding motions 
for new trial in New Mexico differentiates between new trials based on newly discovered evidence and all 
others. For newly discovered evidence, the motion "may be made only before final judgment, or within two 
(2) years thereafter .... " Motions on other grounds "shall be made within ten (10) days after verdict or 
finding of guilty or within such further time as the court may fix during the ten ( 10) day period." (emphasis 
added); see also W.S.A. 805.16 (Wisconsin allows courts to extend time). 

6 M.C.L.A. 770.2(4) regarding motions for new trials in Michigan in which the time to file has 
expired, "a court ofrecord may grant a motion for a new trial/or good cause shown." (emphasis added); see 
also Ga. Code Ann.,§ 5-5-41(a) (Georgia allows an untimely filing for good cause shown). 

7 Neb.Rev.St. § 29-2103(3) states that a motion for new trial based on grounds other than newly 
discovered evidence, "shall be filed within ten days after the verdict was rendered unless such filing is 
unavoidably prevented. " (emphasis added). Subsection 4 discusses motions for a new trial based on newly 
discovered evidence and allows a defendant five years to seek a new trial. 
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standard applies if "the defendant was unavoidably prevented from the discovery of the 

evidence upon which he must rely .... " Crim. R. Rule 33(B); OH ST RCRP Rule 33(B). 

In Massachusetts, "[t]he trial judge upon motion in writing may grant a new trial at any time 

if it appears that justice may not have been done." Mass.R.Crim.P., Rule 30. Some states' 

rules regarding motions for new trials are contained within the rules for post-conviction 

procedure.8 Statutes which allow for enlargement of time to file a motion for new trial, or 

specifically mention a delay which is not the fault of the defendant, recognize that situations, 

such as Mr. Harris' s, may arise, and without some type of relief, a miscarriage of justice will 

occur. 

CONCLUSION 

Donnie L. Harris, Jr. respectfully requests this Court grant this petition for certiorari 

to the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals on the question presented. Mr. Harris further 

requests that this Court remand his case to the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals and 

order the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals to address the claims of newly discovered 

evidence presented in his Motion for New Trial. If this Court fails to act, other similarly 

situated future appellants will be denied their right to due process and access to the courts. 

8 See Idaho Criminal Rules (l.C.R.), Rule 34(b}(2}; W.S.A. 809.30 (Wisconsin-Judicial counsel 
notes state the tenn "postconviction relief' includes requests for a new trial). 
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LexisNexis® Hcadnotes 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Appeals > Procedural 
Matters > Records on Appeal 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Appeals > Reviewability 

/IN/(_..] Procedural Matters, Records on 
Appeal 

As to the transcript of proceedings, it is a 
defendant's burden to show prejudice from any 
perceived omissions. Failure to provide a complete 
record of every word spoken, or every action taken, 
in the proceedings below is not per se reversible 
error. If the record is so incomplete that the 

appellate court cannot conduct a meaningful 
review, then relief may be warranted, particularly 
in capital cases where the appellate court is 
statutorily obligated to review the appropriateness 
of the death sentence. 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of 
Review > Abuse of Discretion > Continuances 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of 
Review > Abuse of Discretion > Mistrial 

/11\'2(~] Abuse of Discretion, Continuances 

An appellate court reviews a trial court's refusal to 
grant a mistrial or a continuance for an abuse of 
discretion. 

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental 
Rights > Criminal Process > Compulsory 
Process 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Trials > Defendant's 
Rights > Right to Compulsory Process 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Trials > Defendant's 
Rights > Right to Due Process 

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental 
Rights > Procedural Due Process > Scope of 
Protection 

EXHIBIT 
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HNJ[A.] Criminal Process, Compulsory Process 

The Compulsory Process Clause of the Sixth 
Amendment, in conjunction with the Due Process 
Clause of the Fifth Amendment, have been 
interpreted to guarantee the accused a fair 
opportunity to secure and present relevant 
evidence. States may, however, enforce reasonable 
rules of procedure that apply to both parties. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Trials > Defendant's 
Rights > Right to Due Process 

I I V./(A.] Defendant's Rights, Right to Due 
Process 

When a defendant claims the trial court's refusal to 
accommodate his situation to his satisfaction was 
tantamount to denying him the right to present a 
defense, he must show (I) that the court prevented 
him from obtaining or presenting evidence; (2) that 
the court's action was arbitrary or disproportionate 
to any legitimate cvidentiary or procedural purpose; 
and (3) that the excluded evidence would have been 
relevant and material, and vital to the defense. The 
requirement of materiality is in keeping with other 
situations where a defendant has been denied 

testimony within a reasonable time, and what facts 
counsel believes the witness will prove, and that he 
believes them to be true. Okla. Stat. 111. 11. ,,,. 668 
(2011). 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Appeals > Standards of 
Review > Abuse of Discretion 

//N6[~] Standards of Review, Abuse of 
Discretion 

An abuse of discretion is an unreasonable, 
unconscionable and arbitrary action taken without 
proper consideration of the facts and law pertaining 
to the motter submitted. 

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental 
Rights > Procedural Due Process > Scope of 
Protection 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Trials > Defendant's 
Rights > Right to Due Process 

f/\'i[.!.] Procedural Due Process, Scope of 
Protection 

access to evidence, whether by loss, destruction, or 
concealment by the prosecution. A defendant's right to present evidence is one of the 

core guarantees of due process. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Trials > Continuances 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Trials > Defendant's Rights 

H.V5[A.] Trials, Continuances 

A defendant's right to present a defense is not 

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental 
Rights > Procedural Due Process > Scope of 
Protection 

Evidence > Relevance > Preservation of 
Relevant Evidence > Exclusion & Preservation 
by Prosecutors 

unlimited; it is subject to reasonable restrictions. If /JN8[~] Procedural Due Process, Scope of 
a continuance is requested due to an absent witness, Protection 
the proponent must inform the court of the 
probability of procuring the absent witness's The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment obligates the State to preserve 
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evidence that might be expected to play a 
significant role in a suspect's defense. This 
obligation is not triggered unless the exculpatory 
value of the evidence is apparent before its 
destruction, and the evidence is such that the 
defendant would be unable to obtain comparable 
evidence by other reasonably available means. 
When the exculpatory value of the evidence is not 
apparent, a less stringent test applies. If the State 
failed to preserve evidence that can only be called 
potentially useful to the defense, then no relief is 
warranted unless the defendant can show bad faith 
on the State's part. 

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental 
Rights> Procedural Due Process > Scope of 
Protection 

Evidence > Relevance > Preservation of 
Relevant Evidence > Exclusion & Preservation 
by Prosecutors 

~[.!.) Procedural Due Process, Scope of 
Protection 

Due process does not impose an undifferentiated 
and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all 
material that might be of conceivable evidentiary 
significance in a particular prosecution. 

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental 
Rights > Procedural Due Process > Scope of 
Protection 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Discovery & 
Inspection > Brady Materials > Brady Claims 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Discovery & 
Inspection > Brady Materials > Duty of 
Disclosure 

favorable to an accused, including evidence that 
would impeach the credibility of the Stnte•s 
witnesses or the probative force of its physical 
evidence. To establish a Brady violation, a 
defendant need not show that the State intentionally 
withheld such infonnation. He must, however, 
show that the evidence had exculpatory or 
impeachment value, and that it was material, such 
that there is a reasonable probability that its 
omission affected the outcome of the proceeding. 
The question is whether, absent the non-disclosed 
infonnation, the defendant received a fair trial 
resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence. 

Criminal Law & Procedure> ... > Discovery & 
Inspection > Brady Materials > Brady Claims 

/J.V //[.ta] Brady Materials, Brady Claims 

In a Brady analysis, evidence is material only if 
there is a reasonable probability that, had the 
evidence been timely disclosed to the defense, the 
result of the proceeding would have been different. 
A "reasonable probability" is one sufficient to 
undennine confidence in the outcome. Put another 
way, evidence is material only if it could 
"reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such 
a different light as to undermine confidence in the 
verdict. Evidence with only marginal, incremental, 
or cumulative impeachment value will rarely meet 
this standard. 

Criminal Law & Procedure> ... > Standards of 
Review > Abuse of Discretion > Evidence 

Evidence > Admissjbility >Procedural 
Matters > Rulings on Evidence 

/IV/2[.t.] Abuse of Discretion, Evidence 

An appellate court reviews a trial court's ruling on 
H.VIO[~] Procedural Due Process, Scope of the admission of evidence for an abuse of 
Protection discretion. 

Due process requires the State to djsclose evidence 
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Evidence > Admissibility > Conduct 
Evidence > Prior Acts, Crimes & Wrongs 

flt\' 13[.!.] Conduct Evidence, Prior Acts, 
Crimes & Wrongs 

Oklahoma's Evidence Code bars evidence of "other 
crimes, wrongs, or acts" offered only to show the 
defendant acted in conformity therewith. 0~"1. Stat. 
Iii. 12. ~ ~404(8) (2011). 

Evidence > Admissibility > Conduct 
Evidence > Prior Acts, Crimes & Wrongs 

llN l .J(.!.] Conduct Evidence, Prior Acts, 
Crimes & Wrongs 

Where n defendant's domestic partner is the victim 
(or intended victim) of the charged crime, evidence 
of prior difficulties between the two can be relevant 
to show motive, intent, and the absence of mistake 
or accident. 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of 
Review > Plain Error > Definition of Plain 
Error 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > ... > Reviewability > Preservation 
for Review > Exceptions to Failure to Object 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of 
Review > Plain Error > Evidence 

H.Y 15(~] Plain Error, Definition of Plain Error 

When a defendant did not object to the statements 
on hearsay grounds at the time, an appellate court's 
review is only for plain error. The defendant must 
show that a plain or obvious error affected the 
outcome of the proceeding. The appellate court will 
correct plain error only where it seriously affects 
the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the 
proceedings. 

Evidence > ... > Statements as 
Evidence > Hearsay > Rule Components 

/J\'/6[.!.] Hearsay, Rule Components 

"Hearsay" is a statement, other than one made by a 
person testifying, offered to prove the truth of the 
matter asserted. Okla. Swt. 1i1. 12. ,,. 280/tA>t3) 

(2011). 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Appeals > Reversible 
Error > Cumulative Errors 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Appeals > Prosecutorial 
Misconduct 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Appeals > Reversible 
Error > Prosecutorial Misconduct 

II\' 1-[~] Reversible Error, Cumulative Errors 

An appellate court generally reviews claims of 
prosecutor misconduct cumulatively, to determine 
if the combined effect denied the defendant a fair 
trial. 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Closing 
Arguments 

llN 18(~] Trials, Closing Areuments 

In closing arguments, both parties have the right to 
discuss the evidence from their respective 
standpoints. 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Postconviction 
Proceedings > Parole 

1/N/9[~] Postconviction Proceedings, Parole 
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A defendant convicted of specified crimes, 
including First Degree Murder, may not be 
considered for parole until he has served at least 
85% of the original sentence. Okla. Stat. tit. 21, § 
/3.1(2011). 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of 
Review > Abuse of Discretion > Evidence 

Evidence > Authentication > Chain of Custody 

f/N20(~] Abuse of Discretion, Evidence 

When defense counsel objects to the chain of 
custody at the time, an appe11atc court reviews the 
trial court's ruling for an abuse of discretion. 
Identification and authentication of physical 
evidence can generally be satisfied by testimony 
that the evidence is what a proponent claims. Of.la. 
Stal. Iii 12. ~ ~<){}/(8)t/) (2011). The 11chain of 
custody" concept guards against substitution of, or 
tampering with, physical evidence between the time 
it is found and the time it is analyzed. It is not 
necessary that all possibility of tampering be 
negated. 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of 
Review > Abuse of Discretion > Mistrial 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Motions 
for Mistrial 

/l.\'2 / [A.] Abuse of Discretion, Mistrial 

An appellate court reviews a ruling on a motion for 
a mistrial for an abuse of discretion. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Capital 
Punishment > Aggravating Circumstances 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Trials > Verdicts > Unanimity 

Hl\'12[.!.] Capital Punishment, Aggravating 
Circumstances 

A defendant cannot be eligible to receive the death 
penalty unless the jurors unanimously find the 
existence of at least one aggravating circumstance 
beyond a reasonable doubt. Okla. Stat. 1i1. 11. ,~· 

ZOL.11 (2011). Even after finding an aggravating 
circumstance, jurors cannot impose a death 
sentence unless they unanimously conclude that the 
aggravating circumstances outweigh any evidence 
that mitigates the crime; jurors are in any event 
never required to impose a death sentence under 
any set of circumstances. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Capital Punishment 

llr\'23(~] Sentencing, Capital Punishment 

While the Eighth Amendment requires that capital 
sentencing jurors be allowed to consider all 
relevant mitigating evidence, it does not demand 
that States structure that consideration in any 
particular way. States need not expressly instruct 
capital juries on the concept of 11non-unanimityff 
regarding mitigating evidence. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Appeals > Standards of Review 

H.\ '2.J(.!.] Appeals, Standards of Review 

When there was no reasonable probability that the 
jurors were prevented from fully considering 
mitigating evidence, an appellate court may 
consider all of the instructions, oral and written, 
given to the jury, any relevant communications 
between judge and jury, as well as other statements 
by the court and arguments by counsel. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > ... > Appeals > Standards of 
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Review > Abuse of Discretion 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Imposition of 
Sentence > Victim Statements 

HN25[~] Standards of Review, Abuse of 
Discretion 

An appellate court srcview a trial court's decision to 
admit victim impact evidence for an abuse of 
discretion. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Imposition of 
Sentence > Victim Statements 

/IN21i [.!.] Imposition of Sentence, Victim 
Statements 

A "victim impact statement" is defined in the 
Oklahoma Victim's Rights Act, O/,ul Stat. 1i1. 11. ~· 

1-1 ;J_ (2011) et seq., as information about certain 
effects of a violent crime on each "victim" and 

HN18(.t.] Imposition of Sentence, Victim 
Statements 

Oklahoma law has long provided that in the 
sentencing phase of a capital trial, the state may 
introduce evidence about the victim and about the 
impact of the murder on the family of the victim. 
OJ.la. Sill!. Iii. 11. ,,. 7nJ./OtCJ (2011). 

Constitutional Law > Bill of 
Rights > Fundamental Rights > Cruel & 
Unusual Punishment 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Capital 
Punishment > Cruel & Unusual Punishment 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Imposition of 
Sentence > Victim Statements 

LD1.2[.!.] Fundamental Rights, Cruel 
Unusual Punishment 

& 

members of the victim's "immediate family." OA/a1. The Eighth Amendment prohibits a capital 
S101. tit.~ I. ~· 1-121-/fS) (2011). sentencing jury from considering victim impact 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Imposition of 
Sentence > Victim Statements 

/l:\'17[~] Imposition of Sentence, Victim 
Stutements 

evidence that is unrelated to the circumstances of 
the crime. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Counsel > Effective Assistance of 
Counsel > Tests for Ineffective Assistance of 
Counsel 

Miller "· Slate. ~013 OK CR II ; 313 P.3cl 93..J, is l/N30(~] Effective Assistance of Counsel, Tests 
overruled to the extent it held that it was error to for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 
allow a murder victim's stepparent to deliver a 
victim impact statement in the sentencing phase of 
a capital trial. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Imposition of 
Sentence > Victim Statements 

Under Strickland, a defendant must demonstrate: 
{ 1) that counsel's perfonnance was constitutionally 
deficient, and (2) a reasonable probability that 
counsel's performance caused prejudice - such that 
it undennines confidence in the outcome of the 
trial. An appellate court begins with the 
presumption that counsel's conduct fell within the 
wide range of reasonable professional assistance. 
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The defendant must demonstrate that counsel's l/N33[A ] 
choices were unreasonable under prevailing Trials 

Effective Assistance of Counsel, 

professional nonns and cannot be considered sound 
trial strategy. When a Strickland claim can be 
disposed of on the ground of lack of prejudice, that 
course should be followed. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Counsel > Effective Assistance of 
Counsel > Tests for lneffective Assistance of 
Counsel 

//.Y3 /[.!.] Effective Assistance of Counsel, Tests 
for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

As Okla. R. Ct Crim. App., Okla. Stat. tit. 22, ch. 
18, § 3. t 1(8) explains, there is a strong 
presumption of regularity in trial proceedings and 
counsel's conduct. The application must contain 
sufficient infonnation to show, by clear and 
convincing evidence, a strong possibility that trial 
counsel was ineffective for failing to identify or use 
the evidence at issue. Rule 3.1 I (B)(3)(b)(i). An 
appellate court thoroughly reviews the application 
and accompanying materials. This standard is 
easier for a defendant to meet than the Strickland 
standard, as he need only show a strong possibility 
that counsel was ineffective. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Counsel > Effective Assistance of 
Counsel > Trials 

HiYJ2[.!.] 
Trials 

Effective Assistance of Counsel, 

A tactical choice made by counsel after due 
consideration and research is "virtually 
unchallengable" on appeal. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Counsel > Effective Assistance of 
Counsel > Trials 

Trial counsel's job is to make decisions based on 
reasonable investigation of the evidence and legal 
issues. Courts must judge the reasonableness of 
counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the 
particular case, viewed as of the time of counsers 
conduct. There may be countless ways to provide 
effective assistance in any given case. There comes 
a point where counsel may reasonably decide that 
one strategy is in order, thereby making additional 
efforts toward some other strategy unnecessary. It 
is not counsel's duty to somehow preserve every 
conceivable tactic or argument that was ultimately 
discarded. 

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental 
Rights > Procedural Due Process > Scope of 
Protection 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Discovery & 
Inspection > Brady Materials > Brady Claims 

//.\"3.J[.!.] Procedural Due Process, Scope of 
Protection 

The Fifth Amendment does not guarantee defense 
counsel the right to unfettered inspection of the 
State's files. On the other hand, Brady obligates the 
State to disclose material, exculpatory evidence 
regardless of whether a defendant asks for it. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Counsel > Effective Assistance of 
Counsel > Tests for Ineffective Assistance of 
Counsel 

HN35[.!.] Effective Assistance of Counsel, Tests 
for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

To obtain relief under Okla. R. Ct. Crim. App., 
Okla. Stat. tit. 22, ch. 18, § 3.11 (B), a defendant 
need only show a "strong possibility" that trial 

Page 7 of39 



2019 OK CR 22, •22; 450 P.3d 933, ••933; 2019 Okla. Crim. App. LEXIS 22, ... 1 

counsel was ineffective. But Strickland contains the To support the "especially heinous, atrocious, or 
benchmarks for deciding what "ineffective" means. cruel" aggravator, the State must prove beyond n 
Strickland starts with the presumption that counsel reasonable doubt that the defendant inflicted either 
acted reasonably and professionally, and grants torture (great physical anguish or extreme mental 
considerable deference to strategic choices made cruelty), or serious physical abuse, and in cases of 
after reasonable investigation. Rule 3.1 l(B} echoes great physical anguish or serious physical abuse, 
that presumption. Appellant must show a strong that the victim experienced conscious physical 
possibility that counsel's choices were unreasonable suffering before death. 
under prevailing professional nonns, and cannot be 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Postconviction 
Proceedings > Motions for New Trial 

Governments > Legislation > Statute of 
Limitations > Time Limitations 

considered sound trial strategy. If counsel's 
strategic decisions are based on reasonably 
adequate investigation, then those decisions are 
"virtually unchallengeable" on appeal. An appellate 
court must defer to reasonable trial strategies, and 
not second-guess them with the benefit of 
hindsight. Counsel has a duty to make reasonable 
investigations, or to make a reasonable decision fl:Y38[i!i] Postconviction Proceedings, Motions 

that makes particular investigations unnecessary. for New Trial 

Counsel cannot be expected to undertake an 
investigation that he reasonably believes would be 
fruitless. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Counsel > Effective Assistance of 
Counsel > Tests for Ineffective Assistance of 
Counsel 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Counsel > Effective Assistance of 
Counsel > Trials 

//.V36[.ti] Effective Assistance of Counsel, Tests 
for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

A defendant may seek a new trial in limited 
situations where his substantial rights have been 
prejudiced, including when new evidence is 
discovered, material to the defendant, and which he 
could not with reasonable diligence have 
discovered before the trial. OJ.la. Stat. tit. 2 2. :::.· 
951f7J (2011). The motion may be made within 
three months after the evidence is discovered, but 
must be filed within one year after judgment is 
rendered. OJ..la Sre11. 1i1. 22, ,,· 9j] (2011}. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Appeals > Capital 
Punishment 

Even professionally unreasonable decisions by f/N39[.!.] Appeals, Capital Punishment 
counsel do not necessarily result in prejudice. 

Criminal Law & 
Procedure > Sentencing > Capital 
Punishment > Aggravating Circumstances 

HN37[~] Capital Punishment, Aggravating 
Circumstances 

An appellate court's mandatory sentence review in 
capital cases, 01..la. Sw1. ri1. 21. S 701./J (2011), 
requires the appellate court to determine whether 
defendant's death sentence was improperly 
influenced by passion, prejudice or any other 
arbitrary factor, and whether the evidence supports 
the jury's findings as to aggravating circumstances. 
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Opinion by: KUEHN 

Opinion 

(**940] KUEHN, VlCE PRESlDING JUDGE: 

(*I] Appellant, Donnie Lee Harris, was charged in 
the District Court of Leflore County, Case No. Cf· 
2012·113, with Felony Murder in the First Degree 
(21 O.S.1011. ~· mJ.718)). The State sought the 
death penalty, and alleged two statutory 

aggravating circumstances in support thereof: (I) 
that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, 
or cruel; and (2) that Appellant knowingly created a 
great risk of death to more than one person. :! ! 
O.S.1011. ~· iOl.11(1), {jj. Jury trial was held 
December 9 through 18, 2013 before the Honorable 
Jonathan K. 1***21 Sullivan. District Judge. The 
jury rejected several lesser forms of homicide as 
alternatives to the charge, found Appellant guilty of 
First Degree Murder, found both aggravating 
circumstances, and imposed a sentence of death. 
Formal sentencing was held February 12, 2014. 

SUMMARY OF THE TRIAL PROCEEDINGS 

(*21 Appellant was convicted of killing his 
girlfriend, Kristi Ferguson. by intentionally dousing 
her with gasoline and setting her on fire. The 
couple had been in a tumultuous relationship for 
several years. Late on the evening of February 18, 
2012, Appellant and Ferguson showed up at the 
home of Martha Johnson in Talihina. Appellant 
lived with his father, brother, and others in a home 
near Johnson's. Johnson and her son testified that 
Ferguson, nearly naked, was screaming for help on 
their front porch. Part of her bra was melted to her 
chest. The Johnsons smelled gasoline and burned 
flesh. As they waited for an ambulance to arrive, 
Appellant repeatedly (**9411 tried to keep 
Ferguson from talking, saying things like, "Shut the 
fuck up. Shut your fucking mouth. Just shut your 
fucking mouth. You're going to get me in fucking 
trouble. Don't say another fucking word. 11 Ferguson 
was heard to say, "Donnie, [***3) look at me. 
Look what you did to me," to which Appellant 
replied, "I know." 

[*31 Emergency personnel also testified that 
Appellant tried to keep Ferguson from telling them 
what happened. The paramedics repeatedly asked 
Appellant to get out of their way as they attended to 
Ferguson. As Ferguson was carried to the 
ambulance, Appellant ran alongside, repeatedly 
exclaiming that he was sorry, that he loved her, and 
"We took it too far." Once Ferguson was secured 
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inside the ambulance and away from Appellant, she 
said, "I don't want him in here. Keep him away 
from me. Keep him away from me. Don't let him 
near me. He did this to me .... He threw kerosene on 
me and set me on fire." 

(*41 After the ambulance left, Appellant walked to 
the home of his friend, Melvin Bannister. (At trial, 
Bannister testified that Appellant said he had gotten 
into a fight with Ferguson, and that some candles 
caught their house on fire.) When police made 
telephone contact with Appellant, he initially 
refused to reveal his location, but eventually agreed 
to be transported to the police station for an 
interview. Several witnesses said that Appellant 
reeked of gasoline; he had a serious bum to his left 
hand. A lighter was found [***41 in his pocket, 
although he later told a detective that he did not 
smoke. 

[*51 Appelhmt gave authorities vague and 
inconsistent accounts of what happened.1 On 
February 19, 2012, af1er a brief discussion with 
Talihina Police Officer Justin Klittke, Appellant 
had a more extensive interview with State Fire 
Marshal Agent Tony Rust, who had been 
dispatched to investigate the fire . Appellant told 
Klitzke that he kept a Crown Royal bottle of 
gasoline on a table in his bedroom, but said he had 
no idea how the fire started. Appellant wrote a four­
page account of what happened for Agent Rust 
where he claimed that while he and Ferguson were 
in his bedroom, a fire of unknown origin broke out 
"in an instant," and quickly "jumped to a blaze" on 
Ferguson1s clothes. When Rust told Appellant he 
did not believe that account, Appellant exclaimed, 
"I didn't splash gasoline on her and set her on fire." 

1*6] On February 24, 2012, Appellant was 
interviewed by Leflore County Investigator Travis 
Saulsberry. That interview was recorded and played 
for the jury at trial. He volunteered to Saulsberry 
(as he had to Officer Klitzke) that he kept a Crown 

1 Appellant docs no1 ch:lllcni e the volun1:1rincss or 11ny of his 
stau:ments 10 authorilii:s. 

Royal bottle full of gasoline on a table in his 
bedroom. Appellant maintained [***SJ that he did 
not know how the fire started. However, from the 
beginning, he conceded that the gasoline-filled 
bottle played a part. Initially he theorized that 
Ferguson may have kicked the bottle off of the 
table. When directly confronted about how the fire 
started, Appellant offered various possible 
scenarios. Almost in the same breath, he claimed 
that it might have been caused by candles or a 
faulty space heater, but he later said there were no 
lit candles in his bedroom at the time. When 
confronted with Melvin Bannister's claim that he 
had blamed the fire on candles, Appellant denied 
making such a claim. When confronted with a 
recording of Bannister's statement to that effect, 
Appellant replied that he "didn't know what else to 
say.11 At one point he told Saulsberry, 111 don't know 
how it happened." Still later, Appellant claimed that 
Ferguson actually grabbed the Crown Royal bottle 
full of gasoline and "threw it down," causing the 
bed to catch fire. Appellant accused every other 
witness of being untruthful or mistaken.2 

[*71 Because firefighters had to return to the scene 
several times to put out "hotspots," Agent Rust was 
unable to safely inspect it until a few days after the 
fire. He (***6] collected pieces of a. Crown Royal 
bottle found in the debris and sent this evidence, 
along with clothing Appellant was wearing at the 
time of f**942) his arrest, to the Oklahoma State 
Bureau of Investigation for analysis. According to 
OSBI Criminalist Brad Rogers, the pieces of the 
bottle contained traces of an ignitable fluid such as 
gasoline. 

(*81 Ferguson was eventually flown to Oklahoma 
City for treatment of second-and third-degree bums 
over fifty percent of her body. She also suffered 
other fire-related trauma such as lung damage. She 
succumbed to her injures a few weeks later. The 

? When S:iullberry asked Appellant why he was lclling Ferguson to 
"shul 1hc fuck up" when she WilS asking !he neighbors for help, 
Appelh1nt claimed he was tialking to the neighbors, not Ferguson. 
because (he claimed) !hey were dcmandin&: 1h111 Ferguson leave their 
propeny. 
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bum patterns on her skin were consistent with those 
made by a liquid accelerant such as gasoline. 
Doctors testified that the pain associated with 
Ferguson's injuries would have been unimaginable. 

[*9] The State presented evidence that the 
relationship between Appellant and Ferguson was 
tumultuous, that Appellant had made a number of 
menacing and threatening statements to and about 
Ferguson, and that Ferguson had sought a 
protective order against AppeHant. A few weeks 
before the fire, Ferguson moved out of Appellant•s 
home to live with a friend, Jenny Turner. Turner 
testified that Appellant threatened to kill 
Ferguson 1***7) several times, saying things like, 
"I will kill you before I see you happy in Talihina." 
On one occasion, Appellant drove by Turner's 
home, waved a handgun and said, "I wanted y'all to 
see my new friend." Turner also recalled that a 
week before the fire, Appellant tried to run over 
Ferguson in his car. 

(*10) The defense presented testimony from 
several of Appellant's family, who described the 
relationship between Appellant and Ferguson and 
their observations during the fire. None of them had 
personal knowledge about how the fire started. 

[*111 In the first stage of the trial, the jury found 
Appellant guilty of First Degree Felony Murder in 
the Commission of First Degree Arson, rejecting 
the lesser alternative crimes of Second Degree 
Murder (Depraved Mind}, First Degree 
Manslaughter (Heat of Passion), and Second 
Degree Manslaughter (Culpable Negligence}. The 
jury's guilty verdict on a capital offense led to a 
second, capital sentencing phase of the trial. The 
State adopted the first-stage evidence to support its 
two aggravating circumstances. It presented victim 
impact testimony from Ferguson's father, mother, 
stepmother, and sister. It also presented brief expert 
testimony about the pain Ferguson [***8] likely 
suffered as a direct result of her bums. The defense 
presented many friends and family who testified to 
Appellant's upbringing, work habits, religious 
conviction, and general character as a good person 

whose life should be spared. The defense also 
presented a psychologist who examined Appellant 
and a mitigation specialist who provided a 
summary of Appellant's life story. After being 
instructed on how to consider the evidence relevant 
to sentencing, the jury recommended punishment of 
death. 

ANALYSIS 

1*12) In Proposition I, Appellant claims his 
inability to review certain materials has denied him 
his right to a meaningful appeal. Both trial counsel 
and appellate counsel designated, for the record on 
appeal, a 11complete transcript" of each proceeding, 
and all exhibits "offered by any party, whether 
admitted or not.11 During the pendency of the 
appeal, appellate counsel filed several objections 
claiming the appeal record was not complete. 
Several times, we remanded the case to the district 
court to determine whether items were in foct 
missing, and if so, whether they could be 
recovered.3 The materials at issue here fall into two 
groups: ( l) omissions from the transcript of 
proceedings below, (***91 and (2) physical 
evidence presumably lost or destroyed before the 
appeal was perfected. 

1*13) Appellant complains that no record exists of 
a motion hearing held December 4, 2013, a few 
days before trial began. The fact that a hearing was 
held on that date is not in dispute; in fact, counsel 
for both parties were in substantial agreement about 
much of what was discussed, including Appellant's 
complaints about his attorneys' communication 
with him. Importantly, both counsel also recalled 
stipulating that the State would substitute 
photographs and laboratory reports for much of its 
physical evidence. However, the district court 
concluded that no transcript or (**943) reporter's 
notes from the hearing could be found. Over 
Appellant's objection, we accepted the trial court•s 

'Hearings were held December 10, 2014; December 23, 2015; and 
May 13, 2016. 
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findings and conclusions, and deemed the appeal 
record complete. 

1*141 Appellant has also catalogued several points 
in the trial proceedings where a participant's 
response is not recorded. These complaints fall into 
two categories: (I) where prospective jurors were 
asked to raise their hands in response to certain 
questions, but no record is made of how each 
individual panelist responded; and (2) where the 
response of a prospective juror 1***10) or witness 
is described as "inaudible" by the court reporter. 
Finally, during the preparation of the appeal, 
appellate defense counsel attempted to locate 
physical evidence collected at the scene of the fire. 
This Court remanded the case to the district court to 
determine if this evidence still existed, but 
apparently it docs not. Again, we note that the 
parties agreed to introduce photographs in lieu of 
most of the physical evidence related to this case. 

)*15) HS J['i'] As to the transcript of proceedings, 
Appellant acknowledges that it is his burden to 
show prejudice from any perceived omissions. 
Parker v. State, 1994 OK CR 56, ,, 25-17, 887 
P.ld 290, 194-95. Failure to provide a complete 
record of every word spoken, or every action taken1 

in the proceedings below is not per se reversible 
error. Harm 1·. S!ah'. ]007 OK CR 28. 4J 7. 16-1 

P.3cl I /03. 1108-0Y. If the record is so incomplete 
that this Court cannot conduct a meaningful review, 
then relief may be warranted, particularly in capital 
cases where we are statutorily obligated to review 
the appropriateness of the death sentence. See Blw.k 
i·. Sw1e. 2001 OK CR 5. ~ l ~i 83-88, 11 P.3d /047. 

1075-76.4 Yet Appellant makes no attempt to show 

"In Blac-k, :i c:ipit:il defcnd:int claimed prejudici:il enor from the fact 
th:u :i number of cvcnlS were not transcribed for the record, including 
bench conrercnccs, rulini:s. the exercise of peremptory ch:illenges, 
11nd the selection of 111tematc jurors. We rejected Black's claim that 
the omissions were so a:reat 11s to impede either his right to llppc;JI or 
this Coun's duty to re\•Kiw. We observed th11t Bh1ck had failed to 
identify any e\'identi11ry or other ruling which depended on some 
unrecorded ponion of the proceedings. I.I. 111 •i•; ,'iJ, ,\ i, ·"·"· ! t l'.Jcl 
,,, 1m5.;r,, We reached the same conclusion in Parktr, cited above. 
Parktr, /9fJ.I OK CR S6, U 13-17, 881P.1d11119./-95. 

prejudice in this proposition. Instead, he claims 
prejudice will be shown as the omissions relate to 
other propos1t1ons of error, specifically 
Propositions III, Vlll, XV, and XVIJ.S We will 
revisit f***l 1 J the purportedly missing evidence 
and testimony as necessary in those claims. 
Proposition I is denied. 

)*16) Propositions II, Ill, and IV share some 
factual background. The State's primary evidence 
against Appellant in the guilt phase consisted of 
Ferguson's statements immediately after the fire, 
Appellant's own incriminating statements and 
conduct after the fire, and his inconsistent and 
sometimes fanciful explanations in interviews with 
authorities. Appellant's defense team retained the 
services of an expert to assist in reviewing the 
State's handling of the investigation. ln Proposition 
II , Appellant claims he was denied a fair trial 
because he was unable to present expert testimony 
to the jury. In Proposition lll, he claims he was 
denied a fair trial because the State failed to 
preserve physical evidence from the fire scene. In 
Proposition IV, he accuses the State of failing to 
disclose evidence affecting the credibility of the 
investigator who collected evidence from the scene. 

[* 17) The fire occurred on the evening of 
February 18, 2012. The State Fire Marshal's 
Investigator, Tony Rust, spoke with Appellant and 
collected his clothing shortly after 
Appellant [***121 was taken into custody in the 
early morning hours of February 19, but Rust was 

s The purpose of prc1rial motion hc:irings is usually 10 resolve (111 

lea.st preliminarily) issues obout what evidence will be 11dmissible ot 
tri:il. But such rulinss arc always subject to ch:ingc. C111•.,111 • 

{l,,dri'.!11<': 1 . S1a11•. ]0/1) 01\ CR :3. ' 8(1, 241 /'.3d :J.J, : .JO. 

Whate\'Cr rulings m11y h;ivc come out of the December 4, 2013 
hcllring, the bonom line is whether or not Appellant received :i fair 
trial. Appellant fails to connect anyihing th:n might b:ivc tr:inspircd 
:it the hearing with 11ny ruling or decision 1hi11 a1Tected 1he trial itself. 
Similarly, with rei:ard lo perceived •omissions" in •'Oir dirt, the 
purpose of voir dir~ is to discover 1111y srounds to challenge 
prospective jurors for c:iusc, and to permit the intelligenl use of 
pcremplOf)' ch:illengcs. /11111111111 1. .'i1111t•. :!Ill I OJ.: CR r., •! i, :!.J.'l 

I'. Jc/ 11/8 IJ ::! i. Y ct Appellant raises no complaints whatsoever about 
!he selection of his jury. 

Page 12 of39 



2019 OK CR 22, *17; 450 P.3d 933, 0 944; 2019 Okla. Crim. App. LEXIS 22, ... 12 

1**944) unable to safely inspect the scene of the 
fire or collect evidence from it until a few days 
later. Rust submitted the physical evidence he 
collected to the OSBI in late February 2012. It was 
examined and analyzed in May 2012. Appellant's 
defense team hired its expert, David Smith, in late 
October 2012. Almost a year later, in September 
2013, Smith submitted a brief report outlining his 
own conclusions about Agent Rust's investigation. 
Smith lives in Arizona. His report was based on 
documents, photos, and other material provided by 
defense counsel. There is no indication that Smith 
visited the scene of the fire; he did not personally 
inspect or test any physical evidence, and never 
asked to do so. A copy of Smith's report is included 
in the trial record as Court's Exhibit 2. 

1*18] Smith was listed as a potential witness for 
the defense. Sometime during the first day of jury 
selection (December 9, 2013), defense counsel 
received word that Smith had suddenly developed a 
serious medical condition which prevented him 
from traveling. Counsel notified the trial court of 
the situation on the second day of jury 
selection 1***131 (December 10). and provided an 
update after the third and final day of jury selection 
(December 11 ), telling the court that Smith would 
be sending paperwork about his condition. The 
State began presenting its evidence on the morning 
of December 12. That same day, defense counsel 
filed a verified motion for mistrial based on Smith's 
unavailability. The court heard argument on the 
motion on December 13. The State rested its guilt­
stage case on the morning of December 14. 
Although defense counsel renewed his request for 
mistrial several times during the trial, documents 
substantiating Smith's condition were not received 
by the court until after the State had rested. 

1*19) In Proposition II, Appellant claims the trial 
court's refusal to grant a mistrial, or at least a 
continuance, until Smith (or a replacement) could 
be brought in, infringed on his Si.\1'1 ... i 111emlme111 

right to compulsory process. and ultimately 
violated his Filr'1 . lm1.mdmc111 right to present a 
complete defense. HN2~ We review a trial 

court's refusal to grant a mistrial or a continuance 
for an abuse of discretion . .lack.wm 1·. SW/I!. 2006 

OK CR 45. ~I II. 146 P.3d 11:/9. JI 56 (mistrial); 
Marslwll 1·. Sl<11e. JOJ{} OJ\ CR 8. ,1 44. 232 P.Jd 

467. 478 (continuance). 

1*20] As noted, after jury selection had begun, the 
defense team learned that Smith, its fire expert, had 
developed a serious medical 1***141 condition. 
and had been advised by his physician not to travel. 
Counsel appears to have communicated this 
development promptly to the prosecutor and the 
court. At the end of December I 0, the second day 
of jury selection, lead defense counsel made 
reference to prior off-the-record discussions about 
how to proceed, mentioned a "potential, maybe, 
solution° that the prosecutor had suggested, and 
said he would probably be filing a motion for 
mistrial if Smith was indeed unable to travel. On 
December 11, the final day of jury selection, 
defense counsel told the court that Smith was 
sending paperwork about his condition. The State 
began presenting its evidence on the morning of 
December 12. That same day, defense counsel filed 
a verified motion for mistrial based on Smith's 
unavailability, with a brief ttno travel" directive, 
presumably from Smith•s physician and scribbled 
on a prescription pad, attached to the motion. The 
court heard argument on the motion on December 
13, but declined to take any action without 
additional infonnation. The State rested its guilt­
stage case on the morning of December 14. 
Although defense counsel renewed his request for 
mistrial several times during the trial, 1***15] 
documents substantiating Smith's condition were 
not received by the court until after the State had 
rested on December 14. The court commented that 
a brief continuance might have been possible, but 
defense counsel could never say how much 
additional time was needed before Smith could 
appear or a replacement expert could be obtained. 

1"211 From this record we conclude the following: 
(1) a continuance was at least considered, initially, 
as a possible remedy to the situation, and the 
prosecutor suggested some other alternative, 
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possibly testifying by video; (2) defense counsel 
never fonnally requested a continuance; and (3) 
instead of fonnally requesting a continuance, or 
seeking alternative means of securing Smithts 
testimony without interrupting or delaying the 
1**945) trial, defense counsel took a different tack 

and moved for a mistrial, on the theory that 
Appellant had a constitutional right to demand the 
physical presence of his witnesses. 

1*22} llN3[~ The Crmmulsun· Pmcc.'.\' Clamc• 
o[ 1/te Sir1'1 .·lmem/111e11r. in conjunction with the 
Due Pm'l''\ C/ame u/J/Je F1/ih .·lme11clme111, have 
been interpreted to guarantee the accused a fair 
opportunity to secure and present relevant 
evidence. States may not enact laws or enforce 
rules that arbitrarily and unfairly prevent the 
accused from presenting relevant 
evidence. (***161 See generally WCl\'1111i:1011 1·. 

Tew-;. 388 U.S /./. 87 S.Cr. JYJO. 18 LEd.2cl 1019 
( 1967) (invalidating state evidence rule declaring 
accomplices to be 11incompetent11 as witnesses 
unless they were testifying for the prosecution or 
had been acquitted); Cm11e 1°. F\,•1111nh . ./76 U.S. 
683, MO. 106 S.CI. 21.Jl. 1146. 90 L.Ecl.2cl o3o 

( 1986) (invalidating state rule barring defendant 
from presenting evidence to jury relevant to the 
voluntariness of his confession). 

1*23J States may, however, enforce reasonable 
rules of procedure that apply to both parties. For 
example, in Tcn·/or '" l/Ji11oi., . ./84 U.S . ./()0. 108 

S.Cr. 646. 98 l.£cl.ld 7lJ8 (f 988J, the trial court 
barred the defendant from presenting a material 
witness as a sanction for failing to disclose that 
witness to the prosecution during pretrial discovery. 
The Court began by noting that, unlike other Si\1'1 
A111e11d111eJTt rights (such as the right to confront 
one's accusers), the Co111p11/s01,. Proce.,:\· Clu1t.H' "is 
dependent entirely upon the defendant's initiative11

; 

the decision whether to invoke that right ''rests 
solely with the defendant." 48../ U.S. al 4 /0. 108 
S.CI. al 653. The Court then observed that our 
adversary system could not function without rules 
of procedure that "govern the orderly presentation 
of facts and arguments to provide each party with a 

fair opportunity to assemble and submit evidence to 
contradict or explain the opponent's case." /cl. al 

41 I. 108 S.CI. at 654. Ultimately, the Court 
concluded that barring Taylor's defense witness 
was an acceptable sanction I*** 17) under the 
circumstances, because the Si.r1'1 lmemlmem "docs 
not confer the right to present testimony free from 
the legitimate demands of the adversarial system." 
Id at .:/J~-13. 108 S.Ct. a1 655 (quoting U1111l'cl 
Stal<!\ , .. J\'ub/e,. 41 l U.S. J ~ 5. 2./ I. 95 S 0. 21 rin. 
2171 . ./5 L.Cd.2d 141 rl!J75)). 

(*24) As H \'.J('i°] Appellant claims the trial 
court's refusal to accommodate his situation to his 
satisfaction was tantamount to denying him the 
right to present n defense, he must show ( 1) that the 
court prevented him from obtaining or presenting 
evidence; (2) that the court's action was arbitrary or 
disproportionate to any legitimate evidentiary or 
procedural purpose; and (3) that the excluded 
evidence '\vould have been relevant and material, 
and ... vital to the defense." ll"mltim.:1t111. 388 U.S. 
01 !fJ. 87 S Ct. a t 1922. The requirement of 
materiality is in keeping with other situations where 
a defendant has been denied access to evidence, 
whether by loss, destruction, or concealment by the 
prosecution. See U11i1ed S1e1fl'-' 1·. l'all'11=11du­
B£:nwl . .J58 U.S. 858. 867-69. /02 S.Ct. 3./40. 
3446-47. 73L.Ed.2clI193 r I 982). 

(*25} As to the first two Washington criteria, 
Appellant was not barred from presenting Smith's 
testimony as punishment for failing to follow 
procedure, or as a result of some arbitrary rule. 
f/N5['i'] A defendant's right to present a defense is 
not unlimited; it is subject to reasonable 
restrictions. United Slates"· Sd1efkr. 513 U.S. 303. 
308. /ISS.Cr.1261, 1264. l40L.Ed.2d4/3tl998) . 
Defense counsel did not fonnally request a 
continuance, but if he had, it would properly have 
been (***18) denied on the infonnation provided 
to the court at the time. If a continuance is 
requested due to an absent witness, the proponent 
must infonn the court of "the probability of 
procuring [the absent witness's] testimony within a 
reasonable time, and what facts [counsel] believes 
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the witness will prove, and that he believes them to 
be true." 12 O.S.101 I. ~· 668. Defense counsel did 
none of these things. 

1*261 Nor did defense counsel make a record of 
any alternative remedies that were considered, such 
as having Smith testify remotely, and why no 
alternative to Smith's physical presence was 
feasible. See e.g. flw·r1\· 1. Stall!. 2004 OK CR I. •1 
Jn 11.3. 8./ l' . .3cl 731, 740 11.3 (live video testimony 
employed in capital murder trial where, ten days 
into the 1**946) trial, terrorist attacks shut down 
air travel nationwide). The record shows that 
defense counsel had considered the possibility of 
having Smith testify by video, but instead took the 
position that the right to compulsory process 
included the absolute right to insist upon in-person 
testimony from any witness considered important to 
the defense. There simply is no authority for such a 
position.6 

6 As early as December 11. defense counsel look the position th:it 
11i;n:cini; to anything less th:in Smi1h's physiclll presence on lhe 
witness stand would be strategicallJ• unwise. And the motion for 
mistrilll stated, in rclcv11nt p:irt: 

The defendant is not in the position to wilive the rii:ht to 
compulsory process with regard to the critical fire c11usiltion 
expcrt. ( .. •t9) ... Dcfcntbnt's right to have a favorable expcn 
witness testify i11·cn11rt would be w:iived ir he :icquicsccd ... . 
Under the case !ilw counsel h:is been able 10 find, ir a [sic] 
telecommunications testimony was agri:ed to, it would require: 
the dcrcndan1 10 w:iive his right to compulsory process which 
again he is not in ;i position 10 do. (Emphasis in originill) ... 

We become incITcc1ivc if required 10 m:ikc the: decision not to 
c11ll the expert at all, or ll'e are ine.ffectfrc for wafri11g 
1lefa11tla111's rig/rt to r:omp11/sol)• process wlliclr is {tire] result of 
agreeing to 1cle0 1cstimo11y :is opposed to the importllnee 11nd 
necessity of the physic:d presence of the c."<pert witness 
(Emphasis added) 

At the December 13 conference, counsel rercrred to Harris 1•. State 
(cited above). Counsel re.id Harris 11S holding that he would be 
actins dc:ftcienlly if he agreed to bllve Smith testify remo1ely. But 
tllllt is not wh:u Harris holds. In Ha"is, the def1.-nd1111t claimed he 
WllS denied his right 10 :in imparti41 jury. and one undi51racted from 
rn1tional events, when the trial coun refused 10 decl:irc a mistriill (or 
:II lc:asl :idjoum for II few dilys) arter 1he September 11 terrorist 
111taeks intc:nuplcd the proccalini;s. We rcjccled thal cl:iim. In 
passing. Harris cl11imed he was "forced" to 11ecept rcmole testimony 
of lwo defense witnesses - but he never claimed he wDS denied his 

(*27) In our view, this is a case of unfortunate 
timing, with defense counsel ultimately unwilling 
to try to mitigate his predicament. By the time the 
trial court received the barest details of Smith's 
situation, the State's case-in-chief was well under 
way. Defense counsel could not offer even a ball­
park estimate of when the defense could be ready. 
In its extended colloquy with defense counsel on 
December 13, the trial court discussed relevant case 
law, and expressed considerable 
understanding 1***20) of the medical condition 
that Smith had apparently experienced. As for 
Smith's situation, all the court had before it was a 
doctor's note, scribbled on a prescription pad, 
advising Smith not to travel. The court took no 
action at that time, but invited counsel to bring 
more information as he received it. By the end of 
that same day, the State's guilt-stage case was 
almost complete. By the time the court received 
detailed information about Smith's status on 
December 14, the State had already rested its case. 

(*28) Even if Appellant could show that the trial 
court's refusal to abort or pause the trial was 
unreasonable and disproportionate, he must still 
show that he was denied the right to present 
information material to his defense, and a 
reasonable likelihood that such information, if 
presented, would have affected the jury's verdict. 
ll'oxhim;tcm, 388 U.S. at /ti. 8i S.O. al /9:"2 ; 
l'ah•11:11L'lt1-B<!mal. 458 U.S. ot 873-7./. {(}] S.Ct at 
3./50. Appellant was not denied a fair opportunity 
to use Smith's contribution to this case. Smith's 
written report summarizes the work he had done 
and the conclusions he had drawn. As we have 
noted, Smith never visited the scene or sought to 
inspect any physical evidence. He had no palpable 
alternative explanation for how the fire started. His 
only task was to (***21) critique the methods used 
and opinions reached by the State's investigator, 
Agent Rust. After reviewing the materials provided 

consticu1iolllll righl to confront witnesses or present ii defense. Harris 
does not hold thllt a defendant has on unqll'11ilicd rii:ftt lo personal 
ilttcndilnce of wi1nesses unless he agrees to relinquish it The fDct 
tllllt Harris :igrced 10 rcmo1c testimony docs not me:in thal his case 
would have been reversed ifhc hlld objected. 
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to him, Smith's conclusions were that Rust (I) 
failed to follow "recognized practices and 
methodologies," resulting in opinions that were 
"scientifically flawed"; (2) failed to establish a 
"competent ignition source" or "ignition scenario"; 
and (3) failed to fonnulate or test alternative 
hypotheses for how the fire started. 

1*29) The gist of Smith's two-page report is that 
Rust was unable to independently establish, 
through physical evidence (i.e., ignoring what 
eyewitnesses told him), a probable scenario for how 
and where the fire began. 1**947) Where the fire 
began was never in dispute; according to Appellant 
and others in the house at the time, it began in his 
bedroom. How the fire began -- and more precisely, 
how Ferguson came to be covered in gasoline -
was disputed, but the various possibilities 
Appellant suggested to police were just that: 
possibilities. They were inconsistent with what 
Ferguson said, they were inconsistent with what 
Appellant had told Melvin Bannister, and they were 
inconsistent with one another. Appellant finally 
told Detective Saulsberry he had 1***22) "no idea" 
how the fire started. As for the gasoline, Appellant 
initially told Saulsbeny that Ferguson must have 
accidentally knocked the bottle off the table; later, 
he claimed that Ferguson (inexplicably) smashed 
the bottle into the flames on purpose. 

(*301 While it may generally be the task of the 
Fire Marshal to investigate the cause of a fire with 
unknown or suspicious origin, Smith's expert 
opinion seems to fault Rust for paying attention to 
important primary evidence: the statements of 
Appellant and Ferguson, the only eyewitnesses to 
the fire's beginnings. Agent Rust focused on 
collecting the remains of the Crown Royal bottle 
because Appellant told Rust (and others) that he 
kept that bottle, full of gasoline, in his room, and 
because Appellant himself said the gasoline played 
a part in the fire. Appellant's strategy was to claim 
that the fire might have been an accident - that it 
might have been caused by, say, a spark from an 
overloaded electrical outlet -- and that Agent Rust 
failed to eliminate those kinds of possibilities. 

Defense counsel took Rust to task for his methods 
and opinions. Appellant himself notes that trial 
counsel's cross-examination of Rust was 
"extensive." Counsel (***23) flatly told Rust, "I'm 
trying to show this jury that you did a poor 
investigation." 

f*JIJ Appellant has not shown this Court that 
Smith himself could have been any more effective 
in disputing Rust's theory. Rust never denied that 
an electrical spark can cause a fire; he simply had 
no evidence on which to rest such a theory in this 
case. If Smith had attended the trial, defense 
counsel still would have cross-examined Rust, in 
presumably the same manner, in the State's case-in­
chief. Smith's testimony would have been 
somewhat cumulative, since he had conducted no 
tests or examinations, and had no specific, 
evidence-based alternative theories of his own. The 
State obligated itself to proving that Appellant 
intentionally set fire to Ferguson. The foundation of 
its theory consisted of the things Appellant and 
Ferguson said immediately after the fire. The State 
was only required to dispel any reasonable doubt 
about its theory; it was not required to disprove all 
other conceivable ones.7 

(*32) Appellant claims the record is "replete" with 

' The possibility of 11n uccidc:nUll igni1ion source is one thing, but 
ho\\ fc:rguion ended up with i:asolinc: 1111 over her body is ll dirTcn:nl 
matter entirely. One cun spc:culolc: :1bou1 c:lcclric:al sparks or upended 
candles, but one mwt s1ill ac:c:oun1 ror the shallc:rc:d bonlc of Gl)SOhne 
and the kinds of bums Ferguson exhibited and the stalemcnlS she 
ITllldc The State belie\ ed Appcll:inl in1cn1ionally c:iuscd both events 
Smith's rcpon acknowlc:dgcs the indisput:iblc - the "flrob:iblc 
presence of an ignilable liquid" - and agrees that how the liquid got 
oo Ferguson is an impon:inl question. But even Smilh is un:iblc to 
offer a cogcn1 :ihcm:1ti\'C theory in lhis regoird. He declares lhDl 
"cogni1ive tcstine 10 identify ullcmoite sources of ignition energy and 
lo scientifically c:limimlle those other potcnli:il sourtes hlls not been 
accomplished," Bue as for us we can lell from Smith's introductory 
methodology, "cognilive" 1estina (as opposed 10 "expcrimcnt:il" 
cesiing) simply meoin' thinking abouc chc: possibilities. Smilh's report 
concludes that "the origin or o fire muse be cstDblishcd bcrorc a cause 
can be opined.'' He foults Agent Rust for noc more thoroughly 
invcsciaa1in: possible ignition sources besides Appelllln1's cigurcttc 
lighter, But again, Smith's conclusion is simply that Rust didn't 
consider ahemacivc sc:cnarios; Smith never ofTcn:d :iny of his own, 
including how Fer~son c11mc to be covered in gasoline. 
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instances where Smith's expert testimony would 
have been material and favorable, but he does not 
give any examples. We find Smith's role to be 
somewhat attenuated. He 1***241 was not an 
eyewitness to the events giving rise to the charge, 
nor was he offered as a crucial witness in 
mitigation of sentence. He could not provide expert 
guidance as to Appellant's capacity to understand 
the nature and consequences of his acts. CJ 
Fredffick 1·. Stolt!. /99j 01\ CR 4-1. ~1•1 16. 25-16. 
901 P. 2cl /OCJ 1. I 095-96, 1098 (capital defendant, 
whose sanity was in question, was denied a fair trial 
when court refused to grant a continuance to allow 
a psychiatrist lo examine 1**9481 him); 
Cncltlim.:1011 1·. St"IL.'- .:oor, Of\ CR 3-/. •'•, 81-S.:. !){J. 

1-11 !'.Jc/ -13 7. ./58. .J6fl (capital defendant was 
denied a fair trial by exclusion of his mother's 
video-taped testimony from the sentencing phase of 
trial).1 Rather, Smith's opinions only tangentially 
relate to Appellant's guilt or innocence, because 
they merely call into question the thoroughness of 

I Appellant's citation to u,,,,, .. 1 ,\1,11,'\ 1· ,,., .. , , ,\:s I lei /.Jfi.\ I /1):1: 

Cir. I rJSi 1 is ins1ruc1ivc, the facts in 1hnt case differ markedly from 
those here. West was ch:u~ed wi1h murdering :inother man during 11 
motorcycle-gang brawl Tc:slimony varied on who was involved in 
the fr:ic:as, and who lhrew the fa1<1l blow to the victim's sl;ull. / / 111 

/.J(IS.fit), On the second d;iy of trinl. West ;asked for ;i one-d;iy 
continuance to obtoin the ottendancc of 11nothcr cyewilncss who was 
expeclcd to testify th11t West dtd not hit chc victim. Id .11 I .Jf1'J. The 
witness h;id been or;illy advised 10 oprc3r January 14 (1he day lh.ll 
the conttnuancc was requested), but his subpoc:n.a statc:d Janu:iry IS. 
Id The appc:lface court concluded lh:ll 1hc: trial court abused its 
d1scrc1ion in refusing to griinl a one·d:iy continu:mce und1."1' the 
circumst:inccs; the confusion WllS undc:rstondoblc, the requested 
delay was very brief. and the eyewitness testimony at issue w;is 
critic11l to the defense. Id 111 / .Jitl.i I. 

Appellant also refers us to Ha~ .. , I ', S111t1'. /'I ii m.: C"R .111.J. 5i1 

P ~" ;p. But :igoin, the fund;imcntul unfllimcss in rcf"usins to y.int 
a conlinwince in t!mt case is 11pp:mmt. First, the Sllllc wns gr.anted a 
conlinu;mce to secure ils own wilncsses. Defense counsel relc:iscd 
his witnesses until the next trial selling. The: judge's continuance \~ 
countermanded by his superior. and the trial dale was moved up 
several weeks. Defense counsel could not cont11ct his witnesses in 
time for the court's advanced trial d;ue, and 1hus was unable 10 
present them 111 trial. This Court found an abuse or discretion because 
lhe missing witnesses would have provided key testimony 
establishing n compleie defonsc to 1hc char;c. /97i m: CR W.J •,•· 
5·9, 5i1P.~,/01 :3.J-.1,i. 

investigator Rust whose greatest error was failing 
to look through the charred remains of the fire 
scene for ways to bolster theories that not even 
Appellant could credibly offer. We conclude that 
the material aspects of Smith's proffered expert 
opinion were sufficiently presented through the 
cross-examination of Agent Rust. 

1*331 HN6[i"] An abuse of discretion is an 
unreasonabJe, unconscionable and arbitrary action 
taken without proper consideration of the facts and 
law pertaining to the matter submitted. Cm!sla­
Rodrit:m•z ,._ Swtc.!. 1010 OK CR 23. ~f 19. 141 P.3d 
214. 115. HNi[~ A defendant's 1***251 right to 
present evidence is one of the core guarantees of 
due process. But given Appellant's apparent refusal 
to seriously consider viable alternatives {such as 
remote testimony), and his inability to estimate how 
much additional time was needed, we cannot say 
the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to 
abort or indefinitely pause a trial that was already 
well under way.9 The record shows the trial court 
fairly and thoughtfully considered the situation as it 
developed. Furthermore, we do not believe Smith's 
absence prevented defense counsel from using his 
report to its fullest practical value. Appellant was 
not denied the right to present a defense to the 
crime; rather, through unfortunate circumstances 
and his own tactical decisions, he was unable to use 
impeachment evidence in a way that he now 
considers optimal. Considering the limited utility of 
Smith's critique, and the strong evidence of 
Appellant's guilt, we find no reasonable probability 
that Smith's presence would have affected the 
outcome of the trial. I 'ale11=11ela-Bt•mal. -158 U.S. 
"' 873-7./. J()J S.Ct. at 3./50. Proposition II is 
denied. 

9 Appcllont also claims two collateral results or the allcicd Due 
Pro~cu violation: first, that defense counsel was prevented from 
providing effcccive anistance, and second, that the court's ruling had 
a "chilling effect" on Appclh1nt's decision nboul whether 10 testify. 
Appellant docs not elaborate on these claims or cite any authority to 
support thc:m. Because we find the coun's ruling was wilhin its 
discretion, we need noc consider these arguments funhcr. \Ve do, 
however, consider the reasonableness of dc:fonsc counsel's str.ucgy in 
Proposition XIV. 
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(*34) In Proposition III, Appellant claims he was 
denied due process because the State failed to 
preserve certain physical evidence. HN8['i'] The 
Due Prnc:t!ss C/auw of the Fow 1ee11t/J Ame11d111e111 

obligates [***261 the State to preserve evidence 
that might be expected to play a significant role in a 
suspect's defense. Co/i/omw 1·. Trrm1bc·11a. 467 U.S. 
479 . ..J88-8Y. !1>4 S.Ct. 2518. 1534. 81 l.Ed1d ..J/3 
(! 98./ ). This obligation is not triggered unless the 
exculpatory value of the evidence is apparent 
before its destruction, and the evidence is such that 
the defendant would be unable to obtain 
comparable evidence by other reasonably available 
means. Id. When the [**949) exculpatory value of 
the evidence is not apparent, 11 less stringent test 
applies. If the State failed to preserve evidence that 
can only be called polenlial(v useful to the defense, 
then no relief is warranted unless the defendant can 
show bad faith on the State's part. . ln:mw 1•. 

>'u1111g/1/uod. .J88 U.S. 5 I. 58. I 09 S. Cl. 333. 33 7. 
/(}~ L.Ed2d ]SI tl'J88J; C11''''/11-Rodri!!llL':. _,()/() 
OK CR ~3. '! lO. l../ I f' 3d at 225. 

1*35) As noted, Agent Rust collected physical 
evidence from the scene, as well as the clothing 
Appellant was wearing and the lighter he was 
carrying when he was arrested. Rust sent those 
items (except the lighter) to the Oklahoma State 
Bureau of Investigation for examination, which 
found traces of gnsoline, or components of 
gasoline, on them. The OSBI analysis took place in 
May 2012. The evidence was then returned to 
Leflore County authorities. However, at some 
point after testing, the evidence was lost. •0 

1*36) We first consider whether this evidence had 
any apparent exculpatory [***27) value. The 
simple answer is that, if the evidence had had any 
tendency to substantiate any part of the defense 
theory, or contradict the State1s theory, then defense 
counsel would have at least asked to inspect it. 
Instead, counsel stipulated that photographs of the 
evidence were sufficient for the jury's purpose. 

18Wc rem11nded the C11Se 10 detennine if this evidence could be 
found, but il could not 

Similarly, if the prosecutor had felt this evidence 
materially advanced the State's theory, she 
presumably would have introduced it. In reality, 
there was nothing particularly probative about the 
physical evidence for either party, as it only tended 
to corroborate what was never in dispute: that 
Appellant owned a cigarette lighter, that he had a 
Crown Royal bottle full of gasoline in his bedroom, 
and that the gasoline played some part in the fire 
that killed Ferguson. The OSBl's findings were 
entirely consistent with these facts and, in the end, 
no surprise to anyone. Indeed, Appellant does not 
take issue with those findings. We fail to see any 
exculpatory value in this evidence which would 
have been readily apparent before it went missing. 
Appellant offers no theory of how any of this 
evidence might have been parlayed to his 
advantage with additional examination or 
testing. (***28) Nor does he allege any bad foith 
on the part of the State in allowing this evidence to 
be lost or destroyed, which is fatal to any claim that 
the evidence was at least potentially useful to the 
defense.11 

[*371 Once again, we stress that neither 
Appellant's defense lawyers nor his expert ever 
asked to inspect any of this evidence before trial. 12 

Given the totality of the evidence presented, we can 
understand why: there was nothing to be gained 
from it 1/.\'9['i'J Due process docs not impose "an 

11 Appellant relics heavily on po:s1-lioc: speculation 10 argue thal this 
c~ idcncc has exculpatory value. He claims that 11 de(cnse investigator 
found ndditionol pieces of 11 Crown Roy:il bottle, Ill wh:st rcmmins or 
the fire-gutted home, in Aui:ust 2015 - over three ye:srs after the 
fire. We address this new evidence below, in our discussion or 
Appellant's Motion for New Trial. Appc:Jbnt OlllY cl:sim 1hn1 new 
c\idencc: is somehow "exculpatory," but our concern here is whether 
the evidence thlll was in the State's possession hlld exculpatory value 
\\hich WilS apparent nt 1hc: time the evidence was lost. If it did not, 
then Appellant must demonstrate b:id faith in its loss. 

I! The only piece of physic:sl evidence th111 appears to h11vc been 
admiued as on exhibit 111 trial is Appell:snt's lighter (State's Exhibit 
9), although only 11 photograph of the lighter is included in the appc:il 
record. Ironicolly, defense counsel (who conceded having h:id 1111 

opportunity to inspect the lighter before trial) actually objected to 
11dn1ission or lhe lighter, 11ri:uing !hilt it may h11vc been t11mpcrcd 
with or contiminolcd since its confiscation. Sec Proposition VIII 
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undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to 
preserve all material that might be of conceivable 
evidentiary significance in a particular 
prosecution." }'or1111:blood. 488 U.S. al 58. /09 
S. Ct. at 33 7. Appellant has failed to show either (I) 
that the Stnte pennitted the toss or destruction of 
physical evidence whose exculpatory value was 
apparent at the time, or (2) that the State acted in 
bad faith in pennitting the loss or destruction of 
physical evidence with even potential value to the 
defense. Proposition Ill is denied. 

(*38] In Proposition IV, Appellant claims he was 
denied a fair trial by the State's failure to disclose 
evidence which could have impeached the 
credibility of 1**950] Agent Rust, the State fire 
investigator who collected evidence 1*"*29) and 
transmitted it to the OSBI. tQ1Q['i'] Due process 
requires the State to disclose evidence favorable to 
an accused, including evidence that would impeach 
the credibility of the State's witnesses or the 
probative force of its physical evidence. Brwlr ' " 
\Janla11d 373 U.S. 83, 87. 83 S.Ct. /JCJ./. 11 96. /() 
L.Ed.!d :15 t/9fi3J ; U11ih•d Swh'.' 1·. IJat:ler . .:/73 
U.S. 6(J7, 67i. /05 S.Ct. 3375, 3381. 87 L.Edld 
481 fl Y85J ; Brnmleu 1·. S!clf(.:, 2018 o;...· CR I CJ. ~1 

]8. 411 P.3d 788 7Y7. To establish a Brady 
violation, n defendant need not show that the State 
intentionally withheld such infonnntion. He must, 
however, show that the evidence had exculpatory or 
impeachment value, and that it was material, such 
that there is a reasonable probability that its 
omission affected the outcome of the proceeding. 
Id. The question is whether, absent the non­
disclosed infonnation, the defendant received a fair 
trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence. Id. 

1*39] Because Brady claims, by definition, 
involve infonnation that was not timely disclosed 
to the defense, they typically do not arise until 
sometime after trial. We remanded this case during 
the pendency of the appeal to resolve issues 
concerning the completeness of the record and the 
availability of physical evidence (see Proposition 
lll). Infonnation related to the present claim was 
presented at some of those hearings. Thus, the 

record before us already contains some of the 
factual 1***30] basis for Appellant's Brady claim. 
Additional affidavits are included in a 
supplementary filing pursuant to Rule 3.11 (A), 
Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, 
Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2019), which provides: 

After the Petition in Error has been timely filed 
in this Court, and upon notice from either party 
or upon this Court's own motion, the majority 
of the Court may, within its discretion, direct a 
supplementation of the record, when necessary, 
for a detennination of any issue; or, when 
necessary, may direct the trial court to conduct 
an evidentiary hearing on the issue. 

(*401 While seldom used, this provision seems 
well-tailored to the situation before us, where the 
supplementary materials inform and offer a more 
complete understanding of matters that were 
developed during the pendency of the appeal, and 
which themselves are part of the appeal record. 
Pursuant to Rule 3.1 l(A), we GRANT Appellant's 
request to consider investigators' affidavits and 
materials attached to them in conjunction with the 
Brady claim that arose during the post-trial remand 
hearings. Coddi11i:to11 r. State. 20 I I 01\ CR Ii. •1 
11. 25./ f'.3c/68./. 698. 

1*41) The information at issue here falls into three 
categories: ( l) an investigation into Rust's job 
perfonnance, conducted by the Oklahoma State 
Fire Marshal's Office, several years before this 
case 1***311 and unrelated to it; (2) the 
prosecutor's own interactions with Rust in the past; 
and (3) other allegations of job-related misconduct 
which did not come to light until after the trial. 

1*421 We may easily dispense with the last 
allegation, because its factual basis simply did not 
exist at the time of trial. Appellant could not have 
impeached Rust's credibility with events that had 
not yet happened. Appellant concedes that the 
"bulk" of his concerns with Agent Rust's credibility 
relate to his investigation of this case, and he does 
not claim that the prosecutor has withheld any 
information on that subject. Since those allegations 
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arose, the prosecutor has been completely 
cooperative and forthcoming in transmitting 
information to Appellant's defense team.13 

f*43J As for the remaining matters, we question 
whether Brady extends to a prosecutor's personal 
opinion about a particular officer's work habits, 
punctuality, or similar issues. We also question 
whether Brady requires prosecutors to trawl for 
impeachment ammunition (including confidential 
personnel information) about every agent, from any 
ann of law enforcement, who had any involvement 
in 1**951) a particular investigation. Given the 
posture of the case, 1***321 we need not explore 
those questions here. The scope of the prosecutor's 
obligations arc moot, because Appellant is not 
seeking potential Bralfr material; he already has the 
material. Regardless of the prosecutor's obligations 
or good faith, no Brady claim can succeed unless 
there is a reasonable probability that the evidence in 
question would have affected the outcome of the 
proceeding. 

1*44) The remammg allegations concern Rust's 
training and other alleged personnel issues which 
occurred before this prosecution. We stress that 
these allegations do not involve claims that Rust 
ever destroyed, hid, or tampered with any evidence, 
in this investigation or in any other. ln essence, the 
evidence that developed after trial suggested that 
Rust had not always followed office policy in his 
investigations, and that the prosecutor herself had 
unspecified "issues" with Rust while she briefly 
supervised him years before. I" We believe any 

u In n nutshell, Appcl111n1 alleges 1hat 111 some point aficr this trial, 
Agent Rust amended his own records concerning whether, and when, 
he received the physical evidence from lhc 0581 after testing, 
evidence which wos returned somclime in May 2012. Appcllan1 docs 
not challc:nge the in1earicy of the testing itself; he only compliiins 
tlult physicnl evidcm;c relevnnt to this cnsc wns subs~uently lost or 
destroyed by LeFlore County authorities. 

14 According to testimony :111he December 2015 evidenliory hearing. 
Agent Rust hod been reprimanded by his employer in 2009 for lu 
invcstig.uion in onolhcr cosc. But this testimony also showed Rust 
had inves1ig1ted around 900 other lin:s without any complaints about 
his perfonnance. In ony event, Rust was required 10 undergo 
addition:il 1rainin1J. This wns some three years before his 

impeachment value in Agent Rust's general work 
habits bears little relevance to this case. Appellant 
claims Rust's credibility was essential -- that the 
State could not have made its case without him. We 
disagree. The State's case was built upon the 
statements of the 1***331 victim immediately after 
the fire, and Appellant's own suspicious conduct 
and statements. Rust's credibility per se was not 
central to the State's case, because Rust's 
participation was limited to collecting evidence 
from Appellant and the fire scene, and - as we 
observed in Proposition Ill - the probative value of 
that evidence was marginal as well. Furthermore, 
Rust's perceived lapses in this case were made 
apparent to the jury. Defense counsel chastised 
Rust on cross-examination for not considering 
alternative theories of how the fire started. The 
OSBI criminalist who tested the materials Rust 
submitted to him testified that Rust's preservation 
of Appellant's clothing was "probably one of the 
worst" evidence-collection jobs he had seen.15 

pnnic1pation in this case. In :1dd1tion. Appcll:mt points to the 
prosccutor•s own testimony lit the Slime hc:;iring, whcce she: described 
h;iving "issues" with Rust when she brieOy supervised him some 
time before 2009. Exactly wh:it those issues were is not fully 
developed. 

" See Umtcd _,,,,k~ '· l1111 '"'I 810 r . .!d 103! 17J/r (11 !ll/fi1. 

Lawson was convicted or robbing 11 post office. He left his cell 
phone and fingCf)lrints nt the scene. On 11ppcal. Lawson claimi:d the 
i:ovemment wuhheld evidence lh:it the: dctcc1ive who lifted the 
fingerprints h:ad a record or disciplin:iry actions in his pcTSonncl file. 
and 1h111 this infonn:uion affected the delectivc:'s credibility. The 
Seventh Circuil concluded thal the infommtion was not matcri:il 
under BruJ_1·. It noted that the detective's role in the case w11s simply 
lo gather evidence, ond thllt lhc idencilicotion or lhe fingerprints llS 

beloni:ini: 10 the dcfendonl wu made by someone else. Id 111 111./.I· 

:!.:!.. ApJ!Cllant's reliance on I i111i:l111 1 U11111·cl S1.111 f, 1>.l 1.Jd I !3 ; 
1D.C. !O/J1, is misplaced for simil11r rCllsons. In l'u11glin, o 
prosecution stemming from 11 prison 455llult, the coun found 1h1c 
undisclosed infonn:ition affecting 11 prison guard's credibility was nol 
material as 10 one: defendant, bccllusc the only relevant infonn:uion 
th11t thi: guard provided (idcntificotion of lhe defendant llS being 
present during 1hc 11Ssaul1) w11s admitted by Vaui:;hn in a post.trial 
affidavit. 1'11111:/111, l)J ,1.Jd ,,, I !Mi. Here, Appellant S(ipuloted 1h:1t 
the physic11I evidence collected by Agent Rust need not be 
introduced 111 trial. and he had no challenge 10 the OSBl's 1cs1 results. 
Appellant also cites .\ '111..r t. R1 '"'· i 11 r .Id WS c1J1/1 Ci1·. !fl 131, but 
that case is r~dily distinauishoble. Milke was convicted and 
sentenced to death for toking pan in the murder of her young son. No 
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1*451 AppeJlant does not claim any of the 
evidence Rust collected was tampered with or 
planted. He does not claim that his statements to 
Rust were coerced or fabricated. As we have noted, 
the fact that Appellant kept a liquor bottle full of 
gasoline in his bedroom, and that gasoline played a 
part in the fire that killed Ferguson, was never in 
dispute. Contrary to Appellant's claim, Rust did not 
1**952) "rush to judgment" by focusing on and 

retrieving 1***34) pieces of the hquor bottle from 
the scene; his focus was guided by Appellant's own 
account of what happened. The only question at 
trial was whether Appellant intentionally set 
Ferguson ablaze. Rust never claimed any ability to 
"prove" that contention. 

(*46) //:\ l I[~ In a Brady analysis, evidence is 
material only if there is a reasonable probability 
that, had the evidence been timely disclosed to the 
defense, the result of the proceeding would have 
been different. A "reasonable probability .. is one 
"sufficient to undennine confidence in the 
outcome." Brn:f,•1·. 4 7 3 US. ar 682. 105 S. Cr. ,,, 
3383. Put another wny, evidence is material only if 
it could "reasonably be taken to put the whole case 
in such a different light as to undenninc confidence 
in the verdict. 11 Ca11e 1·. Be!ll. 55fi US . ././9 . ./70. /2Y 
S.Cr. 11 fi9. 1783. 173 L.£d.2d 70/ t2009) (quoting 
A."1•/,.!\ 1·. IJ'hi!ler. 514 U.S. .J/9 . ./35. 115 S.C!. 
1555, 1566. 131 L.Ecl.2d.JfJ011995).Evidencewith 
only marginal, incremental, or cumulative 
impeachment value will rarely meet this standard. 
Douglar 1•. 1Vork111a11. 560 F.3d 1156. 1173 f/Oth 
Ctr. 2009); United State.\ 1·. De11·. 9YO F.2d J 330. 
1336. 301 U.S. App. D.C. 60 tD.C.Cir. /993J . The 
State's case did not rest on Agent Rust's credibility. 
It did not even restt to any material degreet on the 

wi1nesses or physic11I evidence directly linked her 10 1he crime; 
rather, the case w11s (in the Ninth Circuit's words} a "swc::iring 
contest" between Milke 11nd n police detective, who cl11imed Milke 
confessed the crime to him. The de1ec1ivc's crcd1bihry w11s cle11rly 
key 10 the slate's case - yet neither the defense nor the jury knew 
about lhe detective's "loni: history of lying undt!r o:ith and other 
misconduct~ Id "' /lllJll. O/. Under those circumst:inccs, the Ninth 
Circuit understand:ibly round the Slilte's failure to disclose the 
detective's track record 10 be m:11cri11I to the outcome of the trial. t.1 
"' llll.'\-/1), -

evidence he collected. Appellant has not 
demonstrated a reasonable probability that any of 
the proffered infonnation concerning Agent Rust 
would have affected the outcome of the trial. 
Proposition IV is denied. 

CLAIMS OF TRIAL ERROR 

A. Other crimes evidence 1***351 

1*47) In Proposition V, Appellant complains that 
three witnesses were allowed to relate evidence of 
other threats and intimidating acts he committed 
against Ferguson preceding her death. The evidence 
at issue consisted of the following: (I) testimony 
that Ferguson once sought a protective order to 
keep Appellant away from her; (2) testimony that 
shortly before the homicide, Appellant told a 
neighbor to "stop helping11 Ferguson; and (3) 
testimony from Ferguson's friend, Jenny Turner, 
that when Ferguson Jived with her in early 2012, 
Appellant drove by their home, waved a gun out of 
the car window and said, "I wanted ya'll to see my 
new friend." According to Turner, Appellant also 
tried to run over Ferguson and once warned her, "l 
will kill you before I see you happy in Talihina." 
Turner said that Ferguson was so afraid of 
Appellant that she would sleep with a knife under 
her pillow. The trial court held a hearing on the 
admission of this evidence, and //.\'I 2['i"] we 
review its ruling for an abuse of discretion. C11e.~1"­

Roclril!11e:. 10/1) OK CR 23. ~I 15. 141 P.3d at 126. 

1*481 HN/3["i'J Oklahoma's Evidence Code bars 
evidence of "other crimest wrongst or acts" offered 
only to show the defendant acted in conformity 
therewith. P O.S.1011. ~ 140./tBJ. Appellant 
points out that applying for a protective (***36) 
order is not, itself, evidence of any crime that might 
have been committed by the target of the order, and 
that asking his neighbor to "stop helping11 Ferguson 
does not amount to a crime or bad act as 
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contemplated by f 240./(BJ.16 We agree, but those 
arguments only undennine his claim that this 
evidence foils under ~ 2../0./(/JJ. We take his 
complaints to be, in reality, about relevance, and 
we find this evidence was relevant to show the 
nature of relationship between the parties. 

(*49( l/N J.J[~ Where a defendant's domestic 
partner is the victim (or intended victim) of the 
charged crime, evidence of prior difficulties 
between the two can be relevant to show motive, 
intent, and the absence of mistake or accident. 
Cue.,·ta-Rodrit:tu.'=· 1010 OJ\ CR 13. ~[4 1 26-17, 2../ I 
P.3d al 226 (spouse); Short 1·. Stare. 1999 OJ\ CR 
15. •1 40. CJ80 P.2d /fl8 /. ll1fJ7 (girlfriend). The 
State believed Appellant's controlling personality 
(demonstrated by his words and deeds, and their 
effect, as shown by Ferguson's fear of him) made it 
more likely that setting her on fire was no accident. 
Appellant freely admitted to police that his 
relationship with Ferguson was a tumultuous one. 
Appellant's gun-waving and intimidating 
comments, related by Ms. Turner, were relevant for 
the same reasons. The trial court gave a cautionary 
instruction on (*'*953) the limited use of bad-acts 
evidence, r***37J not only in the final first-stage 
instructions, but each time such evidence was 
presented. The trial court did not abuse its 
discretion in admitting this evidence. 

B. Hearsay 

(*50) In Proposition VI, Appellant complains that 
some of the statements relating to his alleged prior 
threats toward Ferguson were inadmissible hearsay. 
ff,V I s(r) Appellant did not object to the 
statements on hearsay grounds at the time, so our 
review is only for plain e1Tor. Appellant must show 
that a plain or obvious e1Tor affected the outcome 
of the proceeding. Hoga11 1·. Stale. 2006 OJ\ CR I Y. 
~ , JS. I 39 P.Jd 907, 923. This Court will co1Tcct 
plain error only where it seriously affects the 

16 No del<Jils of the grounds for the application were offered into 
evidence. 

fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the 
proceedings. Id. 

(*Sii HNI6["i°] "Hearsay" is a statement, other 
than one made by a person testifying, offered to 
prove the truth of the matter asserted. 11 0. S. 2011. 
~· 280/(..1)(3). As noted, Ferguson moved out of 
Appellant's home at one point and lived with her 
friend, Jenny Turner. Turner testified that when 
Ferguson told Appellant to stop coming around, he 
became angry and threatened to kill her. The 
"truth" of Ferguson's request, such as it can be 
discerned (presumably, whether she truly wanted 
Appellant to stop visiting), is not material. Turner 
was asked to relate the exchange between 1***38] 
Ferguson and Appellant that she witnessed. As with 
the gun-waving incident discussed in Proposition 
V, the purpose of eliciting this event was to show 
Appellant's statements, not the truth or falsity of 
anything Ferguson said. Appellant's own 
extrajudicial statements, offered against him, are 
not hearsay. /J O.S.1011. ,, \'WI t/J)t2)1") . The 
statements at issue here were not inadmissible 
hearsay.17 Proposition VI is denied. 

C. Prosecutor misconduct 

1*52) In Proposition VII, Appellant identifies 
several statements made by the prosecutor during 
the trial that he believes were unfairly prejudicial to 
him. Hr\' 17[~ We generally review claims of 
prosecutor misconduct cumulatively, to dctennine 
if the combined effect denied the defendant n fair 
trial. Warner 1•. Sww. 2006 OK CR 40. • 197. /./4 
P.Jd 1U8. 89 I . 

I. Misstatement of fact in closing argument 

17 Appclhmt's real compl01int here seems to be l:ick of founcbtion, not 
hearsay. He claims that Turner never 11ffinn01tively swore to personal 
knowledge of these events. Personill knowledge IS generally 01 
prerequisite to the o.dmissibility of 11 witness's testimony. !..i. 
n .. ~ ,!II//. f ;1io1. But reading Turner's u:stimony in full, we find no 
reason to believe she was not describin; events that she witnessed. 
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1*53) In guilt-stage closing argument, the 
prosecutor told the jury that according to two 
physician witnesses, the bum patterns on 
Ferguson's body were consistent with having been 
doused with a flammable liquid and set on fire, 
when only one of those experts, Dr. Pfeifer (the 
Medical Examiner who conducted the autopsy), 
actually rendered that opinion. 1/1\ 18[~ Both 
parties have the right to discuss the evidence from 
their respective standpoints. Bland 1·. Stale. lfJnll 

OK CR II. 'I 9i. ./ P.3d 702. 718. 
Appellant 1***39) implies that the prosecutor was 
obligated to, in essence, argue against her own 
case. The issue in dispute here was a very narrow 
one. It was 1101 whether Ferguson's bums were the 
product of a liquid accelerant, such as gasoline; 
even defense counsel did not dispute that 
conclusion. It was whether -- as defense counsel 
put it to Dr. Pfeifer -- there are "lots of other 
circumstances that a person could find themselves 
with accelerant on them" besides being 
intentionally doused by another person. (Dr. Pfeifer 
agreed that there were.) The prosecutor did misstate 
the number of witnesses who gave a certain 
opinion, but this minor error did not contribute to 
the verdict. Id.. Jf)()fJ OA.. CR 11. ~I 101 . ./ P.3cl e11 

72.'i. 

2. Alleged attack on defense counsel 

)*54] Appellant claims the prosecutor impugned 
defense counsel's integrity. In the punishment 
stage, the defense presented Krystal Green, the 
mother of Appellant's eight-year-old child, to 
testify in mitigation of sentence. Green testified 
about taking the child to see Appellant in jail. The 
prosecutor 1**9541 objected, complaining that 
"subjecting this child to what we're fixing to talk 
about [is] borderline abuse." Defense counsel took 
umbrage at this characterization and asked for a 
mistrial. 1***401 The trial court rejected both 
parties' complaints, and the questions resumed. 
Appellant reads this as a direct attack on defense 
counsel, but we do not. The prosecutor was not 
complaining about the questions being put to the 

witness, but the fact that the eight-year-old subject 
of the questioning remained in the courtroom. The 
prosecutor was rightfully concerned about 
emotional outbursts in front of the jury - the same 
kinds of outbursts that Appellant himself complains 
about in Proposition IX. Trials can be emotional 
events, and a capital sentencing proceeding is 
hardly an exception. Sometimes, in the heat of 
argument, counsel may use hyperbole or otherwise 
say things that are not entirely justified. See Dvdd 
1·. S1a1c. 200./ OK CR 31, ~I 78. f(Jn P.3d JOI 7. 
10./ I ; Gilhr.m ''· S1e1!1.'. 1997 OK CR 71 . •; 97. 951 
P.~cl 9S. 121. But we find no outcome-influencing 
error here. 

3. Comments on the possibility of parole 

(*55( //.\'I 9['i'] A defendant convicted of 
specified crimes, including First Degree Murder, 
may not be considered for parole until he has 
served at least 85% of the original sentence. 11 
O.S.2011, § JJ.I . Appellant's jury was correctly 
instructed that "If a person is sentenced to life 
imprisonment, the calculation of eligibility for 
parole is based upon a term of forty-five (45) 
years .... " OU.II-CR 10-138 (emphasis added). 
The 1***41) prosecutor referred to this instruction 
in both stages of trial. 18 Appellant did not object to 
either comment, so we review only for plain error. 
!Jam"'' 1" Stare. 101 i OK CR 26. •i 6. 408 P.3d 209. 
2 I 3. Appellant claims the prosecutor erroneously 
suggested that he was guaranteed to be released 
after 45 years, if not earlier. We disagree. Each 
time, the prosecutor was specifically talking about 
application of the 85% Rule to a life sentence - not 
about the "meaning" of a life sentence in general. 
No defendant is entitled to parole, even under the 
85% Rule, and the prosecutor never made such an 
insinuation.19 Nor has AppeJlant demonstrated a 

u The trial was structured so that if the jury round Appellant guilty 
of :i. lesser, non·c::i.pital offense:, it would assess punishment nt that 
time. 

1• 1n the first-slllgc closing 11rgumcnt, the pcosc:cutor said (with 
cmph:uis 11ddcd): 

Page 23of39 



2019 OK CR 22, ·ss; 450 P.3d 933, .. 954; 2019 Okla. Crim. App. LEXIS 22, ... 41 

reasonable probability of prejudice. Any concerns 
about the first comment are mooted by the fact that 
it was made in reference to the lesser-related 
offense options, which the jury rejected. If, in the 
capital-sentencing stage, the jury had any confusion 
or misgivings about the possibility of Appellant's 
future release if given a straight life sentence, but 
did not believe a sentence of death was appropriate, 
it could have settled on a sentence of life without 
parole. But it did not. Proposition VII is denied. 

D. Chain of custody regarding Appellant's 
cigarette lighter 

1*56) In Proposition VIII, Appellant claims the 
trial 1"'**431 court erred in admitting 1**9551 
State's Exhibit 9, a cigarette lighter he had with him 
when he was arrested, because the State failed to 

As loni: :is we'n: talking :ibout lesser includc:ds then we h:ivc to 
1:ilk :ibout the punishment about J•**4l) (sic) the lesser 
includc:ds ... For purposes of rofr11/uti11g 1111dt!r tire 8$0 0 Rule. 
11'1! git't -' n11 u cl~ji11/tli111 nf /if.:, ok:iy Ir you convict sumcbody 
of 11 crime: that is under the 8S% Ruic, which two of thc5c 11rc, 
then you've got to know wh:ll DOC is going to do, Dnd DOC is 
going to SOIY I c:in't mathcmallclllly fonnufatc .BS times l·i·f.c •• 
doesn't work. \Vh:it numbc:r do I use? So they have :nbitrarily 
come up \\'ith the: number 4S, So ir you write down the word 1-
i-f-c, th:it is wh;it DOC will substitute 10 dt:t~r111i11~ wlic11 he's 
efigihh• for parole or good time credits or :my of those things, 

In sccond·st1t;c closing. the prosecutor said: 

I h;ivc to aalk about this HS'?-"1 instruction one more time:. I'll talk 
briefly bec:iusc I olrc:idy told you yestercfay. 85% instruction 
only applies if you give him life with p:irolc, you arc 
[in:iudible} hen:, if you write down with lire lsic], 1hcy're going 
10 say, well, tluit mc01ns 4S and that's the number they're going 
to gl\•e him. You arc not committed to 45; instead of life you 
can write do\vn SO, 60 or 6000 or wh:itcvcr number you h:ivc. 
So that's when the sso,. - but it doesn't 11pply to the other two. 

A~ll:int's rclillnc:c on [1,.; ,•: '" S1<1:L-. :!fl /fl 0 1\ CR 21. 1.19 P .I.I 

J ~n. is mispl01ced. In Flore:. the prosecutor told the jury tluit the 
defendant Mwill only do 85 percent or what you give himM -
erroneously suggesting that p;irole was guaranteed. :JO/II OK CR 1 1. 

•1 5 23V l'. .ttl "' J 5s. We: found the error h:irmlcss since the jury's 
sentence rccommcnd:ition was h:ilf or wh:it the prosecutor had 
requested, and considcr.zbly lower than the m11ximum tcnn ov;iil:iblc. 
!ti/II OK r'R .'/, •, IJ, J.W l'.3d 111 151J. 

establish a sufficient "chain of custody." Because 
HN20[T] defense counsel objected to the chain of 
custody at the time, we review the trial court's 
ruling for an abuse of discretion . .ln11es 1•. Staie. 
J<J!J5 OK CR 3./, ~I 79. 899 P.2d 635. 653. 
Identification and authentication of physical 
evidence can generally be satisfied by testimony 
that the evidence is what a proponent claims. I 2 
O.S.2011. ~ 2YOU11il n. The "chain of custody" 
concept guards against substitution of, or tampering 
with, physical evidence between the time it is found 
and the time it is analyzed. Mi1c/1ell r. Stare. 10 IO 
OK CR /./. 'I i4. 235 P.3cl (j.JO. 657. It is not 
necessary that all possibility of tampering be 
negated . . lfreno11 r. Stare. /lJ'J9 OK CR 21. •, 22, 
983 /'.]ti .JYS. 509. The lighter was never analyzed 
by either party. Appellant never denied possessing 
it, and the State never sought to prove any 
particular attributes of it. Thus, actual presentation 
of the lighter to the jury was superfluous. Appellant 
docs not explain how the "integrity" of the lighter 
might have affected the State's case or his theory of 
defense. Three witnesses testified as to how the 
lighter was confiscated and secured as evidence, 
and that testimony was sufficient to admit the 
lighter. Proposition VIH is denied. 1***441 

E. Display of emotion during guilt stage 

f *571 During the testimony of Martha Johnson, as 
she related things Ferguson said to her before being 
transported from the scene, defense counsel 
approached the bench and moved for a mistrial 
because members of Ferguson's family were 
"creating a disturbance." Alternatively, counsel 
asked the court to admonish the jurors to disregard 
the disturbance, but counsel then agreed with the 
court that nn admonition might just bring more 
attention to the event The trial court did not grant a 
mistrial, and in Proposition IX, Appellant assigns 
error to that ruling. HN2 I~ We review the ruling 
for an abuse of discretion. Jae/.. '011 \'. Sime. 2006 

OK CR 45. •1 //. l.J6 P.3cl 1149, 1156. The court 
assured defense counsel that it would speak with 
the victim's family and remind them that emotional 
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outbursts could not be tolerated. In fact, that 
remedy appears to have satisfied counsel's 
concems.w The 11disturbance" is not described in 
any detail in the record. It appears, however, to 
have been brief in duration; the victim's mother 
promptly left the courtroom to regain her 
composure. No other distracting displays of 
emotion are mentioned.21 Under these 
circumstances, we believe the trial court took 
appropriate measures to prevent unfair (***45) 
prejudice to Appellant. Ellis v. State, 1992 OK CR 
45, ir I 3, 867 P.ld I 289, I 297. The trial court did 
not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant a 
mistrial, and Proposition IX is denied. 

PUNISHMENT ST AGE ISSUES 

A. Sufficiency of instructions on mitigating 
evidence 

)*58) In Proposition X, Appellant complains that 
the packet of instructions provided to the jurors in 
the sentencing phase, as reproduced in the appeal 
record, does not include OU.II-CU .J-78. This 
Unifonn Jury Instruction infonns the jurors that 
they need not be unanimous in their consideration 
of mitigating evidence, i.e. factors that might 
support a sentence other than death. The 
instructions included in the appeal record skip from 
Instruction No. 58 (OUJJ-CR 4-77) to Instruction 
No. 60 (OU.II-CR 4-7Y). Appellant claims the 
omission of OU.II-CR .J-78 impaired the jury's 
proper consideration of an appropriate sentence. He 

:o The 1rial coun said, "And I'll spc::ik with the family; if 1hey'rc not 
soini: to be: 11blc to be composed, lhcn lhcy'rc not going to be :iblc to 
be in here. It's disruptive " Defi:nse counsel replied, "I undcrs1and." 

:i Appellant misiakcnly cl:iims thcrc were two outbursts Ferguson's 
mother appears to have left the counroom 11nd rctumed moments 
Inter :is the pcoscc:ucor w11s still questioning Johnson. While defense 
counsel :ippro:iched the bench nnd expressed concern that Ferguson's 
mother might get "riled up and crying before this jury oaain," there is 
no indication that this occurred. In fact, the trial coun responded, "If 
she disrupts 11a11in, she's goinii 10 be: removed for the remainder of 
the trial." 

assumes that because a written copy of the 
instruction is not included in the appeal record, it 
was not in the jury deliberation room, either. We 
simply have no infonnation on this point. But 
)**956) even assuming that to be the case, we do 

not find grounds for relief. 

1*59) Af/N12['i"] defendant cannot be eligible to 
receive the death penalty unless the jurors 
unanimously find the existence 1***46) of at least 
one aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable 
doubt. JI O.S.1011. ,~ 701. I I ; see Pmtl.!lle \'. State. 

1011 OK CR 30. 'l 60. 267 P.3d 114. 138. 
Appellant's jurors were properly instructed that 
they were "authorized to consider" a death sentence 
in that event. OU.II-CR ./-76. Even after finding an 
aggravating circumstance, jurors cannot impose a 
death sentence unless they unanimously conclude 
that the aggravating circumstances outweigh any 
evidence that mitigates the crime; jurors are in any 
event never required to impose a death sentence 
under any set of circumstances. Po'ill!lle. 2011 OK 

CR 30. ~I 60. 267 P.3d a1 138. Appellant's jurors 
were instructed on these points as well. OU.II-CR 
./-SO. The jurors were provided a list of mitigating 
circumstances advanced by the defense, but were 
also told they could consider nny other factor they 
might find mitigating. OUJl-CN -1-79. The 
instruction omitted from the appeal record, OU.I/­

CR 4-78, elaborates on what "mitigating" means, 
reiterates that jurors need not be unanimous in 
deciding what factors they consider mitigating, and 
explains that mitigating circumstances need not be 
proven beyond a reasonable doubt.2~ 

u 0(.,./1.CN ~- "'·' reads: 

Mitii::iting circumsl:inccs ore I) circumstoincc:s thllt may 
extenuate or reduce: the dcgm: of moral culpability or bloirnc, or 
2) circums111ncc:s which in fairness, (0 *471 sympathy or 
mercy m:iy lead you 115 jurors individually or collectively 10 
decide a1:ainst imposing the death penalty. The dctennin111ion 
of what circumslllnces are mitigating is for you 10 resolve under 
the facts and circumstAnces of this case. 

While all twelve: jurors must unanimously agree 1h111 the Stale has 
established beyond a re:isonable doubt the existence: of at least one 
11sgrava1ing circumstance prior to considen11ion orthe dcalh penalty, 
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1*60J We addressed a similar situation in Ch•<w1· 
'" Srare. 199i 01\. CR 35. 9-12 P.2d i36. In Clea1y, 
Appellant claimed, and the State agreed, that one of 
the Unifonn Jury Instructions was inadvertently 
omitted from the packet of written instructions 
given to the jury in the capital sentencing stage of 
the trial. The instruction at issue in Cleal)' told 
jurors they could not impose a death sentence 
unless they unanimously concluded that any 
aggravating circumstances outweighed any 
mitigating circumstanccs.23 Id. at •.•1 5 7-58. 9-12 
P.2cl 01 74CJ. We noted at the outset: 

[T]he question is 1101 whether the jury was 
instructed accurately and completely. It was. 
The only question before us is whether the 
omission of a written copy of the instruction is 
fatal to the second-stage proceeding. 

Id. ,,, • 5!i. IJ.J2 !'.lei"' i../9 (emphasis in original). 

a reasonable doubt, and (2) the importance of 
considering mitigating circumstances in arriving at 
the ultimate sentence recommendation. lei. at 'l~ t 

63-65. 9./1 P.2d at 750. 

(*62) Appellant cites Clea1)1 as factually 
analogous to his case, because it, too, deals with a 
capital-sentencing jury instruction (**9571 
omitted from the written record. He claims the 
omission of OU.II-CR 4-78 here is "plain error,0 

and he contends the circumstances in this case 
prevent any conclusion that the error was harmless, 
as we found in Cleal)'. He ultimately claims the 
omission of the instruction denied him a 
constitutiona11y fair and reliable capital sentencing 
proceeding. We must therefore determine if there is 
a reasonable likelihood that Appellant's (***491 
jury applied its instructions in a way that prevented 
its consideration of relevant mitigating evidence. 
Borch ,. Cu/i/omio . ./9../ U.S. 370. 380. I /f) S.Ct. 
1190. 1198. tfl8 L.Edld 3/() lf')91JJ; Ru111e111n '" 

1*61] While Oklahoma law may not 
Sltth'. /IJ95 OK CR 74. ~I IJ./. 'J(}f) P.2d Y2. 123. 

unequivoca11y require jurors to have written copies 
of their instructions while deliberating,?'• we held in 
Clea1y that, given the "severity and finality" of the 
death penalty, the (***481 omission of a written 
instruction from the packet given to Cleary's jury 
was error. Id. "' •1•1 fi0-62, IJ.J1 P.2d at 74Y-i50. 
Nevertheless, we found the error harmless beyond a 
reasonable doubt, because ( 1) the instruction was 
read to the jury, (2) it was neither complex nor 
confusing on its face, and (3) other written 
instructions adequately communicated these 
essential points: (I} that no death sentence could 
ever be imposed unless one or more aggravating 
circumstances was found, unanimously and beyond 

unanimous :igrccmcnl of j urors conccmini: mi1ig111ing cin:ums1imccs 
is not required. In addition, mitig;iling cin:umstances do no1 hlivc to 
be proved beyond a r~son;ible doubt in order for you to consider 
them. 

:lThis ins1111c1ion has since been n:wordcd :md clarified. OU.l/.(R 

1.:.l!!· 

l 4 We noted in Clea"' lhnt while Oklahoma law provides thal jury 
instruclions "sh:lll be in writing." see !J O.S !IJf I,~ ,\Jt1r.i, the jury 
WllS pcnniUcd, but not required, to t11kc Wrillcn copies or \he 
inslructions 10 the dehbera1ion room See:.: 0 .. \ :!Of I,~ .\93. 

(*63) Whether there was an "error" at all here is 
uncertain. In C/emJ', the State conceded that the 
omitted instruction did not go to the deliberation 
room. Clearr. /!)')i 01\ CR 35. •; 57. <J./2 P.1d at 
i49. But here, we simply do not know if the 
instruction at issue was misplaced before or after 
deliberations. In any event, Ch·aD· is instructive for 
a reason that Appellant does not mention. The 
11missing instruction" in Clea1y addressed a 
different point of law than the one at issue here; but 
the trial court actually rejected Cleary's request for 
an instruction similar to the one Appellant 
complains about here. We found no error because 
we had held, many times before, that no such 
instruction was necessary. lei. "' ~I 49. 9-11 P.2d "' 
i48; see also Pid.1.•m , .. State. 1993 OA.. CR 15. , 
47. 850 P.2cl 318. 339-340. 

(*64) f/J\'23[~ While the Eut'1th . l111C'mlt11L·111 

requires that capital sentencing jurors be allowed to 
consider all relevant mitigating evidence, it does 
not demand that States structure that consideration 
in any particular way. l\.a11.ms '" Curr. U.S. 
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136 S.Cr. 633. fi./]. l'J3 l.Ed.ld 535 t20/6J; ll'eef..,-
1·. All!!L'/OJIC.', 52/\ U.S. 125. 233. / 1{} S. Cr. 717. 732. 

145 L.L"dld 727 f](){}(J) ; 811£/wmm '" Am:c.•/011<.'. 
512 U.S. 269. 276. 118 S.C!. 757. 761. 139 l.Ed.2d 

702 ( 1998J; Warner '" Slate. 2006 OK CR ./0. •J 

I .JO. I ./4 P.3d 838. 81"12, overruled on other 

grounds by Tarim '" S1a1e. 1018 OK CR 6 . ./ 19 
P.3d 265. States need not expressly instruct capital 
juries on the concept of "non-unanimity" regarding 
mitigating evidence. D1m1// 1•. R<.•n10/d1. 139 F.3d 
768. 790-92 r JfJrh Cir. IY98) (citing Bttcha11a11). 
We thus find no constitutional 
significance 1***501 to the 11non-unanimity11 

language of OU.II-CR 4-7s.2s 

1*651 Thus, even assuming Appellant's jury did 
not receive a written copy of OU.II-CR 4-78 
(which, again, is not clear from the record), we find 
/JN14['i'] no reasonable probability that the jurors 
were prevented from fully considering mitigating 
evidence here. To this end, we may consider all of 
the instructions, oral and written, given to the jury, 
any relevant communications between judge nnd 
jury, as well as other statements by the court and 
arguments by counsel. 11·('('A\. 518 U.S. 01 13.J-36. 

/20 S. Ct. al 7 33-3.J; IJ11clu11u111. 5 21 U.S. at 2 78-79. 
I I 8 S. Ct. ar 762·63. There is no dispute that the 
trial court read OU.ll·C R .J-78 to the jury in its 
closing instructions. Also, the concept of non­
unanimity with regard to mitigating evidence was 
discussed repeatedly in voir dire. What is more, in 
closing argument, defense counsel repeatedly 
emphasized that what counted as "mitigating 
evidence" was personal to each individual juror. 26 

: 11n 1996, the drafters of the Second Edition of the Oklahoma 
Unffonn Jury Instructions concluded 1hot lanau:ige on non-unanimity 
as lo miti,:iting circumst11nccs would be helpful to 11 e11pillll jury ·­
while 111 the same time conceding lh1111h1s Coun had repeatedly held 
no such instruc1ion was ncccsSllry. Sec UU.11-Cfl .J. iS, Notes on Use; 
llt11t{lc!I'' St<1I•', /<}f); OA.' CR li.J, •i 51 11 Ii), 9.Ji /'.~.I /(/1111. I 1119 

11115. 

:6£.g. 

(Y)ou never hnvc to impose the death pc11411ty. - · And essentially, 
what that's ollowins you to do is, 1111 right, we found the: 11sarav111ors, 
and before I gel to my own personal moral belief, which we talked 11 

[*66} As evidence that the jurors misunderstood 
the mechanics of considering mitigating 
circumstances, Appellant points to handwritten 
notations on Instruction No. 60. This instruction 
(from OUJl-CR -J-79) listed mitigating factors 
specifically advanced by the 1**958) defense. It 
also reminded the jurors that they could consider, 
as mitigating 1***51) evidence, any other fact they 
might choose. Beside each enumerated mitigator 
appears a handwritten word, either "No" or "Yes." 
After the last sentence of this instruction, which 
encourages jurors to consider any other mitigating 
factors not already listed, the following handwriting 
appears: "We feel very sorry for Donnie's family 
and his littJe girl." Appe!Jant assumes the jurors 
treated this list as o verdict form, and that the 
notations show the jurors were unanimous as to 
each factor; he infers that the jurors must have 
beJieved they llacl to be unanimous. Appellant does 
not point to any instruction by the court, or 
argument by counsel, which might have led jurors 
to conclude that they had to be unanimous on 
mitigating circumstances. As we view it, the 
handwriting on Instruction No. 60 simply confirms 
that AppelJant's jurors did exactly what they are 
constitutionally required to do: They gave due 
consideration to each mitigating circumstance 
advanced and, searching their own hearts, found at 
least one more. That is alJ that the law requires. 

1*671 The instructions and verdict forms in this 
case did not require, nor did they imply, that 
unanimity regarding mitigating circumstances was 
a 1***52} prerequisite to consideration of those 
circumstances. We find no reasonable possibility 
that AppelJant's jury was precluded from 
considering all mitigating evidence in a manner 
consistent with the Eii:htli • l 111e11d11u.'111. Sri/I!.\ 1•. 

State. /9Y1 OK CR 23. ~i 58. 829 P.lcl 98./. 997. 

Proposition X is denied. 

101 11bou1 up in voir dire, wh111 you twelve individually feel is right 
and jus1, which you can find collectively or not so .... [l]n your own 
reasonable moral judsmcnl, in your own personal moral judgment, 
you c11n consider 1he mi1ig111ors, and thot is what WDUld lessen the 
culp:ibiliry. 
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B. Victim impact testimony 

(*681 In Proposition Xl, Appellant lodges several 
complaints about the victim impact evidence 
presented in the sentencing phase of the trial. 
HN25~ We review a trial court's decision to 
admit victim impact evidence for an abuse of 
discretion. Malnue 1•. State. ]007 OK CR 3.J. ~I 61. 

JfiS P.3d 185. 111. The State presented four victim 
impact witnesses: Kristi Ferguson's father, 
stepmother, mother, and brother. Each read a very 
brief statement about the effect of Ferguson's death 
on them personally, and on Ferguson's young son. 
These statements had been reviewed in great detail 
at a pretrial hearing; defense objections were 
entertained, and revisions were made. When they 
were presented to the jury, defense counsel made 
only a general objection as to content. 

1*691 Appellant first claims it was error to allow 
Ferguson's stepmother, Rhonda Ferguson, to read a 
victim impact statement to the jury. He did not 
object on these grounds below, so our review is 
only for plain error. i\/olm1e. 2007 Of...' CU 3.J. •1 .JI). 

/ 68 P.3d Cit Wn. This claim is governed by the 
language [***531 of the O!.lalwma 1·u11111:, Ri!]/11, 
.-let. 21 O.S.2011. ~ /.Jl.I (.'/ .H'C( //\'26['i'] A 
"victim impact statement" is defined in the Act as 
information about certain effects of a violent crime 
on each "victim" and members of the victim's 
"immediate family." ~/ O.S.2011. ,, /.12 l-Jt8) . 

Appellant's argument is based on the fact that at the 
time of his trial, the list of "immediate family" did 
not specifically include stepparents. 2 I O.S~O 11. ~'· 

l.Jl:l-114) .21 What Appellant overlooks, however, 
is that stepparents are, and always have been, 
considered in the Act to be "victims" themselves 
when the crime is homicide. See 1 l 0.S.2011 1 ~· 

1411-lt n (a "victim" in a homicide case includes 
"a surviving family member including a ... 
stepparent"). Kristi Ferguson's stepmother, Rhonda 

?t In :?014, our Lcgislliture spccincnlly Dddcd stepJ13rcnts ond some 
other ~huivcs to this list. Lows 2014, SB 1824, c. 258, § I (efT 
November I, 2014)_ 

Ferguson, was herself a "victim" under the Act, and 
could deliver a victim impact statement. Bo\ \e '" 
State!. 1nt7 OK CR /0. 'I 6-1. 400 P.Jd 83-1. 857. A 
few months before Appellant's trial, in Miller I'. 

Staie. 20/3 OK CR I I. •J 186. 313 P.3d 93..J. 990-

9 I, we held that it was error to allow a murder 
victim's stepparent to deliver a victim impact 
statement in the sentencing phase of a capital trial. 
We no longer believe Miller wns correctly decided 
on that point, and I 11"2 7[Tj it is overruled to that 
extent. What is more, JIN28(~ Oklahoma law has 
long provided that in the sentencing phase of a 
capital trial, "the state may introduce evidence 
about the victim and about the 1***541 impact of 
the murder on the family of the victim." ~ l 
O.S 11J/ I. ,,. ifl/. /fJfCJ. The tenn "family" is not 
defined. 1**9591 28 There was no error, and no 
prejudice, here. 29 

(*701 Appellant next claims the victim impact 
evidence as a whole was repetitive and unfairly 
prejudicial to him. Four family members gave 
statements; not surprisingly, sadness and loss were 
common themes. Appellant specifically takes issue 
with the fact that all four statements mentioned how 
Ferguson's death had affected her six-year-old son. 
Yet the statements were all very brief; none was 
longer than two pages of transcript. We believe 
their substance, as a whole, was in keeping with 
what is allowed under the Di:/11/J .1111,•1ulmeJJ1. See 
J>m11t '" Tu111e,·Hl'. 501 us. sos_ 831-3:!. 111 
S.Ct. 2597. 2M1. 115 L.Ecl1cl 720 f/YYJ) 

~- The 11pplic11bility or this Sllltulc \VllS not affected by the Victim's 
Rights Act. In 2013, the Lcgishmue :iddc:d langW1gc to ~ -Of /II to 
underscore its application in cases where the de:ith pcmilty was 
sought. La\\'s 2013, SB 1036, c. 6, § I (eff. November I, 2013). 

~~ Defense counsel's l:ick of objection suggests he correctly 
understood th:it Rhond:i Ferguson w;is 11 "\'ictim" in this cnse. ("I'm 
not disputing th:it il stepmother and brother and grandmother c:innot 
[sic] make statements . ... I know the sta1utc t:ilks about that those 
members can make ll statement ... ) Rhonda Ferguson read n brief 
prepared statement, comprising about one page of transcript, about 
how Kristi's dca1h affected her, then turned 10 how Kristi's son dealt 
with the loss or his mother, which itself is ll completely appropriate 
topic for victim impact testimony. :!I O .. L:t>ll. ,, /.J]././(,\'J, ~ 

7111 lflfCJ. 
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(O'Connor, J., concurring).3° 

[*71) Finally, Appellant complains that Kristi 
Ferguson's grandmother was allowed to 
recommend death as the appropriate sentence. To 
be precise, her comment -- "Donnie Harris needs to 
pay for his deed with his life" -- was part of a 
written statement read into the record by the 
prosecutor. Appellant made no objection to it at the 
time. But what Appellant overlooks is that the 
statement was only given to the trial judge at 
fonnal sentencing, after the jury had delivered its 
verdicts. The State never attempted to elicit such a 
recommendation in front of the jury.31 1/1\'19[~ 
The Ei!.!/Jrh . l111emlme111 prohibits a capital 
sentencing jury from considering victim impact 
evidence that is unrelated to the circumstances of 
the crime. Booth 1·. Mun/mu/. 481 U.S . .:/%. 50 /­
IJ2, 107 S.Ct. 252<.J. 2532-33. 96 L.Ed.Jd ././0 

(J 98 7>. overruled 011 other grounds by Porne. 50 I 
U.S. 808. I JI S.Cr. 2597. 115 L. Ed. 2d i20 r/Y'J/J ; 
Selsor 1·. Work111011. 644 F. 3d 'J84. I 026--2 7 1 / IJth 

Cir. 2011 J. Appellant cites no authority extending 

n In her concurring opinion in PuJm, Justice O'Connor wrolc 

We do not hold today 1ha1 victim 1mpacc evidence must be 
admitted, or even that ii !hould be admitted. We hold merely 
that ir 11 Stale decides to pcnnit consideration or this evidence, 
"the !:1yluh ./111,·m/111011 erects no per s~ bar.~ ... If. in 11 

particular case, a witncn ' testimony or a prosecutor's remark so 
infects the senlcncing proceeding as to render it fundamentally 
unfoir. the dcfi:nd;int may seek appropriate rchefunder the /!_i . 
/"1·111·,·s~ Cli111>'<' o{//1c' Pm11·!U:!fll1 .·IJ1 1l'1:d1111'11!. 

That line w;is not crossed in this case. The State Clllh:d as 11 

witness Mary Zvolanck, Nicholas' grandmother. (*0 55( Her 
testimony was brief. She Cllplaincd that Nu:hoh1s cried for his 
mother :ind boby sister 1md could not understand why they did 
not come home. I do nol doubt th:u the jurors were moved by 
this testimony - who would not have been~ But surely this 
brief statement did not inflame their passions more than did the 
facts of the crime ... . 

f'tt111c·. 5111 US 111831-3:!. 111 S.Cr. "' :!fi/:!. 

H At the bei;innini; of the hearing on victim imp;ict statements, 1hc 
prosecutor agreed to remove 11ny such recommendations from 
Statements to be read to the jury, c:iling l.llf hLll I 7hm1mt'/. i 11 r .Jtl 
/]/,'( l/IJJ/i C:ir. 1 /Jl3J, 

this rule to statements given at fonnal sentencing. 
In conclusion, we find no error in the 
victim 1***56) impact testimony. Proposition XI is 
therefore denied. 

C. Sufficiency of evidence supporting "great risk 
of death" aggravator 

[*72) Appellant's jury found the existence of both 
aggravating circumstances alleged by the State. 
Appellant does not challenge sufficiency of the 
evidence to support the jury's finding that the 
murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. 
]I 0.S 2011. ,\ -01.J::r.JJ . However, in Proposition 
XII, he challenges the sufficiency of the evidence 
to support the jury's finding that he knowingly 
created a great risk of death to more than one 
person. 21 O.S.201 /. ~ 701. I 21.!J. This argument is 
meritless. Appellant cannot deny that the fire began 
in a living area of the home, that several other 
(**960) people were in the home when it started, 

and that he knew they were there. The fire quickly 
engulfed the home and destroyed it. The fact that 
no one but Ferguson was seriously injured is 
fortuitous, but it does not prevent application of this 
aggravating circumstance. See Dul'i,· 1·. Sw1e. 2011 
OK CR JY. ~ 1 I 2Y. J68 P.3d 86. I 1 I . Having 
already concluded in the guilt phase of the trial. 
beyond a reasonable doubt, that Appellant 
intentionally started the fire, a rational juror could 
further conclude from the totality of circumstances 
that the nature and location of the fire created 
a [***57) great risk of death to others. ,\ /artine:; v. 
State. 19Y9 OK CR 33. ~l'I .!-3. 80. 984 P.:!d 813. 
818. 831 (upholding "great risk of death" 
aggravator under similar facts). Proposition XII is 
denied. 

EFFECTIVENESS OF TRIAL COUNSEL 

(*73) In Proposition XIV, Appellant faults his trial 
counsel's perf onnance on several grounds, and 
claims he was denied his Sixth .·lmc!lldme111 right to 
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reasonably effective counsel.32 See S1rid..la11d ''· 
Wwlti11gto11. 466 U.S. 668. I 0./ S. Ct. 2052. 80 

l.Ed.Jd 674 I 1984). f/N30[~ Under Strickland, 
Appellant must demonstrate: (I) that counsel's 
perfonnance was constitutionally deficient, and (2) 
a reasonable probability that counsel's perfonnance 
caused prejudice -- such that it undennines 
confidence in the outcome of the trial. Bland '" 
State. 2000 Of\" CR 11. •1 11 ! . .J f' 3d 702. 7 30. We 
begin with the presumption that counsel's conduct 
fell within the wide range of reasonable 
professional assistance. S1ricA/w1el . ./M U.S. at 689, 
Jn./ S.C!. at !065. Appellant must demonstrate that 
counsel's choices were unreasonable under 
prevailing professional nonns and cannot be 
considered sound trial strategy. Id. When a 
Strickland claim can be disposed of on the ground 
of lack of prejudice, that course should be followed. 
466 U.S. at 697. 10./ S.Cr. at 1069. 

1*74] Appellant makes seven separate complaints 
about his trial counsel. Three are based on the 
record alone, and four rely on supplemental 
materials which he has submitted pursuant to Rule 
3.l l(B)(3), Rules of tlte Oklahoma Court of 
Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2019).33 

We address the record-based 1***58] claims first. 
Appellant faults trial counsel for ( l) failing to 
correct the prosecutor's recollection of expert 
testimony, and her comments on the 85% Rule; (2) 
failing to object to victim impact testimony and a 
sentence recommendation from the victim's 
grandmother; and (3) failing to 11confirm11 that the 
jury received complete instructions.34 Strickland 

u Appellant had two c:tpcricnccd capitol trinl l:iwyc:rs from the 
OklahOfTUI lndii;cnt Defense: System appointed to his c:i!;C. We 
generally refi:r 10 them collectively as "counsel " 

HThe Rule 3.11 :ipplic;uion contains not only supplementary 
m:iterials, but also more than twenty pages or additional argument. 
We have long looked with disfavor on allcmpts to evade page. 
limitation requirements for briefs (alrcndy permitted to be I 00 pages 
in capital cases) by incorporating arguments made in this m:inncr. 
Set G1111·;.,,,,' S1111s·, ;111/.J OJ..' CR .15. •, I.II 11311 /llJ P _i,i _Wll, 

(,/ 111 .Iii. 

J.I Pans E, F, and 0, respectively, of Proposition XIV of Appellant's 
Brief. 

requires proof of both deficient performance and 
resulting prejudice; failure to demonstrate either is 
fatal to the claim. 1\ lair me t'. Sr are. 2013 OK CR I. 
~I / ./. 293 P.3d l 'i8. 206. We have already 
examined the substantive basis for each of these 
claims and either found no error, or no reasonable 
probability of prejudice from error. See our 
discussion of Propositions VII, X, and XJ.JS Absent 
error, counsel was not deficient for failing to take 
other action; absent prejudice, counsel's 
perfonnnnce does not undennine confidence in the 
verdict. These claims are denied. 

1*75] Because Appellant's remammg four 
ineffective-counsel claims rely on evidence outside 
the record, we do not reach the merits of these 
complaints, but only determine whether additional 
fact-finding regarding them is necessary. Rule 
3.11 (B), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 
1lppeals, 1**961] Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2019). 
Appellant has filed an application for evidentiary 
hearing pursuant (***59] to this Rule. H.VJ /['i'] 
As this Rule explains, there is a strong presumption 
of regularity in trial proceedings and counsel's 
conduct. The application must contain sufficient 
information to show, by clear and convincing 
evidence, a strong possibility that trial counsel was 
ineffective for failing to identify or use the 
evidence at issue. Id. , Rule 3.1 l(B)(3)(b)(i). We 
thoroughly review the application and 
accompanying materials. Si1111Jw11 t ·. Swrc. ~IJ Jfl 

01\ CR 6. ~l 53. 230 P.3d 888. 905. The standard 
set out above is easier for a defendant to meet than 
the Strickland standard, as he need only show a 
strong possibility that counsel was ineffective. id. 
ar 'i 53. 230 P.3d a1 905-06. 

A. Failure to present expert testimony by 

u Appdlanl faults trial counsel for failing 10 "conlinn" that the jury's 
instruction p:icket wu complete. This is not c."<11c1ly a record-based 
claim, since we simply do not know wh:it counsel did, or whclher the 
pilekel included the: instruction discussed in Proposition XI. In any 
event, such 11n insttuction WllS not required in the first pl:icc. See 
discussion of Proposition XI. 
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alternative means 

1*76) Appellant faults trial counsel for not finding 
some way to present expert testimony on fire 
investigation when it became clear that his original 
expert, Smith, would be unable to travel to 
Oklahoma in time for trial. Appellant claims trial 
counsel should have had Smith testify remotely, or 
sought to hire a substitute expert. He presents an 
affidavit from one of his trial attorneys who says 
they never gave "serious consideration" to these 
options. The factual background for this claim is 
discussed in Proposition II, where Appellant faulted 
the trial court 1***601 for not granting him a 
mistrial. We found no reasonable probability of 
prejudice from Smith•s absence, because his 
proposed opinions reflected in his pretrial report 
would not have materially added to defense 
counsel's cross-examination of Agent Rust's 
methods and conclusions. Absent prejudice, we 
need not consider whether trial court's choices were 
professionally reasonablc.36 Strid/and. ./66 0 .S. t1t 

69 7. I 0./ S. Ct. at WM. Nevertheless, as we 
observed in Proposition II, such alternatives were 
considered and rejected by the defense team.37 

Counsel's decision appears to have been IIN32[~ 
a tactical choice made after due consideration and 
research. As such, it is "virtually unchallcngable" 
on appeat.38 Strh-Alwul. ./66 U.S llf riY0-91. 

3" Appcll01nl also faults trial counsel for not fihng i1 proper motion for 
continu:incc. As discussed in Proposition II, the trial coun 
considcn:d 11 continuance as a possible option, so we find no 
prejudice in foiling to file 11 scp.u:uc request. 

Hfo support his att:icks on trial counsel's pcrfonnancc:, Appellant 
also sub1ntts :i revised report compiled by his fire expert, Smith, who 
was rc:111incd 11g:iin on :ippc:il to review inronnlltion which simply 
was not avlliloiblc to him before 1ri11I. Bcc:iusc Smith's revised report 
includes opinions bascd on this post-trial infonn:ilion, we cllnnot 
consider it here, ns it has no logical bc11ring on wh11t trial counsel 
knew or did 111 the time of crial. We will revisit Smith's revised report 
in our discussion of Appcl111nt's Motion for New Trial. 

ll Appellant relics on Cw 1111111, !fJfl./ ()J.. CR ~-~· 11•; uu lfl'J, /111 

P.3d 01 fi/fi r,,:11 for the Importance of securing ahcrn:ili\'e means of 
pn:scnting testimony when the original wicni:ss selected for 1he lllsk 
cannot auend. Garrlso11 was a capital murder case, but the 
similarities wi1h this case end there. Garriso11 involved a "unique 11nd 
Ullc:rly biz:irrc" sci or circumslllnces (icl. 111 1i IM /fl.I l' . .?d 111 fi/9) 

/* -:'962 / I 04 S. Cr. af 2066. Trial counsel's post hoc 
affidavit does not change our assessment. Rule 
3.1 l(B)(3)(b), Rules of the Oklahoma Coul'I of 
Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2019); 
Si111prn11. !010 OK CR 6. '153. 130 P.Jd at 905-0ti. 

B. Failure to "confirm" that physical evidence 
was available 

{*77) As noted in Proposition lll, the parties 
stipulated before trial to introducing photographs of 
physical evidence collected at the scene and on 
Appellant's arrest. That evidence was eventually 
lost or destroyed. Appellant claims his trial counsel 
was ineffective for "foiling to confirm" that this 
physical evidence existed before entering 1***611 
into the stipulation. We fail to see the logic in this 
argument. Appellant does not fault trial counsel for 
stipulating per se. By virtue of the stipulation, the 
evidence itself was not made part of the record. 

regarding 11ppcll:i1e counsers cffons (or l:ick thereof) at an 
evidcn1i:11y hearing 10 dctennine whe1her tri:il counsel effectively 
handled the casc for mitillillion of punishment. While Garrison's 
crime and crimim1I p:ist were d'-"5pic:iblc, the c:ircumsl:inccs or his 
upbringing were cqul111y "horrendous," ,,/ ,,, •, [r. -. 1113!' . .Id1116/IJ, 

:ind may hllvc eJpl.:iined hts sociopathic conducl and pcrsu:ided the 
jury not to scnccncc him 10 death. Appellate counsel had remincd 11n 
e:<pcrt 10 show wh:it kind of mllig:ition evidence trial counsel sllou/d 
h:ive prcsenh:d to the jury. The expert was un:iblc 10 attend the 
evidcnti:iry hc:iring due to hc:ilth reasons. Appellate counsel declined 
Che tri:il coun's offer to concinuc the hc:iring, declined 10 present 11ny 
1:1f 1he fifleen or so other in-succ witn1.'Sscs who could corrobor.uc the 
c:.xpcn's invcstiga1ion (cl;uming 1hcir testimony would m:ikc no sense 
without the c:11pcn's) - nnd even declined 10 cross-examine 
defcndl1nt's tti:ll counsel obout his own cffons to prepare: a mitiaation 
case. Id ,,, '•, /t.ll li.i. 10.11' . .ld 01 fil .\'. ffJ. Thus, the tri:il court (the 
fact-finder in thol silUlltion) h:id no evidence on which to fairly 
evaluate the claim that tri:il counsel was ineffective -- which was the 
purpose for rcm:inding the case in the first pl:icc. We found oppcllatc 
counsel's intransigence "completely unnccept:iblc" ( id '" • / ti ./. /113 
I' J./ ,,, fi/lJ) , and ultimately Yilt:ncd G11rrison's death sc:ntcncc, 
bcc:iuse we lacked confidence thllt the death sentence was arrh·cd at 
fairly. Garriso11 is markedly d1stin~uishl1ble from the inscanl case 
Appclll11e counsel in Garrison uucrly failed lo support his cl:iim that 
trfal counsel's mitig;uion c:isc was lacking, despite avail:iblc 
evidence. Herc, the defense expert merely critiqued the conduct of 
the State's fire invcstig;itor; his report provided ulting points for 
defense counscrs cross-cxnmin111ion or the Slllte's invcstig:itor, and 
counsel oppllrcntly mildc good use ofil. See Proposi1ion II. 
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1*78) II N33~ Trial counsel's job is to make 
decisions based on reasonable investigation of the 
evidence and legal issues. Courts must judge the 
reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on 
the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the 
time of counsel's conduct. S1ric:l./c111d ./66 U.S. '" 
690, I fJ.J S. Ct. at 2006. There may be countless 
ways to provide effective assistance in any given 
case . ./6fi U.S. al 689. 10.J S. Ct. t1t ]()65. There 
comes a point where counsel may reasonably 
decide that one strategy is in order, thereby making 
additional efforts toward some other strategy 
unnecessary. /cf. t11 691. I tJ4 S. Ct. cit 2066. It is not 
counsel's duty to somehow preserve every 
conceivable tactic or argument that was ultimately 
discarded. 

1*79) As discussed in Proposition Ul, neither 
defense counsel nor their expert felt the need to 
even inspect the physical evidence, much less have 
it tested in any way. Trial counsel had no 
responsibility -~ or control - over the preservation 
of evidence he did not reasonably feel was relevant 
to the jury's task. Even if counsel had asked to 
examine the evidence before trial, 1***62) only to 
learn that it could not be located, we have already 
considered and rejected the merits of Appellant's 
claim that the loss of this evidence rendered his 
trial fundamentally unfair. See Proposition Ill. The 
extra-record material related to this claim does not 
alter our conclusion. Rule 3. 11 (B)(3)(b), Rules of 
the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, 
Ch.18, App. (2019); Smt/)\Ull. 3()/0 01'." cu n. ~ 53. 
230 P.3d w 905-06. 

C. Failure to demand access to Agent Rust's 
personnel file 

1*80) Trial counsel filed an omnibus discovery 
motion seeking, among other things, "all evidence 
tending to impeach the credibility of each potential 
witness." Appellant maintains it was the 
prosecutor's duty to find impeaching evidence in 
Agent Rust's personnel file and supply it to the 
defense, see Proposition IV, but here he 

alternatively faults trial counsel for not making sure 
that the prosecutor fulfilled her duty. How trial 
counsel was supposed to demand the production of 
information he did not know existed is not clear. 
HN3:J[~ The Fi/tit . lmemlmt1111 does not guarantee 
defense counsel the right to unfettered inspection of 
the State's files. IS eat/ierford '" B111w1'. 429 U.S. 
545. 5j9. 97 S.O. 837. 846. 51L.Ed.2cl30 t/<J77J. 
On the other hand, Brady obligates the State to 
disclose material, exculpatory evidence regardless 
of whether a defendant asks for it. United SwtC!.\ 1°. 

Bmdt''" ./73 U.S. al 682. /05 S.Ct. at 3383; 
0011!!/m 1-. Worhilw11. 5fin F.3d "' 1172. Any fault 
here would properly he with the 
prosecutor, (***631 not defense counsel, and we 
have already addressed that issue in Proposition IV. 
The materials submitted in support of this claim do 
not raise n strong possibility that counsel was 
ineffective. Rule 3. ll(B)(3)(b); S1111pwn. ~1))11 OK 
CR 6. • 53. 230 P.3cl e11 IJ05~06. 

D. Failure to present a neuropsychological 
expert 

1*81) In the capital sentencing stage of the trial, 
the defense presented testimony from Dr. Jeanne 
Russel1 and Dr. Janice Garner. Dr. Russell, a 
psychologist, interviewed and conducted various 
tests on Appellant. Dr. Garner, who specializes in 
compiling mitigation evidence in capital cases, 
provided the (**9631 jury with 11 summary of 
Appel1ant's upbringing and family life, based on 
interviews with family and other information. 
Appellant now claims trial counsel were deficient 
in failing to adequately investigate Fetal Alcohol 
Syndrome as a part of the mitigation case. He 
submits affidavits from an investigator who worked 
with trial counsel, Dr. Russell, and another expert 
consulted by the trial defense team, stating that they 
believe this subject should have been explored in 
greater detail. Appellant also submits a report from 
Dr. John Fabian, a neuropsychologist who 
examined Appellant in August 2015. In Dr. 
Fabian's opm1on, Appellant may suffer 
from (***64) a "neurodevelopmental disorder" 
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because his mother allegedly drank alcohol while 
pregnant with him. Finally, Appellant submits 
affidavits from friends and family (many of whom 
testified at trial), which Fabian appears to have 
relied upon when compiling his report. Appellant 
faults trial counsel for not presenting this or similar 
evidence to his jury. 

1*821 The record shows that the possibility of 
Fetal Alcohol Syndrome was, in fact, explored by 
the experts defense counsel consulted. Both Ors. 
Russell and Gamer investigated Appellant's mental 
health and cognitive ability as mitigating factors. 
Both specifically addressed Fetal Alcohol 
Syndrome in their testimony. Both said they had 
received infonnation (presumably, from the same 
friends and family who provided affidavits to Dr. 
Fabian) that Appellant's mother, who died in 20 l 1, 
drank alcohol to some extent while pregnant with 
Appellant. Both had access to Appellant and to 
others who could describe his apparent intellectual 
abilities. Yet, neither Dr. Russell nor Dr. Garner 
found evidence that Appellant suffered any 
developmental deficiencies that might convincingly 
be attributed to Fetal Alcohol Syndrome. (There 
was also no evidence that 1***651 Appellant 
suffered from any mental illness.) Dr. Russell 
administered a universally accepted intelligence 
test (WAIS-IV) which, she explained, samples a 
number of different cognitive skills. Russell 
confirmed family members' opinions that Appellant 
had difficulty understanding complicated concepts. 
Nevertheless, she found Appellant's intellectual 
ability to be generally in the low-average range. 
She found no evidence of developmental disability. 

1*831 Dr. Fabian conducted a battery of tests to 
gauge Appellant's functioning at a variety of tasks. 
While these tests often placed Appellant in 
categories such as "low average," "mild 
impairment,11 or "mild to moderate impairment" 
when compared to the general population, these 
results were not inconsistent with Dr. Russell's own 
test-based opinion; Dr. Fabian simply confinned 
Appellant's mild impainnent in more discrete and 
subtle ways. As for whether and how often 

Appellant's mother drank alcohol during 
pregnancy, Dr. Fabian appears to have been limited 
to the same anecdotal source information available 
to Ors. Russell and Garner. In the end, Dr. Fabian 
could not conclusively point to prenatal alcohol 
exposure as the cause of Appellant's mild 
cognitive 1***66) impainnent. Rather, he appears 
to have concluded merely that prenatal exposure to 
alcohol might have contributed to that impairment. 
He conceded that Appellant might simply be 
suffering from "Fetal Alcohol Effect,11 considered 
to be a milder fonn of Fetal Alcohol Syndrome. Dr. 
Fabian also conceded that Appellant's mental 
problems were likely exacerbated by drug and 
alcohol abuse, which he also documented. In any 
event, the fact that Appellant suffers from mild 
intellectual deficits, whatever the cause, was never 
disputed. 

(*841 Of course, whether Appellant was exposed 
to alcohol before birth is not, by itself, a mitigating 
factor. Rather, the search is for some fact which 
might explain or at least contribute to n particular 
manifestation or condition, such as cognitive 
impairment -- a condition that might resonate with 
jurors and cause them to hold the defendant less 
culpable or more deserving of mercy. We simply 
do not believe Dr. Fabian's report materially assists 
in that regard. Dr. Fabian could suggest, but not 
confinn, that prenatal exposure to alcohol 
contributed to Appellant's cognitive difficulties. 
But the difficulties themselves were apparently not 
so great as to cause concern to 1***67) the experts 
whom trial counsel consulted. 

1*85) 1**964) H.\'35[¥'] To obtain relief under 
Rule 3.11 (B), a defendant need only show a "strong 
possibility" that trial counsel was ineffective. But 
Strickland contains the benchmarks for deciding 
what "ineffective" means. As we have noted, 
Strickland starts with the presumption that counsel 
acted reasonably and professionally, and grants 
considerable deference to strategic choices made 
after reasonable investigation. Stricl..lwul, 466 U.S. 
"' 689. f(J./ S.Ct. at 2fJ65. Rule 3.1 l(B) echoes that 
presumption. Appellant must show a strong 
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possibility that counsel's choices were unreasonable 
under prevailing professional norms. and cannot be 
considered sound trial strategy. Id. If counsel's 
strategic decisions are based on reasonably 
adequate investigation. then those decisions are 
"virtually unchallengeable" on appeal. -166 U.S. '" 

690-91. 104 S.CJ. at 2066. We must defer to 
reasonable trial strategies, and not second-guess 
them with the benefit of hindsight. Id at 68Y. I 04 
S. 0. at 2065. Counsel has a duty to make 
reasonable investigations, or to "make a reasonable 
decision that makes particular investigations 
unnecessary." ../66 US at (}Y/. 10-1 SO. 01 2066. 

Counsel cannot be expected to undertake an 
investigation that he reasonably believes would be 
fruitless. Id. 

[*86) This is not a case involving lack of capital 
trial experience on the part (***68) of counsel, 
lack of funds or professional resources, or lack of 
focus. Appellant had two experienced capital trial 
attorneys defending him. They, in tum, had the 
resources of the Oklahoma Indigent Defense 
System to help them marshal their defense. Counsel 
consulted with and presented considerable 
testimony (exceeding sixty pages of transcript) 
from two professionals, both of whom considered 
Fetal Alcohol Syndrome within the context of their 
respective fields. We believe trial counsel 
conducted reasonable investigation into this 
subject. The fact that counsel might have been able 
to locate some other expert with an arguably 
different opinion does not render their efforts 
deficient. Ultimately, neither Dr. Russell nor Dr. 
Gamer found evidence of mental impairment 
substantial enough to warrant further inquiry. Trial 
counsel made a reasonable strategic choice not to 
continue shopping for other opinions.l 9 

19 Appellate defense counsel dismisses Dr. Gamer's conclusions 
about the lack or Fetal Alcohol Syndrome eviden~e in 1his ease 
bec;iusc Gomer \VilS "not even" ;i p>ychologist. We find this 11ssenion 
somewhot disingenuous First. 11ppclli11e counsel coun1ers those 
opinions wi1h 11n affidavit from a tri11l-te11m ddensc invcstig;itor 
(also not a psychologist). More impon;int, however, is thllt Dr. 
Russell (who ll'Os a psychologist) rcnc:hc:d the same conclusion as Dr. 
Gamer. Dr. G:imer h:ld considerable experience in soci11I work :ind 

1*87) Strick/a11d also instructs that /l.Y36 [~ even 
professionally unreasonable decisions by counsel 
do not necessarily result in prejudice. We recognize 
the extremely broad scope of capital mitigation 
evidence. B11c:lwm111. 522 U.S. at 27n. 118 S.Ct. at 
761 . Few restrictions are placed on the defendant 
when his own life is at stake, (***691 and rightly 
so. Almost anything might be offered as mitigation 
evidence; but that does not mean that everything 
possible can or should be offered as mitigation 
evidence. It also does not mean that anything not 
presented was outcome-determinative. While Dr. 
Fabian concluded that a particular cause 
contributed to Appellant's cognitive state, we do 
not find that cognitive state was markedly unusual 
or debilitating; if it had been, it seems likely that 
Dr. Gamer would have noticed it.40 

(*88) Also, with regard to the probable effect of 
such evidence, there are portions of Dr. Fabian's 
investigation and report that might have done more 
harm than good at trial. Most notably, Appellant 
had a considerable history of drug use. In 
particular, he [**965) and Ferguson routinely used 
methamphetamine; Appellant even said he had 
manufactured and sold the drug. As for the long­
tenn effects of alcohol, some of Appellant's 
impainnent may have been self-inflicted: he 
reported that he drank beer daily as an adult. Dr. 
Fabian noted that Appellant's self-reporting of 
substance abuse was inconsistent, suggesting an 
attempt to m1mm1ze its frequency. Also, 
Appellant's former girlfriend reported that he went 

w:as n c:ipit:il milig.ition spcciahsl. The infonmition thllt mitig:ition 
spcciolists compile :ind rc:lote to juries should not be undcrestim:ucd. 
See e g .\la111m·;.fl111111/o • . S1111 •. ~Olli OK CN /.J •.till 157 l' .. ld 

i./fJ 7fi i -6S. G11mcr worked for several yc:irs in a psychiatric selling 
nnd w iis qumhfied lo diagnose men1:il illness. She was not D 

ncurologisl, but she h:id extensive experience in obsc:rvini; hum:in 
beh:ivior and detecting possible: cogni1ive problems. 

"°Among the oflicbvits Appellant presents is one from Dr. Russell, 
who slllles th:il she now believes "nc:uropsychologicnl testing w;is 

warranted" in this case: to "fully 11sscss and eitploiin [Appell:int's) true: 
level or functioning." It is nol clear ir Dr. Russell (ell th:lt way ot 1hc: 
time of trial, or felt th:it nny findin;s in th111 regard would "move the 
b;ill" as f:sr ns Appellant's moral blame, but her testimony nt least 
sui;ac:sts she did no!. 

Page 34 of 39 



2019 OK CR 22, ·ae; 450 P.3d 933, **965; 2019 Okla. Crim. App. LEXIS 22, ... 69 

through a period 1***70) of "huffing" gasoline 
fumes as a teenager. Dr. Fabian also concluded that 
Appellant "did not display impainnent" on a test for 
impulsive decision-making. Given that the facts in 
this case suggest an impulsive act of rage, that 
finding might have been of particular interest to the 
jury.41 

[*89] Here, counsel made a sound strategic 
choice, presumably based on what Ors. Gamer and 
Russell concluded, not to expend any more time 
trying to identify a possible neurological cause for 
an effect (mild cognitive impainnent) that was 
never seriously disputed -- and which, given the 
balance of the evidence, cannot reasonably be said 
to have had a discernible impact on Appellant's 
ability to manage his affairs, control his emotions, 
or appreciate the consequences of his acts. See e.g. 
1\fllru/11· 1·. State. 2002 OJ\ CR 32. •1 19 11.8. 54 P.3d 
556. 564-65 11.8 (where evidence of Fetal Alcohol 
Syndrome was ambiguous, particularly before trial, 
when defense counsel was initially investigating the 
issue).4? Having considered Dr. Fabian's report, we 
do not find a strong possibility that such evidence 
would have cast Appellant's culpability in a 
materially different light. Ma/011e. ]007 or..· CR 3../. 
~I / /./. 168 P.3d at :!~!l-]30. Hence, we find no 
strong possibility that counsel was ineffective. Rule 
3.l l(B)(3)(b), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of 
Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 18, App. (2019); 
Si111pso11. JOJO OK CR fi, ~ 53. ~30 P.3d u1 'J05-llfi. 

1*901 In summary, the supplementary materials 
Appellant has presented to this Court do not show a 
strong possibility that trial counsel was ineffective, 
to the extent that additional fact-finding on the 
issue would be warranted. Proposition XlV is 
denied, and Appellant's request for an evidentiary 

4 1 We must 11lso keep in mind th.lit the jurors (assuming none were 
nctXopsychologists) wen: nblc to consider Appcll11n1's cognili\;c 
nbililics, from Q laypcrson's point or view, through his cx1cnsive 
video interview with Detective S:iulsbcny and by observing his 
dcmc:anor :ind intcrilctions with counsel throughout the tri:il. 

4! 0i-ern1/td on /***71/ otlier grmmds. ll/1,1111«1· 1 ~flll<', !llflfl Oh 
CR I. l!i f'.3.11135. 

hearing is also denied. Rule 3.11, Rules of the 
Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, 
Ch.18, App. (2019}; Simpw11. 2010 OK CR 6. ~153. 
130 P.3d ut 905-0n. 

CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGES TO THE 
DEATH PENAL TY 

1*91) In Proposition Xlll, Appellant claims that 
Oklahoma law defining the "especially heinous, 
atrocious. or cruel" (HAC) aggravating 
circumstance is so vague that it cannot be applied 
in a constitutionally fair manner. He also complains 
that the aggravating circumstance is defective 
because it has no intent requirement. We have 
rejected similar challenges to this aggravator 
before. The current Uniform Jury Instructions 
defining the HAC aggravator are sufficient to 
meaningfully narrow the sentencing jury's 
discretion. C1tr.!\l£1-J<mkil!1tl':. 2010 OK CR 13. 1.I 
80. 141 P.3d "' 238--39. llN3i['i'] To support the 
HAC aggravator, the State must prove beyond a 
reasonable doubt that the defendant inflicted either 
torture (great physical anguish or extreme mental 
cruelty), or serious physical abuse, and in cases of 
great physical anguish or serious physical 
abuse, 1***72) that the victim experienced 
conscious physical suffering before death. C11e,·10-

R{)(/riq11,•:. JOJO 01\ CR !3. •1 7i"l'. 2-11P3cl al .?38; 
see al.rm ,\feel/or /,. r. Ward. !00 F.3cl 1314. 1321 
t I 01/1 Cii·. ]()(}OJ (holding that the HAC aggravator, 
defined in this manner, can provide a "principled 
narrowing" of the class of persons eligible for a 
death sentence). 

(*921 Appellant claims the HAC aggravntor 
cannot apply unless he harbored n specific intent to 
cause such anguish, but he is mistaken. Jn fact, 
Ferguson's murder can be deemed "especially 
heinous, atrocious, or cruel" even though Appellant 
was charged 1**9661 under a felony-murder 
theory-- i.e., without any allegation or proof that he 
harbored a specific intent to kill (much less cause 
anguish to) his victim. E.g. Harmon 1·. Stat~. 2011 
OK CR 6. ,I /. J..18 P.3cf 918. 926; Wood v. Swre, 
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2007 OK CR 17. ~I I. 158 P.Jtl 467. 470-71; 
Dd?ma 1·. St!lte. 2004 OK CR 19. ~I I. 89 P.3d 
112./, I l 2'J; Romano. 1995 01\ CR 74. •1 90. !J09 

P.1£1 V2. 112. There was no dispute that Ferguson 
was in extreme pain when she ran to a neighbor's 
house, with clothing melted to her skin and flesh 
falling from her body. She languished for days 
before succumbing to her injuries. The evidence 
amply supports a conclusion that Ferguson 
experienced great physical anguish for an extended 
period of time before she died. Duvall v. State, 
1991 OK CR 64, 1~ 38-39, 825 P.2d 621, 634. 
Proposition XIII is denied. 

1*931 In Proposition XVI, Appellant claims that 
the death penalty in general is cruel and unusual 
punishment, violating the Eil!hr'1 A111e11dmell! to the 
U11ired State., Comti111ticm and corresponding 
provisions of the Oklahoma Constitution. 1***731 
Specifically, he identifies four concerns: (I) the 
death penalty is unreliable because it may be 
imposed on those who are factually innocent; (2) 
the death penalty is arbitrarily imposed, at times on 
those undeserving of it; (3) the death penalty is 
"cruel" because execution is preceded by long 
delays, and while such delays enhance the 
reliability of its application, any deterrent effect the 
penalty might have is necessarily undennincd; and 
(4) the death penalty is 11unusual,11 as evidenced by 
a decline in its use nationwide. As authority for 
these claims, Appellant relies exclusively on 
concerns raised by Justice Breyer in his dissenting 
opinion in Glos_,;,, 11. Gum. U.S. . 135 S.Ct. 
2726, '!755. 192 L.t:cl.2d 76/ tl0/5) . We have 
rejected similar attacks on the death penalty before. 
See e.g. Pos1dle '" Stme. 1011 OJ\ CR 30. ~I 88. 
26i P.3d 114. 145; flar111011 ' '· StatL', 1011 OJ\ CR 
6. ~! S7. 148 P.3d 918. 9.:/5; S1<mOer \'. State. 2006 
OK CR 46. ~! 208. 147 P.Jcl 245. 181. Because 
Appellant's argument is more about public policy 
than controlling law, it is better directed to our state 
legislature. Williams t '. State.•, 200/ 01\ CR 24. •1 
20. 31P.Jcl1046. 105/-52. Proposition XVI is 
denied. 

MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL 

(*941 Simultaneously with his Brief and his 
Application for Evidentiary Hearing, Appellant 
filed a Motion for New Trial based on what he 
claims is newly discovered evidence: ( 1) personnel 
infonnation concerning Agent Rust, and {2) more 
pieces of a glass liquor bottle which have since 
been discovered 1***74) at the fire scene. Ht\'3,1./[ 
'i'] A defendant may seek a new trial in limited 
situations where his "substantial rights have been 
prejudiced," including when "new evidence is 
discovered, material to the defendant, and which he 
could not with reasonable diligence have 
discovered before the trial." 22 O.S 2011. ~ 9521 i J. 

The motion may be made within three months nfter 
the evidence is discovered, but must be filed within 
one year after judgment is rendered.43 22 O.S.2011. 
~ 953. 

1*951 With regard to the materials concerning 
Agent Rust, the timeliness of Appellant's motion is 
moot. We have already considered these materials 
under Rule 3.11 (A) in conjunction with Appellant's 
Brady claim. See Proposition IV. However, with 
regard to the physical evidence Appellant offers as 
"newly discovered.'' his motion is untimely. 
According to an affidavit supplied by Appellant's 
investigator, the evidence was discovered in August 
2015. Even if Appellant had immediately filed his 
motion, well over a year had already passed since 
his formal sentencing in February 2014. The 
motion is also untimely because it was filed in 
March 20 t 7 - considerably longer than three 
months after the evidence was discovered. This 
Court is without jurisdiction to consider this 
evidence in its present (***751 posture.44 011·e11s 

~> Timely ITI()tions foe new lrfal b:ised on new evidence an: filed with 
this Court. not the trial coun, if a direct oppc:ll is pending Ruic 
2. l(A)(3), Rules of 1/1e Oklahoma Co11r1 of Criminal Appt als, Tille 
22, Ch.IS, App. (2019). 

""Appellant asks this Court to c:o1:cusc the untimely filing by pointin; 
out that ii took some time to ccmpi\e the appeal record. The post• 
lri;il cvidcnliary hcanni:s did give rise to o potcnlial Brod)' cl:iim, 
which we h;ivc ;ilready addressed under Ruic l .11 (A) of our Rules. 
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/*"967/ 1•. Sw11.•, 1985 OK CR 114, ~I i. 706 P.1d 
912. .!J 13. Appellant's Motion for New Trial 1s 
DISMISSED for lack of jurisdiction.45 

CUMULATIVE ERROR AND MANDATORY 
SENTENCE REVIEW 

1*96( In Propositions XV and XVII, Appellant 
claims that the cumulative effect of all errors 
identified above resulted in the arbitrary, emotion­
driven, and unconstitutional imposition of the death 
penalty. II.\'39L'i'] Our mandatory sentence review 
in capital cases, see 21 O.S.1011. ,, ".'(}I. I 3, requires 
us to determine whether Appellant's death sentence 
was improperly influenced by "passion, prejudice 
or any other arbitrary factor," and whether the 
evidence supports the jury's findings as to 

aggravating circumstances. Having reviewed the 
record in this case, we find no reasonable 
probability that the jury's verdict was influenced by 
evidentiary error, prosecutor misconduct, or any 
other improper factor. The jury's findings as to both 
aggravating circumstances are supported by the 
evidence, and a rational juror could conclude, 
beyond a reasonable doubt, that the death sentence 
was appropriate here, even in light of the mitigating 
evidence presented. C11L1\lll-Rodrii:11e:. JO In 01\ 
CR 23. •:•1 110-113. 2./1 P.Jd at 2./6-./7. 

Propositions XV and XVI l are denied. 

But 11s for 1hc additional physical evidence found al the scene, the 
affid:n·it from Appellant's invc:stig:uor indic:alcs that it w;is found 
quite inadvcncnlly. while the in\'cstigator was se:uching the rubble 
of Appellant's home for II family pholo album 115 pan or her 
mitiga1ion investigation. Any delays in pcrfec1ing this appeal simply 
had no bearing on Appellanl's ability 10 locale this evidence 

~'On September 26, 20 I B, APflcllant filed a n:quesl 10 rcrn;ind this 
case, once again, 10 the discrict court. Appclh11e counsel claims th11111 
court reporter recently found Slllle's Exhibi1 9, Appellant's cig:mme 
ligh1er, in her work malerials. This exhibit was offered :11 lrial; 11 
photograph WllS substituted for inclusion in the appeal record, 11nd 
the lighter app:irenlly went missing thereafter. Sec Proposition Ill. 
We also note thin defense counsel objected 10 the introduction of the 
lighter ut trial. Sec Proposition VIII. \Ve arc unsure what Appellant 
now believes the relevance of this evidence to be, but lrcat it as 
"newly discovered evidence" for present purposes, and likewise 
DENY the request to remand for the reasons discussed above 
regarding Appellant's Motion for New Trial. 

DECISION 

1*971 Appellant's Notice of Extra-Record 
Evidence/Application for Evidentiary Hearing is 
DENIED. His (***76( Motion for New Trial is 
DISMISSED for lack of jurisdiction. His Notice to 
Court Regarding Missing Evidence and Request to 
Remand, filed September 26, 2018 is DENIED. 
The Judk~ent and Sentence of the District Court of 
Leflore County is AFFIRMED. Pursuant to Rule 
3.15, Rules of the Oklahoma Courl of Criminal 
Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2019), the 
MANDATE is ORDERED issued upon the 
delivery and filing of this decision. 

OPINION BY KUEHN, V.P.J. 

LEWIS, P.J.: CONCUR 

LUMPKIN, J.: CONCUR CN RESULTS 

HUDSON, J.: CONCUR 

ROWLAND, J.: CONCUR 

Concur by: LUMPKIN 

Concur 

LUMPKIN, JUDGE: CONCURRING IN 
RESULT 

[*11 I concur in the results reached but write 
separately to further explain aspects of the analyses 
set forth in the opinion. 

[*21 As to Proposition II, I note that the references 
to David Smith's report are taken from a Court 
Exhibit, i.e., a copy of Smith's report to defense 
counsel. The Exhibit was not a part of the evidence 
presented to the jury. This Court only uses the 
report for the purpose of detennining if the trial 
judge abused his discretion. 

[*3 ( Defense counsel's use of Smith's report to 
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cross-examine the State Fire Marshal's Investigator, 
Tony Rust, was most likely more effective than 
having Smith testify in person at the trial. Smith 
could have been readily impeached at trial 1***77) 
for not having visited the site of the fire, not 
examining the physical evidence, and foiling to 
speak with witnesses regarding the fire. Therefore, 
I agree that the trial court did not abuse its 
discretion when it refused to grant a mistrial. 

1*41 Appellant's claim under Bmdr 1•. Marrlcmcl. 
3i3 U.S. 83. 83 S.Ct. I 19./. JO l.Ed.2d 215 t/IJ63> 
in Proposition IV should have been raised in a 
timely motion for new trial 1**968] and handled 
under that statute. Rule 3.1 l(A), Rules of the 
Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 
18, App. (2019) solely allows this Court to 
supplement the record on appeal with items 
admitted during proceedings in the trial court but 
which were not designated or actually included in 
the record on appeal. Hc11d1 1·. State. ]fJ/S 01\ CR 
31. tj•i 186-87. 431 P.Jtl !P!). 9i4; ;\kE/n111r1T 1·. 

Stall.!. 2002 01\ CR 40. ~1 I 67. fi(J P.3d -I. 36 

(holding Rule 3.11(8) strictly limits 
supplementation under Rule 3.11 (A) to matters 
which were presented to the trial court). The Court 
should not consider the extra-record evidence 
attached to Appellant's Rule 3.11 application in 
determining his Brac6• claim. These e.r: pane 
attachments have neither been properly identified 
nor subjected to cross examination. As such the 
Court cannot use the attachments as substantive 
evidence regarding the issues raised. lrw·11er ,._ 
Swre. 1006 OK CR 40. ~I 14. l.J./ P. 3d 838. 858 
overrnled 011 other grounds Tarim· 1•. State. 2018 
OK CR 6. 4 I <J P.3d J(,5. Instead, the attachments 
only go to the detennination whether an evidentiary 
hearing is required. /cl .. 1006 OK Cl? ./0, ~ 14 11.3. 
f ./4 f'. Jc( £11 858 II. 3. 

[*51 The attachments to Appellant's [***78] 
motion should have been raised in a motion for new 
trial or as part of his ineffective assistance of 
counsel argument. See 22 O.S.2011. H 951-953. 
By attempting to raise the issue in the present 
manner, Appellant attempts to skirt the rules for 

deciding a motion for new trial. See Ruic 2.1 (A), 
Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, 
Title 22, Ch. 18, App. (2019). Since Appellant has 
not argued for supplementation with items admitted 
during proceedings in the trial court but which were 
not designated or actually included in the record on 
appeal, his request for supplementation under Rule 
3.1 l(A) must be denied. 

[*6] Those actions which occurred post.trial 
cannot support a Brady claim since the prosecutor 
could not have known or discovered them prior to 
the trial. Because nothing within the record 
establishes that the prosecution suppressed 
evidence that was exculpatory or favorable to 
Appellant, Proposition IV is properly denied. 
United Stafl.•\· ,._ Bat:h•r. 473 U.S. 667. 105 S.Ct. 
3375. 87 L.Ed.2d 48/ f/985J ; Bnulr. 373 U.S. et/ 

87. 83 S.Ct. at I 196. 

1*7] As to Appellant's request to supplement the 
record under Ruic 3.11 (B), Rules of the Oklahoma 
Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 18, App. 
(2019), I note that this rule is neither a ground for 
relief nor part of the analysis under Stric/..la11d 1·. 

11'"'·/iim.:w11. 466 U.S. fi68. fi87. 104 S.Ct. 2052. 
20fi.J. 8fJ L.Cd.Jd r,74r1984). Instead, Rule 3.l l(B) 
is only used to determine whether an cvidentiary 
hearing is required and should not be considered in 
any manner regarding the substantive issue raised. 
81!11ch. 2fJ/8 OK CR 31. •,• J23-14 . ./131 P.3dat 
981 ; 8Ja11cl 1·. State. 2000 OK CR 11. ~1115 . ./ P.3d 
702. 731. The (***79) 3.11 proffered evidence 
should not be intennixed with the substantive 
evidence in the record as it is only for the purpose 
of deciding if an evidentiary hearing is required. Id. 
Appellant has not shown this Court by clear and 
convincing evidence that there is a strong 
possibility trial counsel was ineffective, thus, his 
request for an evidentiary hearing is properly 
denied. 81!11c:lt, 2018 OK CR 31. ~1188 . ../31 P.3d at 
974. 

(*8] In addressing Proposition XIII, the opinion 
utilizes the acronym "HAC" to discuss the 
"especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel" 
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aggravating circumstance. 11 O.S.201 I. ~· 

70 I. I H4 >. 111 continue in the belief that it is 
inappropriate to utilize an acronym to deal with the 
serious nature of an aggravating circumstance.11 

Hl!rl!el 11• State. 1991 OK CR 111. ,I I. 8]./ P.2d 
364. 378 (Lumpkin, V.P J., concurring in results). 
This Court should refrain from colloquialisms 
which denigrate the gravity of the issue presented 
for our decision. 

[*91 Finally, the Opinion recounts that we cannot 
consider Appellant's Motion for New Trial because 
it was filed out of time. However, the Opinion did 
consider these circumstances in Proposition IV on 
the merits by wrongly admitting the ex parte 
affidavits. Those affidavits should not have been 
considered on the merits. Instead, the affidavits 
should have only been considered [***80) as part 
of the motion for new trial and for the limited 
purpose of detennining if an evidentiary hearing 
was required. Bland. 2000 OK CR 11. 41 115. 

t'"'"'969/ ../ f'.3d "' 731 ("If the items are not within 
the existing record, then only if they are properly 
introduced at the evidentiary hearing will they be a 
part of the trial court record on appeal. 11

). 
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IN THE COURT OF CRIMINAL APPE/A8>URT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS 

OF THE STATE OF OK.LAHOMA STATE OF OKLAHOMA 

DONNIE HARRIS, ) 
) 

Appellant, ) 

NOV -4 2019 

JOHN 0. HADDEN 
CLERK 

vs. ) No. D-2014-153 
) 

THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA, ) 
) 

Appellee. ) 

ORDERDENYlNGPETlTIONFORREHEARING 

Appellant filed a Petition for Rehearing in the above-styled 

appeal on October 16, 2019. He requests reconsideration of this 

Court's decision affirming his conviction and sentence (Harris v. 

State, 2019 OK CR 22, decided September 26, 2019). According to 

Rule 3.14, Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22 

O.S., Ch.18, App. (2019), a Petition for Rehearing shall not be filed 

as a matter of course, but only for two reasons: 

1. Some question decisive of the case and duly submitted by 

the attorney of record has been overlooked by the Court, or 

2. The decision is in conflict with an express statute or 

controlling decision to which the attention of this Court was not 

called either in the brief or in oral argument. 

EXHIBIT 

I e. 



Harris v. State, D·2014·153 

Appellant claims the Court's opinion overlooked a portion of his 

argument in Proposition XIV(D) and accompanying information in his 

Application for Evidentiary Hearing on Sixth Amendment Claims. We 

disagree. The gist of Appellant's argument, as we read it, was that a 

proper consideration of available evidence by trial counsel would 

have prompted him to retain a neuropsychologist, who in turn could 

have used this same information to support an opinion that 

Appellant had cognitive deficits. As explained in our Opinion, the lay 

information presented in support of this argument was available to, 

and presumably considered by, the experts trial counsel employed. 

No question decisive of the case was overlooked. Accordingly, the 

Petition for Rehearing is DENIED. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

WITNESS OUR HANDS AND THE SEAL OF THIS COURT this 

!:iJ..A day of November 2019. 
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